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Great Plains Energy Incorporated and Kansas City Power & Light Company separately file this combined Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Information contained
herein relating to an individual registrant and its subsidiaries is filed by such registrant on its own behalf. Each registrant makes representations only as to
information relating to itself and its subsidiaries.

This report should be read in its entirety. No one section of the report deals with all aspects of the subject matter. It should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes and with the management’s discussion and analysis included in the companies’ 2004 Form 10-K.

Kansas City Power & Light Company is not required to file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act); however, Kansas City Power & Light Company has continued to file such reports,
including this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, with the SEC voluntarily and will continue to do so. In addition, Kansas City Power & Light Company may
determine to register its common stock under Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and upon the effectiveness of the registration it will be required to file such
reports.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING CERTAIN FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Statements made in this report that are not based on historical facts are forward-looking, may involve risks and uncertainties, and are intended to be as of the
date when made. In connection with the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the registrants are providing a number of
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the provided forward-looking information. These important factors include:

e future economic conditions in the regional, national and international markets, including but not limited to regional and national wholesale electricity
markets
e  market perception of the energy industry and the Company

e changes in business strategy, operations or development plans

e effects of current or proposed state and federal legislative and regulatory actions or developments, including, but not limited to, deregulation, re-regulation
and restructuring of the electric utility industry and constraints placed on the Company’s actions by the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935

e adverse changes in applicable laws, regulations, rules, principles or practices governing tax, accounting and environmental matters including, but not
limited to, air quality

e financial market conditions and performance including, but not limited to, changes in interest rates and in availability and cost of capital and the effects on
the Company’s pension plan assets and costs

e credit ratings

o inflation rates

o effectiveness of risk management policies and procedures and the ability of counterparties to satisfy their contractual commitments
e impact of terrorist acts

e increased competition including, but not limited to, retail choice in the electric utility industry and the entry of new competitors

e  ability to carry out marketing and sales plans

e weather conditions including weather-related damage

e cost, availability, quality and deliverability of fuel

e ability to achieve generation planning goals and the occurrence and duration of unplanned generation outages

e delays in the anticipated in-service dates of additional generating capacity

e nuclear operations

e  ability to enter new markets successfully and capitalize on growth opportunities in non-regulated businesses

e performance of projects undertaken by the Company’s non-regulated businesses and the success of efforts to invest in and develop new opportunities and

e other risks and uncertainties.

This list of factors is not all-inclusive because it is not possible to predict all factors.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following is a glossary of frequently used abbreviations or acronyms that are found throughout this report.

Abbreviation or Acronym Definition

35 Act Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended

BART Best available retrofit technology

CAIR Clean Air Interstate Rule

CAMR Clean Air Mercury Rule

Clean Air Act Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990

CO, Carbon Dioxide

Company Great Plains Energy Incorporated and its subsidiaries

Consolidated KCP&L KCP&L and its wholly owned subsidiaries

Digital Teleport Digital Teleport, Inc.

DOE Department of Energy

DTI DTI Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries, Digital Teleport, Inc.
and Digital Teleport of Virginia, Inc.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization

EEI Edison Electric Institute

EIRR Environmental Improvement Revenue Refunding

EPA Environmental Protection Agency

EPS Earnings per common share

FASB Financial Accounting Standards Board

FELINE PRIDESSM

Flexible Equity Linked Preferred Increased Dividend Equity Securities,
a service mark of Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.

FERC The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

FIN Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation

Great Plains Energy Great Plains Energy Incorporated and its subsidiaries

Holdings DTI Holdings, Inc.

HSS Home Service Solutions Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KCP&L

IEC Innovative Energy Consultants Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary
of Great Plains Energy

KCC The State Corporation Commission of the State of Kansas

KCP&L Kansas City Power & Light Company, a wholly owned subsidiary
of Great Plains Energy

KLT Gas KLT Gas Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KLT Inc.

KLT Gas portfolio KLT Gas natural gas properties

KLT Inc. KLT Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Great Plains Energy

KLT Investments KLT Investments Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KLT Inc.

KLT Telecom KLT Telecom Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of KLT Inc.

Kw Kilowatt

kWh Kilowatt hour

MAC Material Adverse Change

MISO Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator, Inc.

MPSC State of Missouri Public Service Commission

Mw Megawatt

MWh Megawatt hour

NEIL Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited

NOy Nitrogen Oxide

NRC Nuclear Regulatory Commission

OCI Other Comprehensive Income



Abbreviation or Acronym

PIM
PURPA
Receivables Company

Definition

PJM Interconnection

Public Utility Regulatory Policy Act

Kansas City Power & Light Receivables Company, a wholly owned
subsidiary of KCP&L

RTO Regional Transmission Organization

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission

SECA Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment

SE Holdings SE Holdings, L.L.C.

Services Great Plains Energy Services Incorporated

SFAS Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SO, Sulfur Dioxide

SPP Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Strategic Energy Strategic Energy, L.L.C., a subsidiary of KLT Energy Services
T - Lock Treasury Lock

WCNOC Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation

Wolf Creek Wolf Creek Generating Station

Worry Free Worry Free Service, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of HSS
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
GREAT PLAINS ENERGY
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)
September 30  December 31
2005 2004
ASSETS (thousands)
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,414 $ 127,129
Restricted cash 17,500 7,700
Receivables, net 338,381 247,184
Fuel inventories, at average cost 19,650 21,121
Materials and supplies, at average cost 56,985 54,432
Deferred income taxes - 13,065
Assets of discontinued operations 1,255 749
Derivative instruments 92,797 6,372
Other 8,890 14,485
Total 593,872 492,237
Nonutility Property and Investments
Affordable housing limited partnerships 28,424 41,317
Nuclear decommissioning trust fund 89,888 84,148
Other 18,865 32,739
Total 137,177 158,204
Utility Plant, at Original Cost
Electric 4,913,145 4,841,355
Less-accumulated depreciation 2,286,249 2,196,835
Net utility plant in service 2,626,896 2,644,520
Construction work in progress 60,751 53,821
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization of $111,262 and $127,631 31,104 36,109
Total 2,718,751 2,734,450
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets 160,237 144,345
Prepaid pension costs 105,583 119,811
Goodwill 87,624 86,767
Derivative instruments 30,563 2,275
Other 56,573 60,812
Total 440,580 414,010

Total $ 3,890,380 $ 3,798,901



The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.



GREAT PLAINS ENERGY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
September 30  December 31
2005 2004
LIABILITIES AND CAPITALIZATION (thousands)
Current Liabilities
Notes payable $ - $ 20,000
Commercial paper 13,600 -
Current maturities of long-term debt 251,607 253,230
EIRR bonds classified as current - 85,922
Accounts payable 222,663 199,952
Accrued taxes 112,501 46,993
Accrued interest 12,936 11,598
Accrued payroll and vacations 27,657 32,462
Accrued refueling outage costs 5,525 13,180
Deferred income taxes 21,030 -
Supplier collateral 17,500 7,700
Liabilities of discontinued operations 112 2,129
Derivative instruments 11,634 2,434
Other 24,645 22,497
Total 721,410 698,097
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 616,512 632,160
Deferred investment tax credits 30,670 33,587
Asset retirement obligations 117,203 113,674
Pension liability 95,496 95,805
Regulatory liabilities 63,300 4,101
Derivative instruments 6,134 112
Other 75,092 84,311
Total 1,004,407 963,750
Capitalization
Common shareholders' equity
Common stock-150,000,000 shares authorized without par value
74,728,020 and 74,394,423 shares issued, stated value 775,561 765,482
Unearned compensation (2,396) (1,393)
Capital stock premium and expense (30,851) (32,112)
Retained earnings 490,386 451,491
Treasury stock-34,868 and 28,488 shares, at cost (1,049) (856)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 393 (41,018)
Total 1,232,044 1,141,594
Cumulative preferred stock $100 par value
3.80% - 100,000 shares issued 10,000 10,000
4.50% - 100,000 shares issued 10,000 10,000
4.20% - 70,000 shares issued 7,000 7,000
4.35% - 120,000 shares issued 12,000 12,000
Total 39,000 39,000
Long-term debt (Note 8) 893,519 956,460
Total 2,164,563 2,137,054
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)
Total $ 3,890,380 $ 3,798,901

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.



GREAT PLAINS ENERGY

Consolidated Statements of Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004

Operating Revenues (thousands)

Electric revenues — KCP&L $ 352,974 $ 323,287 $ 858,272 $ 844,447

Electric revenues - Strategic Energy 429,407 390,747 1,099,895 1,022,887

Other revenues 446 817 1,495 2,495

Total 782,827 714,851 1,959,662 1,869,829

Operating Expenses

Fuel 73,935 52,257 160,228 135,113

Purchased power — KCP&L 28,303 14,015 56,590 43,835

Purchased power — Strategic Energy 386,499 358,879 1,003,201 930,637

Other 76,358 79,108 240,628 236,748

Maintenance 19,230 19,276 69,140 63,306

Depreciation and amortization 38,382 37,999 114,485 112,084

General taxes 31,197 28,468 83,619 78,492

(Gain) loss on property 3,419 (613) 1,906 (771)

Total 657,323 589,389 1,729,797 1,599,444

Operating income 125,504 125,462 229,865 270,385
Non-operating income 3,563 1,626 15,334 4,595
Non-operating expenses (4,699) (6,914) (15,671) (13,393)
Interest charges (17,904) (17,973) (53,777) (55,278)
Income from continuing operations before income
taxes,

minority interest in subsidiaries and loss from equity

investments 106,464 102,201 175,751 206,309
Income taxes (17,300) (35,161) (32,396) (67,273)
Minority interest in subsidiaries - 1,283 (7,805) 848
Loss from equity investments, net of income taxes (69) (461) (758) (1,074)
Income from continuing operations 89,095 67,862 134,792 138,810
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (Note 7) 1,780 8,067 (1,826) 6,048
Net income 90,875 75,929 132,966 144,858
Preferred stock dividend requirements 412 412 1,235 1,235
Earnings available for common shareholders $ 90,463 $ 75,517 $ 131,731 $ 143,623
Average number of common shares outstanding 74,653 74,270 74,561 71,251
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share

Continuing operations $ 1.19 $ 091 $ 1.79 $ 1.93

Discontinued operations 0.02 0.11 (0.02) 0.09
Basic and diluted earnings per common share $ 121§ 1.02 % 1.77 % 2.02
Cash dividends per common share $ 0415 $ 0415 $ 1245 $ 1.245

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.



GREAT PLAINS ENERGY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
Cash Flows from Operating Activities (thousands)
Net income $ 132,966 $ 144,858
Less: Discontinued operations, net of income taxes (1,826) 6,048
Income from continuing operations 134,792 138,810
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 114,485 112,084
Amortization of:
Nuclear fuel 9,396 10,585
Other 8,035 8,345
Deferred income taxes, net (15,736) 8,112
Investment tax credit amortization (2,917) (2,988)
Loss from equity investments, net of income taxes 758 1,074
(Gain) loss on property 1,906 (771)
Minority interest in subsidiaries 7,805 (848)
Other operating activities (Note 4) 1,663 43,981
Net cash from operating activities 260,187 318,384
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Utility capital expenditures (260,589) (137,073)
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction (1,174) (1,175)
Purchases of investments (17,640) (2,664)
Purchases of nonutility property (4,822) (5,121)
Proceeds from sale of assets and investments 47,781 6,731
Purchase of additional indirect interest in Strategic Energy - (90,166)
Hawthorn No. 5 partial insurance recovery 10,000 30,810
Hawthorn No. 5 partial litigation settlements - 1,139
Other investing activities (679) (4,585)
Net cash from investing activities (227,123) (202,104)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Issuance of common stock 7,462 151,872
Issuance of long-term debt 85,922 163,600
Issuance fees (2,031) (10,158)
Repayment of long-term debt (88,417) (213,261)
Net change in short-term borrowings (6,400) (87,000)
Dividends paid (94,071) (89,543)
Other financing activities (4,244) (7,123)
Net cash from financing activities (101,779) (91,613)
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (68,715) 24,667
Cash and Cash Equivalents from Continuing Operations
at Beginning of Year 127,129 114,227
Cash and Cash Equivalents from Continuing Operations
at End of Period $ 58,414 $ 138,894

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.



Year to Date September 30

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders' Equity

(Unaudited)

2005

2004

Common Stock

Shares

(thousands, except share amounts)

Amount

Shares

Amount

Beginning balance 74,394,423 $ 765,482 69,259,203 $ 611,424
Issuance of common stock 257,222 7,745 5,062,456 151,872
Issuance of restricted common stock 76,375 2,334 - -
Ending balance 74,728,020 775,561 74,321,659 763,296
Unearned Compensation
Beginning balance (1,393) (1,633)
Issuance of restricted common stock (2,334) -
Forfeiture of restricted common stock 188 -
Compensation expense recognized 1,143 402
Ending balance (2,396) (1,231)
Capital Stock Premium and Expense
Beginning balance (32,112) (7,240)
Issuance of common stock - (5,600)
FELINE PRIDESSM purchase contract
adjustment, allocated fees and expenses - (19,657)
Other 1,261 87
Ending balance (30,851) (32,410)
Retained Earnings
Beginning balance 451,491 391,750
Net income 132,966 144,858
Loss on reissuance of treasury stock - (194)
Dividends:
Common stock (92,836) (88,308)
Preferred stock - at required rates (1,235) (1,235)
Options - (71)
Ending balance 490,386 446,800
Treasury Stock
Beginning balance (28,488) (856) (3,265) (121)
Treasury shares acquired (6,380) (193) (40,183) (1,204)
Treasury shares reissued - - 29,460 910
Ending balance (34,868) (1,049) (13,988) (415)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Beginning balance (41,018) (36,886)
Derivative hedging activity, net of tax 41,996 3,156
Minimum pension obligation, net of tax (585) -
Ending balance 393 (33,730)
Total Common Shareholders' Equity $1,232,044 $1,142,310

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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GREAT PLAINS ENERGY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(thousands)
Net income $ 90,875 $ 75,929 $132,966 $144,858
Other comprehensive income
Gain (loss) on derivative hedging instruments 80,317 (9,812) 99,540 6,977
Income taxes (33,097) 4,325 (41,468) (3,041)
Net gain (loss) on derivative hedging instruments 47,220 (5,487) 58,072 3,936
Reclassification to expenses, net of tax (12,571) 579 (16,076) (780)
Derivative hedging activity, net of tax 34,649 (4,908) 41,996 3,156
Change in minimum pension obligation - - (60) -
Income taxes (548) - (525) -
Net change in minimum pension obligation (548) - (585) -
Comprehensive income $124,976 $ 71,021 $174,377 $148,014

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
September 30  December 31
2005 2004
ASSETS (thousands)
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 796 $ 51,619
Receivables, net 108,410 63,366
Fuel inventories, at average cost 19,650 21,121
Materials and supplies, at average cost 56,985 54,432
Deferred income taxes 6,609 12,818
Prepaid expenses 7,576 12,511
Derivative instruments 6,201 363
Total 206,227 216,230
Nonutility Property and Investments
Nuclear decommissioning trust fund 89,888 84,148
Other 9,051 20,576
Total 98,939 104,724
Utility Plant, at Original Cost
Electric 4,913,145 4,841,355
Less-accumulated depreciation 2,286,249 2,196,835
Net utility plant in service 2,626,896 2,644,520
Construction work in progress 60,751 53,821
Nuclear fuel, net of amortization of $111,262 and $127,631 31,104 36,109
Total 2,718,751 2,734,450
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets 160,237 144,345
Prepaid pension costs 105,583 116,024
Derivative instruments - 674
Other 28,478 20,947
Total 294,298 281,990
Total $ 3,318,215 $ 3,337,394

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited)
September 30  December 31
2005 2004
LIABILITIES AND CAPITALIZATION (thousands)
Current Liabilities
Notes payable to Great Plains Energy $ - $ 24
Commercial paper 13,600 -
Current maturities of long-term debt 250,000 250,000
EIRR bonds classified as current - 85,922
Accounts payable 78,285 84,105
Accrued taxes 111,620 34,497
Accrued interest 10,977 9,800
Accrued payroll and vacations 22,802 22,870
Accrued refueling outage costs 5,525 13,180
Other 8,263 8,327
Total 501,072 508,725
Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities
Deferred income taxes 620,830 654,055
Deferred investment tax credits 30,670 33,587
Asset retirement obligations 117,203 113,674
Pension liability 94,266 90,491
Regulatory liabilities 63,300 4,101
Derivative instruments 2,208 -
Other 43,792 42,832
Total 972,269 938,740
Capitalization
Common shareholder's equity
Common stock-1,000 shares authorized without par value
1 share issued, stated value 887,041 887,041
Retained earnings 268,430 252,893
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (38,857) (40,334)
Total 1,116,614 1,099,600
Long-term debt (Note 8) 728,260 790,329
Total 1,844,874 1,889,929
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)
Total $ 3,318,215 $ 3,337,394

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004

Operating Revenues (thousands)

Electric revenues $ 352,974 $ 323,287 $ 858,272 $ 844,447

Other revenues - 366 113 1,220

Total 352,974 323,653 858,385 845,667

Operating Expenses

Fuel 73,935 52,257 160,228 135,113

Purchased power 28,303 14,015 56,590 43,835

Other 60,912 63,504 195,738 190,457

Maintenance 19,225 19,264 69,111 63,277

Depreciation and amortization 36,776 36,513 109,836 108,839

General taxes 30,091 27,449 80,100 75,667

(Gain) loss on property 3,602 (613) 3,089 (771)

Total 252,844 212,389 674,692 616,417

Operating income 100,130 111,264 183,693 229,250
Non-operating income 2,822 1,393 13,665 3,857
Non-operating expenses (2,477) (2,211) (4,257) (5,839)
Interest charges (15,015) (15,313) (45,116) (49,701)
Income before income taxes and minority interest

in subsidiaries 85,460 95,133 147,985 177,567
Income taxes (16,512) (32,503) (31,943) (63,946)
Minority interest in subsidiaries - 1,283 (7,805) 3,804
Net income $ 68,948 $ 63,913 $ 108,237 $ 117,425

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited)
Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
Cash Flows from Operating Activities (thousands)
Net income $ 108,237 $ 117,425
Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 109,836 108,839
Amortization of:
Nuclear fuel 9,396 10,585
Other 5,850 5,770
Deferred income taxes, net (32,575) 6,782
Investment tax credit amortization (2,917) (2,988)
(Gain) loss on property 3,089 (771)
Minority interest in subsidiaries 7,805 (3,804)
Other operating activities (Note 4) 50,399 49,050
Net cash from operating activities 259,120 290,888
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Utility capital expenditures (265,361) (137,073)
Allowance for borrowed funds used during construction (1,174) (1,175)
Purchases of investments (2,664) (2,664)
Purchases of nonutility property (113) (233)
Proceeds from sale of assets 31,203 5,251
Hawthorn No. 5 partial insurance recovery 10,000 30,810
Hawthorn No. 5 partial litigation settlements - 1,139
Other investing activities (679) (4,589)
Net cash from investing activities (228,788) (108,534)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Issuance of long-term debt 85,922 -
Repayment of long-term debt (85,922) (209,140)
Net change in short-term borrowings 13,576 (6,541)
Dividends paid to Great Plains Energy (92,700) (88,801)
Equity contribution from Great Plains Energy - 150,000
Issuance fees (2,031) (1,361)
Net cash from financing activities (81,155) (155,843)
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (50,823) 26,511
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 51,619 26,520
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 796 $ 53,031

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are

an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholder's Equity

(Unaudited)
Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
Shares Amount Shares Amount
Common Stock (thousands, except share amounts)
Beginning balance 1 $ 887,041 1 $ 662,041
Equity contribution from Great Plains Energy - - - 150,000
Ending balance 1 887,041 1 812,041
Retained Earnings
Beginning balance 252,893 228,761
Net income 108,237 117,425
Dividends:
Common stock held by Great Plains Energy (92,700) (88,801)
Ending balance 268,430 257,385
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Beginning balance (40,334) (35,244)
Derivative hedging activity, net of tax 4,015 (57)
Minimum pension obligation, net of tax (2,538) -
Ending balance (38,857) (35,301)
Total Common Shareholder’s Equity $1,116,614 $1,034,125

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(thousands)
Net income $ 68,948 $ 63913 $ 108,237 $ 117,425
Other comprehensive income
Gain on derivative hedging instruments 9,193 158 6,902 565
Income taxes (3,478) (62) (2,598) (220)
Net gain on derivative hedging instruments 5,715 96 4,304 345
Reclassification to expenses, net of tax (286) (402) (289) (402)
Derivative hedging activity, net of tax 5,429 (306) 4,015 (57)
Change in minimum pension obligation (3,170) - (3,230) -
Income taxes 669 - 692 -
Net change in minimum pension obligation (2,501) - (2,538) -
Comprehensive income $ 71,876 $ 63,607 $ 109,714 $ 117,368

The disclosures regarding KCP&L included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are
an integral part of these statements.
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GREAT PLAINS ENERGY INCORPORATED
KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The notes to consolidated financial statements that follow are a combined presentation for Great Plains Energy Incorporated and Kansas City Power & Light
Company, both registrants under this filing. The terms “Great Plains Energy,” “Company,” “KCP&L” and “consolidated KCP&L” are used throughout this report.
“Great Plains Energy” and the “Company” refer to Great Plains Energy Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated. “KCP&L”
refers to Kansas City Power & Light Company, and “consolidated KCP&L” refers to KCP&L and its consolidated subsidiaries.

1. ORGANIZATION

Great Plains Energy, a Missouri corporation incorporated in 2001, is a public utility holding company registered with and subject to the regulation of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended (35 Act). Great Plains Energy does not own or
operate any significant assets other than the stock of its subsidiaries.

Great Plains Energy has four direct subsidiaries with operations or active subsidiaries:

o KCP&L is an integrated, regulated electric utility that provides electricity to customers primarily in the states of Missouri and Kansas. KCP&L’s wholly
owned subsidiary, Home Service Solutions Inc. (HSS) sold its wholly owned subsidiary, Worry Free Service, Inc. (Worry Free) in February 2005.

e KLT Inc. is an intermediate holding company that primarily holds, directly or indirectly, interests in Strategic Energy, L.L.C. (Strategic Energy) and
affordable housing limited partnerships. KLT Inc. also wholly owns KLT Gas Inc. (KLT Gas). See Note 7 for additional information regarding KLT Gas
discontinued operations.

o Innovative Energy Consultants Inc. (IEC) is an intermediate holding company that holds an indirect interest in Strategic Energy. IEC does not own or
operate any assets other than its indirect interest in Strategic Energy. When combined with KLT Inc.’s indirect interest in Strategic Energy, the Company
owns just under 100% of the indirect interest in Strategic Energy. Strategic Energy provides competitive electricity supply services in several electricity
markets offering retail choice.

e  Great Plains Energy Services Incorporated (Services) provides services at cost to Great Plains Energy and its subsidiaries, including consolidated
KCP&L, as a service company under the 35 Act.

The operations of Great Plains Energy and its subsidiaries are divided into two reportable segments, KCP&L and Strategic Energy. Great Plains Energy’s legal
structure differs from the functional management and financial reporting of its reportable segments. Other activities not considered a reportable segment include
the operations of HSS, Services, all KLT Inc. operations other than Strategic Energy, and holding company operations.

2. CASH

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. For Great Plains Energy, this includes Strategic Energy’s
cash held in trust of $27.7 million and $21.0 million at September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004, respectively.
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Strategic Energy has entered into collateral arrangements with selected electricity power suppliers that require selected customers to remit payment to lockboxes
that are held in trust and managed by a Trustee. As part of the trust administration, the Trustee remits payment to the supplier of electricity purchased by Strategic
Energy. On a monthly basis, any remittances into the lockboxes in excess of disbursements to the supplier are remitted back to Strategic Energy.

Restricted Cash

Strategic Energy has entered into Master Power Purchase and Sale Agreements with its power suppliers. Certain of these agreements contain provisions whereby,
to the extent Strategic Energy has a net exposure to the purchased power supplier, collateral requirements are to be maintained. Collateral posted in the form of
cash to Strategic Energy is restricted by agreement, but would become unrestricted in the event of a default by the purchased power supplier. Strategic Energy’s
restricted cash collateral was $17.5 million and $7.7 million at September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004.

3. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE CALCULATION

There was no significant dilutive effect on Great Plains Energy’s EPS from other securities for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005 and
2004. To determine basic EPS, preferred stock dividend requirements are deducted from income from continuing operations and net income before dividing by
average number of common shares outstanding. The earnings (loss) per share impact of discontinued operations, net of income taxes, is determined by dividing
discontinued operations, net of income taxes, by the average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS, calculated using the treasury stock method,

assumes the issuance of common shares applicable to stock options, performance shares and FELINE PRIDESSM,

The following table reconciles Great Plains Energy’s basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004

Income (thousands, except per share amounts)
Income from continuing operations $ 89,095 $ 67,862 $134,792 $138,810
Less: preferred stock dividend requirements 412 412 1,235 1,235
Income available to common shareholders $ 88,683 $ 67,450 $133,557 $137,575
Common Shares Outstanding
Average number of common shares outstanding 74,653 74,270 74,561 71,251
Add: effect of dilutive securities 30 66 72 83
Diluted average number of common shares outstanding 74,683 74,336 74,633 71,334
Basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations $ 119 $ 091 $ 179 $ 193

As of September 30, 2005 and 2004, there were no significant anti-dilutive shares applicable to stock options or performance shares. As of September 30, 2005
and 2004, 6.5 million FELINE PRIDES had no dilutive effect because the number of common shares to be issued in accordance with the settlement rate,
assuming applicable market value equal to the average price during the period, would be equal to the number of shares Great Plains Energy could re-purchase in
the market at the average price during the period.

In November 2005, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.415 per share on Great Plains Energy’s common stock. The common dividend is
payable December 20, 2005, to shareholders of record as of November 29, 2005. The Board of Directors also declared regular dividends on Great Plains Energy’s
preferred stock, payable March 1, 2006, to shareholders of record as of February 7, 2006.
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4. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Significant Non-Cash Items

Great Plains Energy Other Operating Activities

Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
Cash flows affected by changes in: (thousands)
Receivables $ (63,682) $ (62,118)
Fuel inventories 2,328 1,470
Materials and supplies (2,553) 2,741
Accounts payable 28,027 17,284
Accrued taxes 53,525 81,993
Accrued interest 1,191 186
Wolf Creek refueling outage accrual (7,655) 7,645
Deposits with suppliers 82 836
Pension and postretirement benefit assets and obligations 6,045 917
Allowance for equity funds used during construction (1,081) (1,497)
Other (14,564) (5,476)

Total other operating activities

$ 1,663 $ 43,981

Cash paid during the period:
Interest
Income taxes

$ 54,263 $ 53,560
$ 24,141 $ 24,509

Consolidated KCP&L Other Operating Activities

Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
Cash flows affected by changes in: (thousands)
Receivables $ (20,401) $ (13,600)
Fuel inventories 2,328 1,470
Materials and supplies (2,553) 2,741
Accounts payable (2,706) (19,221)
Accrued taxes 66,946 63,409
Accrued interest 1,177 (867)
Wolf Creek refueling outage accrual (7,655) 7,645
Pension and postretirement benefit assets and obligations 2,336 4,408
Allowance for equity funds used during construction (1,081) (1,497)
Other 12,008 4,562
Total other operating activities $ 50,399 $ 49,050

Cash paid during the period:
Interest
Income taxes

42,067 $ 48,092
32,404 $ 23,780

@~ &

As of September 30, 2005, KCP&L had sold SO, emission allowances totaling $57.3 million of which $26.3 million was recorded in receivables. During the first
quarter of 2005, HSS completed the sale of Worry Free. As part of the transaction, HSS received cash of $0.3 million and notes receivable totaling $5.2 million,
net of a $3.0 million allowance. The notes receivable had no effect on Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s cash flows with the exception of $0.3
million receipt of payments on the notes during 2005.
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5. RECEIVABLES

The Company’s receivables are detailed in the following table.

September 30 December 31

2005 2004
Consolidated KCP&L (thousands)
Customer accounts receivable $ 56,228 $ 19,866
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,730) (1,722)
Other receivables 53,912 45,222
Consolidated KCP&L receivables 108,410 63,366
Other Great Plains Energy
Other receivables 235,164 188,499
Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,193) (4,681)
Great Plains Energy receivables $ 338,381 $ 247,184

(@ Customer accounts receivable included unbilled receivables of $39.3 million
and $31.2 million at September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004, respectively.

Consolidated KCP&L’s other receivables at September 30, 2005, consisted primarily of receivables for the sale of SO, emission allowances, receivables from
partners in jointly owned electric utility plants and wholesale sales receivables. At December 31, 2004, the balance consisted primarily of receivables from
partners in jointly owned electric utility plants, wholesale sales receivables and accounts receivable held by Worry Free. Great Plains Energy’s other receivables at
September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004, consisted primarily of accounts receivable held by Strategic Energy, including unbilled receivables of $112.0
million and $103.0 million, respectively.

During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L entered into a new three-year revolving agreement to sell all of its retail electric accounts receivable to Kansas City
Power & Light Receivables Company (Receivables Company), which in turn sold an undivided percentage ownership interest in the accounts receivable to
Victory Receivables Corporation, an independent outside investor. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 140,
“Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities,” the agreements qualify as a sale under which the creditors of
Receivables Company are entitled to be satisfied out of the assets of Receivables Company prior to any value being returned to KCP&L or its creditors. Accounts
receivable sold by KCP&L to Receivables Company under this revolving agreement totaled $124.5 million at September 30, 2005. Accounts receivable sold by
Receivables Company to the outside investor under this revolving agreement totaled $70 million at September 30, 2005. The proceeds of this sale were forwarded
to KCP&L as consideration for its sale. The new agreement allows for a maximum outstanding principal amount sold to the outside investor of $100 million
during the period June 1 through October 31, and $70 million during the period November 1 through May 31 of each year.

Under the agreement, KCP&L sells its receivables at a fixed price based upon the expected cost of funds and charge-offs. These costs comprise KCP&L’s loss on
the sale of accounts receivable. KCP&L services the receivables and receives an annual servicing fee of 2.5% of the outstanding principal amount of the
receivables sold to Receivables Company. KCP&L does not recognize a servicing asset or liability since management determined the collection agent fee earned
by KCP&L approximates market value.
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Information regarding KCP&L’s sale of accounts receivable to Receivables Company under the new agreement is reflected in the following table.

Three Months Ended and Receivables Consolidated
Year to Date September 30, 2005 KCP&L Company KCP&L
(thousands)

Receivables (sold) purchased $ (400,742) $ 330,742 $ (70,000)
Collections 273,742 (273,742) -
(Gain) loss on sale of accounts receivable @) 4,007 (2,750) 1,257
Servicing fees 739 (739) -
Fees to outside investor - (703) (703)

Cash flows during the period

Cash proceeds from sale of receivables (b) $ 343,742 $ (273,742) $ 70,000
Servicing fees 739 (739) -

(@ The net loss is the result of the timing difference inherent in collecting receivables and over
the life of the agreement will net to zero.

®) During the third quarter of 2005, Receivables Company received $70 million cash from the
outside investor for the sale of accounts receivable, which was then forwarded to KCP&L for
consideration of its sale.

KCP&L had a revolving agreement, which expired in January 2005, to sell all of its right, title and interest in the majority of its customer accounts receivable to
Receivables Company, which in turn sold most of the receivables to independent outside investors. The expired agreement was structured as a true sale under
which the creditors of Receivables Company were entitled to be satisfied out of the assets of Receivables Company prior to any value being returned to KCP&L
or its creditors. Accounts receivable sold under the expired revolving agreement totaled $84.9 million at December 31, 2004. As a result of the sale to the outside
investors, Receivables Company received up to $70 million in cash, which was forwarded to KCP&L as consideration for its sale. At December 31, 2004,
Receivables Company had received $65.0 million in cash.

Information regarding KCP&L’s sale of accounts receivable to Receivables Company under the expired agreement is reflected in the following table.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2004 2005 2004
Gross proceeds on sale of (thousands)

accounts receivable $ 295,559 $ 46,124 $ 730,999
Collections 290,372 44,287 709,170
Loss on sale of accounts receivable 856 34 2,132
Late fees 695 112 1,707
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6. ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In May 2004, Great Plains Energy, through IEC, completed its purchase of an additional 11.45% indirect interest in Strategic Energy bringing Great Plains
Energy’s indirect ownership interest in Strategic Energy to just under 100%. The acquired share of intangible assets and related liabilities are detailed in the
following table.

September 30, 2005 December 31, 2004
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Amortized intangible assets (millions)
Supply contracts $ 26.5 $ (16.4) $ 26.5 $ (7.7)
Customer relationships 17.0 (4.0) 17.0 (1.9)
Asset information systems 1.9 0.7) 1.9 0.3)
Total 45.4 (21.1) 454 9.9)
Unamortized intangible assets
Strategic Energy trade name 0.7 0.7
Total intangible assets $ 46.1 $ (21.1) $ 46.1 $ (99
Amortized related liabilities
Retail contracts $ 26.5 $ (16.4) $ 26.5 $ (7.7)

Amortization expense for the acquired share of intangible assets and related liabilities is detailed in the following tables.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
Intangible assets $ 37 $ 37 $ 11.2 $ 6.2
Related liabilities (2.9) 2.9) 8.7) (4.8)
Net amortization expense $ 08 $ 08 $ 25 $ 14

Estimated Amortization Expense

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

(millions)
Intangible assets $ 38 $106 $ 33 $ 28 $ 29
Related liabilities 2.9) (7.2) - - -
Net amortization expense $ 09 $ 34 $ 33 $ 28 $ 29

@ Amount represents the remaining estimated amortization expense for 2005.
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7. KLT GAS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In February 2004, the Board of Directors approved the sale of the KLT Gas natural gas properties (KLT Gas portfolio) and discontinuation of the gas business.
Since the approval, the KLT Gas portfolio has been reported as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-lived Assets.” During 2004, KLT Gas completed sales of substantially all of the KLT Gas portfolio. At September 30, 2005, and December 31,
2004, KLT Gas had $1.3 million and $0.7 million of current assets and $0.1 million and $2.1 million of current liabilities recorded in assets and liabilities from
discontinued operations, respectively. During the second quarter of 2005, a legal reserve related to these discontinued operations was recorded. During the third
quarter of 2005, KLT Gas reached an agreement to settle the arbitration for less than the amount reserved. See Note 14 for more information. The following table
summarizes the discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
Revenues $ - $ - $ - $ 16
Gain (loss) from operations, including
impairments, before income taxes 3.2 13.0 (2.8) 9.3
Income taxes (1.4) (5.0) 1.0 3.3)
Discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ 1.8 $ 8.0 $ (1.8) $ 6.0
The following table summarizes the cash flows from the discontinued operations.
Year to Date September 30 2005 2004
(millions)
Net cash from operating activities $ (0.8) $(17.0)
Net cash from investing activities 0.3 19.6
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (0.5) 2.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 0.6 0.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
included in assets of discontinued operations $ 0.1 $ 28
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8. CAPITALIZATION
Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L’s long-term debt is detailed in the following table.

September 30  December 31

Year Due 2005 2004
Consolidated KCP&L (thousands)
General Mortgage Bonds
7.95% Medium-Term Notes 2007 $ 500 $ 500
3.29%* and 2.26%** EIRR bonds 2012-2035 158,768 158,768
Senior Notes
7.125% 2005 250,000 250,000
6.500% 2011 150,000 150,000
6.000% 2007 225,000 225,000
Unamortized discount (300) (465)
EIRR bonds
2.29%*** Series A & B 2015 104,896 106,991
2.38%** Series C - 50,000
2.29%*** Series D 2017 39,396 40,183
4.65% Series 2005 2035 50,000 -
2.10%** Combustion Turbine Synthetic Lease - 145,274
Current liabilities
EIRR bonds classified as current - (85,922)
Current maturities (250,000) (250,000)
Total consolidated KCP&L excluding current
liabilities 728,260 790,329
Other Great Plains Energy
4.25% FELINE PRIDES Senior Notes 2009 163,600 163,600
7.71%* and 7.64%** Affordable Housing Notes 2005-2008 3,266 5,761
Current maturities (1,607) (3,230)
Total consolidated Great Plains Energy excluding current maturities $ 893,519 $ 956,460

* Weighted-average rate as of September 30, 2005
** Weighted-average rate as of December 31, 2004
*#* Weighted-average rate as of September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004

During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L redeemed its secured 1994 series EIRR bonds totaling $35.9 million by issuing secured EIRR Bonds Series 2005 also
totaling $35.9 million; $14.0 million at a fixed rate of 4.05% until maturity at March 1, 2015, and $21.9 million at a fixed rate of 4.65% until maturity at
September 1, 2035. KCP&L also redeemed its unsecured Series C EIRR bonds totaling $50.0 million by issuing unsecured EIRR Bonds Series 2005 also totaling
$50.0 million at a fixed rate of 4.65% until maturity at September 1, 2035. The previous interest rate periods on these two series, with interest rates of 2.25% and
2.38%, respectively, expired on August 31, 2005. Both of the redeemed series were classified as current liabilities at December 31, 2004. Both of the new EIRR
Bonds Series 2005 are covered by municipal bond insurance policies issued by XL Capital Assurance Inc. (XLCA). The insurance agreements between KCP&L
and XLCA provide for reimbursement by KCP&L for any amounts that XLCA pays under the municipal bond insurance policies. The insurance policies are in
effect for the term of the bonds. The insurance agreements contain a covenant that the indebtedness to total capitalization ratio of KCP&L and its consolidated
subsidiaries will not be greater than 0.68 to 1.00. At September 30, 2005, KCP&L was in compliance with this covenant. KCP&L is also restricted from issuing
additional bonds under its General Mortgage Indenture if, after giving effect to such additional bonds, the proportion of secured debt to total indebtedness would
be more than 75%, or more than 50% if the long term rating for such bonds by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investors Service would be at or below A- or A3,
respectively. The insurance agreement covering the unsecured
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EIRR Bond Series 2005 also requires KCP&L to provide XLCA with $50.0 million of general mortgage bonds as collateral for KCP&L’s obligations under the
insurance agreement in the event KCP&L issues general mortgage bonds (other than refundings of outstanding general mortgage bonds) resulting in the aggregate
amount of outstanding general mortgage bonds exceeding 10% of total capitalization. In the event of a default under the insurance agreements, XLCA may take
any available legal or equitable action against KCP&L, including seeking specific performance of the covenants.

KCP&L exercised its early termination option in the Combustion Turbine Synthetic Lease and purchased the leased property during the second quarter of 2005.

Amortization of Debt Expense
Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s amortization of debt expense is detailed in the following table.

Three Months Ended Year to Date

September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
Consolidated KCP&L $ 06 $ 05 $ 1.7 $ 15
Other Great Plains Energy 0.1 0.3 0.5 0.9
Total Great Plains Energy $ 0.7 $ 08 $ 22 $ 24

Short-Term Borrowings And Short-Term Bank Lines of Credit

Great Plains Energy has a $550 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in December 2009. A default by Great Plains Energy or any of
its significant subsidiaries of other indebtedness totaling more than $25.0 million is a default under the facility. Under the terms of this agreement, Great Plains
Energy is required to maintain a consolidated indebtedness to consolidated capitalization ratio, as defined in the agreement, not greater than 0.65 to 1.00 at all
times. At September 30, 2005, the Company was in compliance with this covenant. At September 30, 2005, Great Plains Energy had no outstanding borrowings
and had issued letters of credit totaling $22.2 million under the credit facility as credit support for Strategic Energy. At December 31, 2004, Great Plains Energy
had $20.0 million of outstanding borrowings with an interest rate of 3.04% and had issued letters of credit totaling $8.0 million under the credit facility as credit
support for Strategic Energy.

KCP&L has a $250 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in December 2009, to provide support for its issuance of commercial paper
and other general purposes. A default by KCP&L on other indebtedness totaling more than $25.0 million is a default under the facility. Under the terms of the
agreement, KCP&L is required to maintain a consolidated indebtedness to consolidated capitalization ratio, as defined in the agreement, not greater than 0.65 to
1.00 at all times. At September 30, 2005, KCP&L was in compliance with this covenant. At September 30, 2005, KCP&L had $13.6 million of commercial paper
outstanding and no cash borrowings under the facility. The weighted-average interest rate of the commercial paper was 3.95%. At December 31, 2004, KCP&L
had no cash borrowings or commercial paper outstanding.

Strategic Energy has a $125 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in June 2007. Great Plains Energy has guaranteed $25.0 million of
this facility. A default by Strategic Energy of other indebtedness, as defined in the facility, totaling more than $7.5 million is a default under the facility. Under the
terms of this agreement, Strategic Energy is required to maintain a minimum net worth of $62.5 million, a maximum funded indebtedness to EBITDA ratio of
2.25 to 1.00, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.05 to 1.00 and a minimum debt service coverage ratio of at least 4.00 to 1.00, as those terms are
defined in the agreement. In the event of a breach of one or
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more of these four covenants, so long as no other default has occurred, Great Plains Energy may cure the breach through a cash infusion, a guarantee increase or a
combination of the two. At September 30, 2005, Strategic Energy was in compliance with these covenants. At September 30, 2005, $80.3 million in letters of
credit had been issued and there were no cash borrowings under the agreement. At December 31, 2004, $69.2 million in letters of credit had been issued and there
were no cash borrowings under the agreement.

9. PENSION PLANS AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension Plans and Other Employee Benefits
The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans for substantially all employees, including officers, of KCP&L, Services and Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating
Corporation (WCNOC). Pension benefits under these plans reflect the employees’ compensation, years of service and age at retirement.

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company provides certain postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for substantially all retired
employees of KCP&L, Services and WCNOC. The cost of postretirement benefits charged to KCP&L are accrued during an employee's years of service and
recovered through rates.

During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L received approvals from the State of Missouri Public Service Commission (MPSC) and The State Corporation
Commission of the State of Kansas (KCC) on its previously filed agreements regarding its comprehensive energy plan. The agreements establish KCP&L’s
annual pension costs before amounts capitalized at $22 million through the creation of a regulatory asset or liability for future recovery from or refund to
customers, as appropriate. In accordance with the agreements, KCP&L reduced pension expense retroactive to January 1, 2005, for the difference between
pension expense under SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions” and the amount allowed for ratemaking. This resulted in a $10.8 million net
reduction in pension expense and the establishment of a corresponding regulatory asset and liability. See Note 13 for additional information regarding KCP&L’s
regulatory matters.

The following tables provide the components of net periodic benefit costs prior to the effects of capitalization and sharing with joint-owners of power plants.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
Three Months Ended September 30 2005 2004 2005 2004
Components of net periodic benefit cost (thousands)
Service cost $ 4,376 $ 4,174 $ 235 $ 237
Interest cost 7,508 7,535 711 773
Expected return on plan assets (8,153) (7,926) (161) (167)
Amortization of prior service cost 1,066 1,072 57 60
Recognized net actuarial loss 4,674 1,980 125 184
Transition obligation 14 14 295 293
Net settlements - 466 - -
Net periodic benefit cost before
regulatory adjustment 9,485 7,315 1,262 1,380
Regulatory adjustment (10,804) - - -
Net periodic benefit cost after
regulatory adjustment $ (1,319) $ 7,315 $ 1,262  $ 1,380
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Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Year to Date September 30 2005 2004 2005 2004

Components of net periodic benefit cost (thousands)
Service cost $ 13,023 $ 12,447 $ 705 $ 714
Interest cost 22,388 22,510 2,135 2,317
Expected return on plan assets (24,345) (23,703) (481) (502)
Amortization of prior service cost 3,198 3,213 173 178
Recognized net actuarial loss 13,960 5,830 373 552
Transition obligation 42 40 883 881
Net settlements - 1,332 - -

Net periodic benefit cost before
regulatory adjustment $ 28266 $21,669 $ 3,788 $ 4,140

Regulatory adjustment (10,804) - - -

Net periodic benefit cost after
regulatory adjustment $ 17,462 $ 21,669 $ 3,788 $ 4,140

Equity Compensation

The Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan is an equity compensation plan approved by its shareholders. The Long-Term Incentive Plan permits the grant of
restricted stock, stock options, limited stock appreciation rights and performance shares to officers and other employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. In
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, compensation expense and accrued dividends related to equity
compensation are recognized over the stated vesting period. Forfeitures of equity compensation are recognized when incurred and previously recorded
compensation expense related to the forfeited shares is reversed. The maximum number of shares of Great Plains Energy common stock that can be issued under
the plan is 3.0 million. At September 30, 2005, 2.0 million shares remained available for future issuance.

Performance Shares

The payment of performance shares is contingent upon achievement of specific performance goals over a stated period of time as approved by the Compensation
and Development Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. The number of performance shares ultimately paid can vary from the number of shares
initially granted depending on Company performance over stated vesting periods. Performance shares have a value equal to the fair market value of the shares on
the grant date with accruing dividends. Year to date September 30, 2005, performance shares granted totaled 182,130; 17,024 of these shares were forfeited.
Additionally, year to date September 30, 2005, 5,690 of the 19,313 granted performance shares outstanding at December 31, 2004, were forfeited. Performance
shares granted and outstanding totaled 178,729 at September 30, 2005. For the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, the Company recognized
compensation expense of $0.5 million and $1.2 million, respectively, for performance shares and reversed an insignificant amount of previously recognized
compensation expense related to forfeited shares. There was no compensation expense for performance shares for the same periods of 2004.

Restricted Stock

Restricted stock cannot be sold or otherwise transferred by the recipient prior to vesting and has a value equal to the fair market value of the shares on the grant
date. Restricted stock granted year to date September 30, 2005, totaled 76,375 shares; 6,214 of these shares were forfeited. Restricted stock shares issued in 2005
vest on a graded schedule over a stated period of time with accruing reinvested dividends. For the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, the
Company recognized compensation expense of $0.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for restricted stock and reversed an insignificant amount of previously
recognized compensation expense related to forfeited shares. For the same periods in 2004, the Company recognized compensation expense of $0.2 million and
$0.4 million, respectively.
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Cash-Based Long-Term Incentives

In 2005, Strategic Energy initiated long-term incentives designed to reward officers and key members of management with Great Plains Energy restricted stock
(issued under the Long-Term Incentive Plan) and a cash performance payment for achieving specific performance goals over stated periods of time, commencing
January 1, 2005. The restricted stock compensation expense is discussed in the preceding paragraph. For the three months ended and year to date September 30,
2005, compensation expense of $0.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively, was recognized for the cash-based incentives.

10. INCOME TAXES

Components of income taxes are detailed in the following tables.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
Great Plains Energy 2005 2004 2005 2004
Current income taxes (thousands)
Federal $ 39,444  $ 23,426 $ 49,930 $ 50,688
State 653 937 103 7,193
Total 40,097 24,363 50,033 57,881
Deferred income taxes
Federal (2,336) 13,675 108 12,923
State (18,081) 3,016 (15,844) 2,667
Total (20,417) 16,691 (15,736) 15,590
Investment tax credit amortization (972) (996) (2,917) (2,988)
Total income tax expense 18,708 40,058 31,380 70,483
Less: Income taxes on discontinued
operations (Note 7)
Current taxes 1,408 (2,581) (1,016) (4,268)
Deferred taxes - 7,478 - 7,478
Income taxes on continuing operations $ 17,300 $ 35,161 $ 32,396 $ 67,273
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
Consolidated KCP&L 2005 2004 2005 2004
Current income taxes (thousands)
Federal $ 45,073 $ 24292 $ 63,210 $ 51,657
State 1,651 3,405 4,225 8,495
Total 46,724 27,697 67,435 60,152
Deferred income taxes
Federal (10,713) 4,894 (13,763) 5,721
State (18,527) 908 (18,812) 1,061
Total (29,240) 5,802 (32,575) 6,782
Investment tax credit amortization (972) (996) (2,917) (2,988)
Income taxes on continuing operations $ 16,512 $ 32,503 $ 31,943 $ 63,946
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Effective Income Tax Rates
The effective income tax rates reflected in the financial statements and the reasons for their differences from the statutory federal rates are detailed in the
following tables.

Three Months Ended Year to Date

September 30 September 30
Great Plains Energy 2005 2004 2005 2004
Federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Differences between book and tax
depreciation not normalized 1.1 0.3 1.3 0.6
Amortization of investment tax credits (0.9) (0.9) (1.8) 1.4)
Federal income tax credits 2.1) (2.8) (4.5) (4.5)
State income taxes 2.3 2.2 1.8 3.0
Income tax contingency, net (7.1) - 4.2) -
Rate change on deferred taxes (10.7) - (7.1) -
Other (0.5) 0.7 1.4) -
Effective income tax rate 17.1% 34.5% 19.1% 32.7%
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
Consolidated KCP&L 2005 2004 2005 2004
Federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Differences between book and tax
depreciation not normalized 1.4 0.4 1.5 0.7
Amortization of investment tax credits (1.1) (1.0) 2.1 (1.6)
State income taxes 2.3 2.9 2.3 3.4
Income tax contingency, net 2.2) - (0.8) -
Rate change on deferred taxes (13.7) - 8.4) -
Parent company tax benefits (2.0) 4.7) 3.2) (2.5)
Other (0.4) 1.1 (1.5) 0.3
Effective income tax rate 19.3% 33.7% 22.8% 35.3%

For the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, Great Plains Energy’s income taxes were reduced by $16.4 million and $17.6 million,
respectively, and consolidated KCP&L’s income taxes were reduced by $15.1 million and $15.9 million, respectively, due to the favorable impact of sustained
audited positions on the companies’ composite tax rates. Great Plains Energy’s income tax expense was also reduced by $5.7 million due to events during the
three months ended September 30, 2005, that strengthened the probability of sustaining tax deductions taken on previously filed tax returns.

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” requires the companies to adjust deferred tax balances to reflect tax rates that are anticipated to be in effect when
the differences reverse. The largest component of the companies” decreases in income tax expense related to the sustained audited positions resulted from
adjusting KCP&L’s deferred tax balance to its lower composite tax rate. The impact of the composite tax rate reductions on KCP&L’s deferred tax balances
resulted in an $11.7 million tax benefit for both the Company and consolidated KCP&L..
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Deferred Income Taxes
The tax effects of major temporary differences resulting in deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets are in the following table.

Great Plains Energy Consolidated KCP&L
September 30 December 31 September 30 December 31
2005 2004 2005 2004
Current deferred income taxes (thousands)
Nuclear fuel outage $ 2,077 $ 5,061 $ 2,077 $ 5,061
Derivative instruments (31,686) (1,156) (2,332) 90
Accrued vacation 4,756 4,523 4,596 3,829
Other 3,823 4,637 2,268 3,838
Net current deferred income tax asset
(liability) (21,030) 13,065 6,609 12,818
Noncurrent deferred income taxes
Plant related (552,093) (556,543) (552,093) (556,543)
Income taxes on future regulatory recoveries (86,264) (81,000) (86,264) (81,000)
Derivative instruments (10,799) (529) - -
Pension and postretirement benefits (5,783) (9,047) (6,197) (9,239)
Storm related costs (2,287) (3,650) (2,287) (3,650)
Debt issuance costs (2,894) (2,822) (2,894) (2,822)
Gas properties related (3,035) (3,356) - -
SO, emission allowance sales 22,611 1,295 22,611 1,295
Tax credit carryforwards 15,766 23,661 - -
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforward 4,093 4,093 - -
State net operating loss carryforward 476 476 - -
Other 4,173 (4,262) 6,294 (2,096)
Net noncurrent deferred tax liability
before valuation allowance (616,036) (631,684) (620,830) (654,055)
Valuation allowance (476) (476) - -
Net noncurrent deferred tax liability (616,512) (632,160) (620,830) (654,055)
Accumulated deferred income tax
liability, net $(637,542)  $(619,095)  $(614,221)  $(641,237)

The increase in Great Plains Energy’s current and noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities at September 30, 2005, compared to December 31, 2004, related to
derivative instruments is due to increases in the fair value of Strategic Energy’s energy related derivative instruments as a result of increase in forward market
prices for power. The increase in Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s noncurrent deferred income tax asset at September 30, 2005, compared to
December 31, 2004, related to SO, emission allowance sales is due to regulatory treatment under the comprehensive energy plan approved by the MPSC and
KCC. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L sold SO, emission allowances under the approved plan for a total of $56.6 million.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND RELATIONSHIPS

Pursuant to a service agreement approved by the SEC under the 35 Act, consolidated KCP&L receives various support and administrative services from Services.
These services are billed to consolidated KCP&L at cost, based on payroll and other expenses, incurred by Services for the benefit of consolidated KCP&L.
These costs totaled $7.0 million and $37.9 million for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, respectively, and $15.3 million and $46.3
million for the same periods in 2004. These costs consisted primarily of employee compensation, benefits and fees associated with various professional services.
At September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004,
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consolidated KCP&L had a net intercompany payable to Services of $0.9 million and $9.2 million, respectively. On August 1, 2005, approximately 80% of
Services’ employees were transferred to KCP&L to better align resources with the operating business.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Nuclear Liability and Insurance

The owners of Wolf Creek, a nuclear generating station, (Owners) maintain nuclear insurance for Wolf Creek in four areas: liability, worker radiation, property
and accidental outage. These policies contain certain industry standard exclusions, including, but not limited to, ordinary wear and tear, and war. Both the nuclear
liability and property insurance programs subscribed to by members of the nuclear power generating industry include industry aggregate limits for non-certified
acts of terrorism and related losses, as defined by the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act, including replacement power costs. An industry aggregate limit of $0.3
billion exists for liability claims, regardless of the number of non-certified acts affecting Wolf Creek or any other nuclear energy liability policy or the number of
policies in place. An industry aggregate limit of $3.2 billion plus any reinsurance recoverable by Nuclear Electric Insurance Limited (NEIL), the Owners’
insurance provider, exists for property claims, including accidental outage power costs for acts of terrorism affecting Wolf Creek or any other nuclear energy
facility property policy within twelve months from the date of the first act. These limits are the maximum amount to be paid to members who sustain losses or
damages from these types of terrorist acts. For certified acts of terrorism, the individual policy limits apply. In addition, industry-wide retrospective assessment
programs (discussed below) can apply once these insurance programs have been exhausted.

Liability Insurance

Pursuant to the Price-Anderson Act, which was reauthorized through December 31, 2025, by the Energy Policy Act of 2005, the Owners are required to insure
against public liability claims resulting from nuclear incidents to the full limit of public liability, which is currently $10.8 billion. This limit of liability consists of
the maximum available commercial insurance of $0.3 billion, and the remaining $10.5 billion is provided through an industry-wide retrospective assessment
program mandated by law, known as the Secondary Financial Protection (SFP) program. Under the SFP program, the Owners can be assessed up to $100.6
million ($47.3 million, KCP&L’s 47% share) per incident at any commercial reactor in the country, payable at no more than $15 million ($7.1 million, KCP&L’s
47% share) per incident per year effective with the Energy Policy Act of 2005. This assessment is subject to an inflation adjustment based on the Consumer Price
Index and applicable premium taxes. This assessment is in addition to worker radiation claims insurance. In addition, the U.S. Congress could impose additional
revenue-raising measures to pay claims.

Property, Decontamination, Premature Decommissioning and Extra Expense Insurance
The Owners carry decontamination liability, premature decommissioning liability and property damage insurance for Wolf Creek totaling approximately $2.8
billion ($1.3 billion, KCP&L's 47% share). NEIL provides this insurance.

In the event of an accident, insurance proceeds must first be used for reactor stabilization and site decontamination in accordance with a plan mandated by the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). KCP&L’s share of any remaining proceeds can be used for further decontamination, property damage restoration and
premature decommissioning costs. Premature decommissioning coverage applies only if an accident at Wolf Creek exceeds $500 million in property damage and
decontamination expenses, and only after trust funds have been exhausted.
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Accidental Nuclear Outage Insurance
The Owners also carry additional insurance from NEIL to cover costs of replacement power and other extra expenses incurred in the event of a prolonged outage
resulting from accidental property damage at Wolf Creek.

Under all NEIL policies, the Owners are subject to retrospective assessments if NEIL losses, for each policy year, exceed the accumulated funds available to the
insurer under that policy. The estimated maximum amount of retrospective assessments under the current policies could total about $26.5 million ($12.4 million,
KCP&L’s 47% share) per policy year.

In the event of a catastrophic loss at Wolf Creek, the insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover property damage and extra expenses incurred. Uninsured
losses, to the extent not recovered through rates, would be assumed by KCP&L and the other owners and could have a material adverse effect on KCP&L’s
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Low-Level Waste

The Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act of 1985 mandated that the various states, individually or through interstate compacts, develop
alternative low-level radioactive waste disposal facilities. The states of Kansas, Nebraska, Arkansas, Louisiana and Oklahoma formed the Central Interstate Low-
Level Radioactive Waste Compact (Compact) and selected a site in northern Nebraska to locate a disposal facility. WCNOC and the owners of the other five
nuclear units in the Compact provided most of the pre-construction financing for this project.

On December 18, 1998, the application for a license to construct this project was denied. After the license denial, WCNOC, the Compact Commission
(Commission) and others filed a lawsuit in federal court contending Nebraska officials acted in bad faith while handling the license application. In September
2002, the U.S. District Court Judge presiding over the lawsuit issued his decision in the case finding that the State of Nebraska acted in bad faith in processing the
license application for a low-level radioactive waste disposal site in Nebraska and rendered a judgment on behalf of the Commission in the amount of $151.4
million against the state. After the U.S. Court of Appeals affirmed the decision, Nebraska and the Commission settled the case by Nebraska agreeing to pay the
Commission a one-time amount of $145.8 million. At the request of the Commission, WCNOC along with other members of the Compact, filed with the
Commission their claims for refund. On August 1, 2005, WCNOC received a return of its investment of $19.6 million ($9.2 million, KCP&L’s 47% share),
including pre-judgment interest and attorney’s fees. The Commission continues to explore alternative long-term waste disposal capability and has retained a
portion of the settlement, above the amounts returned, until it determines what role it will take in the development of alternative disposal capability. The
maximum additional amount WCNOC might receive from the Commission-retained portion of the settlement is $2.5 million ($1.2 million, KCP&L’s 47% share).
The Commission has stated that it plans to make a decision on the amount, if any, by January 2006. At September 30, 2005, KCP&L’s balance sheet no longer
reflects an investment in the Compact. KCP&L's net investment in the Compact was $7.4 million at December 31, 2004.

Wolf Creek continues to dispose of its low-level radioactive waste at the reopened disposal facility at Barnwell, South Carolina. South Carolina intends to
gradually decrease the amount of waste it allows from outside its compact until around 2008 when it intends to no longer accept waste from generators outside its
compact. Wolf Creek remains able to dispose of some of its radioactive waste at a facility in Utah. Although management is unable to predict when a permanent
disposal facility for Wolf Creek low-level radioactive waste might become available, this issue is not expected to affect continued operation of Wolf Creek.
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Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to regulation by federal, state and local authorities with regard to air and other environmental matters primarily through KCP&L’s
operations. The generation, transmission and distribution of electricity produces and requires disposal of certain hazardous products that are subject to these laws
and regulations. In addition to imposing continuing compliance obligations, these laws and regulations authorize the imposition of substantial penalties for
noncompliance, including fines, injunctive relief and other sanctions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on
consolidated KCP&L and Great Plains Energy.

KCP&L operates in an environmentally responsible manner and seeks to use current technology to avoid and treat contamination. KCP&L regularly conducts
environmental audits designed to ensure compliance with governmental regulations and to detect contamination. At September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004,
KCP&L had $0.3 million accrued for environmental remediation expenses. The accrual covers water monitoring at one site. The amounts accrued were
established on an undiscounted basis and KCP&L does not currently have an estimated time frame over which the accrued amounts may be paid out.

Environmental-related legislation is continuously introduced in Congress. Such legislation typically includes various compliance dates and compliance limits.
Such legislation could have the potential for a significant financial impact on KCP&L, including the installation of new pollution control equipment to achieve
compliance. However, KCP&L would seek recovery of capital costs and expenses for such compliance through rates. KCP&L will continue to monitor proposed
legislation.

The following table contains estimates of expenditures to comply with environmental laws and regulations described below. The allocation between states is
based on location of the facilities and has no bearing as to recovery in jurisdictional rates.

Clean Air Estimated Required Estimated

Environmental Expenditures Missouri Kansas Total Timetable
(millions)

CAIR $388 - $561  $ - $388 - $561 2005 - 2015

Incremental BART 57-83 210- 304 267 - 387 2005 - 2013

Incremental CAMR 52-83 4-6 56 - 89 2016 - 2018

Comprehensive Energy Plan retrofits (171) (101) (272) 2006 - 2008

Estimated required environmental expenditures
above the Comprehensive Energy Plan retrofits $326 - $556  $113 - $209  $439 - $765

Expenditure estimates provided in the table above include, but are not limited to, the accelerated environmental upgrade expenditures contemplated in the MPSC
and KCC agreements discussed in Note 13. KCP&L’s expectation is that any such expenditures will be recovered through rates.

Clean Air Interstate Rule
In the May 12, 2005, Federal Register, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) published the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR), which requires reductions in
SO, and NO, emissions in 28 states including Missouri. This final regulation was effective July 11, 2005.

The reduction in both SO, and NO, emissions will be accomplished through establishment of permanent statewide caps for NO,, effective January 1, 2009, and

SO, effective January 1, 2010. More restrictive caps will be effective on January 1, 2015. KCP&L’s coal-fired plants located in Missouri are subject to CAIR,
while its coal-fired plants in Kansas are not.
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KCP&L expects to meet the emissions reductions required by CAIR at its Missouri plants through a combination of pollution control capital projects and the
purchase of emission allowances in the open market as needed. The final rule establishes a market-based cap-and-trade program. Missouri will establish an
emission allowance allocation mechanism through a State Implementation Plan (SIP) that is expected to be issued by December 2006. Facilities will demonstrate
compliance with CAIR by holding sufficient allowances for each ton of SO, and NOy emitted in any given year with SO, emission allowances transferable
among all regulated facilities nationwide and NO, emission allowances transferable among all regulated facilities within the 28 CAIR states. KCP&L will also be
allowed to utilize unused SO, emission allowances that it has banked from previous years of the Acid Rain Program to meet the more stringent CAIR
requirements. KCP&L is currently allocated approximately 50,000 SO, emission allowances per year and emits approximately 50,000 tons of SO, per year.
KCP&L had accumulated over 190,000 allocated SO, emission allowances. KCP&L is permitted to sell excess SO, emission allowances up to $120.0 million or
176,000 allowances in accordance with KCP&L’s comprehensive energy plan as approved by the MPSC and KCC. During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L sold
64,500 SO, emission allowances for $56.6 million. See Note 13 for more information.

Analysis of the final rule indicates that selective catalytic reduction technology for NOy control and scrubbers for SO, control will likely be required for some of
KCP&L’s Missouri plants. The timing of the installation of such control equipment is currently being developed. KCP&L continues to refine the preliminary cost
estimates detailed in the table above and explore alternatives. The ultimate cost of these regulations could be significantly different from the amounts estimated.
As discussed below, certain of the control technology for SO, and NO, will also aid in the control of mercury.

Best Available Retrofit Technology Rule

In the July 6, 2005, Federal Register, the EPA published regulations on best available retrofit technology (BART) that amended its July 1999 regional haze
regulations regarding emission controls for industrial facilities emitting air pollutants that reduce visibility. The BART regulations apply to specific eligible
facilities and were effective September 6, 2005. KCP&L coal-fired plants on the BART eligible list include La Cygne Nos. 1 and 2 in Kansas and Iatan No. 1 and
Montrose No. 3 in Missouri. The CAIR suggests that states in CAIR that meet the CAIR requirement may also meet BART requirements for individual sources.
Missouri is considering this proposal as part of the CAIR SIP, but no final decision has been reached. Kansas is not a CAIR state and therefore BART will likely
impact La Cygne Nos. 1 and 2. The BART rule directs state air quality agencies to identify whether emissions from sources subject to BART are below limits set
by the state, or whether retrofit measures are needed to reduce emissions. States must submit a BART implementation plan in 2007 with required emission
controls. If emission controls to comply with BART are required at La Cygne Nos. 1 and 2, additional capital expenditures will be required. KCP&L continues to
refine its preliminary cost estimates detailed in the table above and explore alternatives. The ultimate cost of these regulations could be significantly different
from the amounts estimated.

Mercury Emissions

In July 2000, the National Research Council published its findings of a study under the Clean Air Act, which stated that power plants that burn fossil fuels,
particularly coal, generate the greatest amount of mercury emissions from man-made sources. In the March 29, 2005, Federal Register, the EPA reversed its
December 2000 finding that it was “appropriate and necessary” to regulate fossil fuel-fired power plants under section 112 of the Clean Air Act, concluding that
the earlier finding lacked foundation and that recent information demonstrates that it is not appropriate or necessary to regulate fossil fuel-fired power plants
under section 112. The EPA therefore removed coal- and oil-fired power plants from the section 112(c) list. Under section 112 of the Clean Air Act, the EPA
would have been required to issue Maximum Available Control Technology standards for affected facilities and would have been prohibited from using cap and
trade provisions for achieving compliance.
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In the May 12, 2005, Federal Register, the EPA published the Clean Air Mercury Rule (CAMR), which regulates mercury emissions from coal-fired power plants
located in 48 states, including Kansas and Missouri, under the New Source Performance Standards of the Clean Air Act. This final regulation was effective July
18, 2005.

The rule establishes a market-based cap-and-trade program that will reduce nationwide utility emissions of mercury in two phases. The first phase cap is effective
January 1, 2010, and establishes a permanent nationwide cap of 38 tons of mercury for coal-fired power plants. The first phase cap is anticipated to be met by
KCP&L taking advantage of mercury reductions achieved through capital expenditures to comply with CAIR and BART. The second phase is effective January 1,
2018, and establishes a permanent nationwide cap of 15 tons of mercury for coal-fired power plants. When fully implemented, the rule will reduce utility
emissions of mercury by nearly 70% from current emissions of 48 tons per year.

Facilities will demonstrate compliance with the standard by holding allowances for each ounce of mercury emitted in any given year and allowances will be
readily transferable among all regulated facilities nationwide. Under the cap-and-trade program, KCP&L will be able to purchase mercury allowances or elect to
install pollution control equipment to achieve compliance. While it is expected that mercury allowances will be available in sufficient quantities for purchase in
the 2010-2018 timeframe, the significant reduction in the nationwide cap in 2018 may hamper KCP&L'’s ability to obtain reasonably priced allowances beyond
2018. KCP&L expects capital expenditures will be required to install additional pollution control equipment to meet the second phase cap. During the ensuing
years, KCP&L will closely monitor advances in technology for removal of mercury from Powder River Basin coal and expects to make decisions regarding
second phase removal based on then available technology to meet the January 1, 2018 compliance date. The ultimate cost of this rule could be significantly
different from the amounts estimated in the table above. KCP&L is a participant in the Department of Energy (DOE) project at the Sunflower Electric Holcomb
plant to investigate control technology options for mercury removal from coal-fired plants burning sub-bituminous coal.

On October 21, 2005, the EPA agreed to reconsider certain aspects of the rule and to invite additional comments on certain aspects of the rule. However, in its
reconsideration notice, which was published in the October 28, 2005, Federal Register, the EPA reiterated its position that the methodology used for the risk
analysis is performed to justify the CAMR is sound and scientifically justified. Comments are due by December 19, 2005. The EPA’s actions to de-list mercury
under section 112 of the Clean Air Act and issue CAMR remain controversial and subject to challenge.

Carbon Dioxide

At a December 1997 meeting in Kyoto, Japan, delegates from 167 nations, including the U.S., agreed to a treaty (Kyoto Protocol) that would require a 7%
reduction in U.S. CO, emissions below 1990 levels, a nearly 30% cut from current levels. On March 28, 2001, the Bush administration announced it will not
negotiate implementation of the Kyoto Protocol and it will not send the Kyoto Protocol to the U.S. Senate for ratification.

On February 14, 2002, President Bush unveiled his Clear Skies Initiative, which included a climate change policy. The climate change policy is a voluntary
program that relies heavily on incentives to encourage industry to voluntarily limit emissions. The strategy includes tax credits, energy conservation programs,
funding for research into new technologies, and a plan to encourage companies to track and report their emissions so that companies could gain credits for use in
any future emissions trading program. The greenhouse strategy links growth in emissions of greenhouse gases to economic output. The administration's strategy
is intended to reduce the greenhouse gas intensity of the U.S. economy by 18% over the next 10 years. Greenhouse gas intensity measures the ratio of greenhouse
gas emissions to economic output as measured by Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Under
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this plan, as the economy grows, greenhouse gases also would continue to grow, although at a slower rate than they would have without these policies in place.
When viewed per unit of economic output, the rate of emissions would drop. The plan projects that the U.S. would lower its rate of greenhouse gas emissions
from an estimated 183 metric tons per $1 million of GDP in 2002 to 151 metric tons per $1 million of GDP by 2012.

On December 19, 2002, KCP&L joined the Power Partners through Edison Electric Institute (EEI). Power Partners is a voluntary program with the DOE under
which utilities commit to undertake measures to reduce, avoid or sequester CO, emissions. On January 17, 2003, the EEI sent a letter to numerous Administration
officials, in which the EEI committed to work with the government over the next decade to reduce the power sector’s CO, emissions per kWh generated (carbon
intensity) by the equivalent of 3% to 5% of the current level. On December 13, 2004, Power Partners entered into a cooperative umbrella memorandum of
understanding (MOU) with the DOE. This MOU contains supply and demand-side actions as well as offset projects that will be undertaken to reduce the power
sector’s CO, emissions per kWh generated over the next decade consistent with the EEI commitment of 3% to 5%.

Air Particulate Matter and Ozone

In July 1997, the EPA revised ozone and particulate matter air quality standards creating a new eight-hour ozone standard and establishing a new standard for
particulate matter less than 2.5 microns (PM-2.5) in diameter. On December 17, 2004, the EPA designated the Kansas City area as attainment with respect to the
PM-2.5 NAAQS. In the May 3, 2005, Federal Register, the EPA published a final rule that designated Jackson, Platte, Clay and Cass counties in Missouri and
Johnson, Linn, Miami and Wyandotte counties in Kansas as attainment with respect to the eight-hour ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS)
effective June 2, 2005.

Water Use Regulations

On February 16, 2004, the EPA finalized the Phase II rule implementing Section 316(b) of the Clean Water Act establishing standards for cooling water intake
structures at existing facilities effective September 7, 2004. This final regulation is applicable to certain existing power producing facilities that employ cooling
water intake structures that withdraw 50 million gallons or more per day and use 25% or more of that water for cooling purposes. KCP&L is required to complete
a Section 316(b) comprehensive demonstration study on each of its generating facilities’ intake structures by the end of 2007, the studies are expected to cost a
total of $1.2 million to $2.0 million. Depending on the outcome of the comprehensive demonstration studies, facilities may be required to implement
technological, operational or restoration measures to achieve compliance. Compliance with the final rule is expected to be achieved between 2011 and 2014. Until
the Section 316(b) comprehensive demonstration studies are completed, the impact of this final rule cannot be quantified.

Energy Policy Act of 2005

On August 8, 2005, President Bush signed into law the Energy Policy Act of 2005. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 repeals, effective February 8, 2006, the 35
Act, which places certain limitations and approval requirements on registered public utility holding company systems with respect to matters such as acquisitions,
business combinations and activities, securities and affiliate transactions, and provides certain utility customer protection authority to the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) and the states. Among other things, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 also revises the Public Utility Regulatory Policy Act
(PURPA) to eliminate mandatory power purchase obligations; requires FERC to provide transmission investment incentives; accelerates depreciation on
transmission lines and pollution control equipment; provides for the extension of production tax credits for wind energy generation; requires large municipals and
cooperatives to provide open transmission access; requires a study of competition in wholesale and retail electricity markets; and authorizes the creation of an
Electric Reliability Organization to establish and enforce mandatory reliability standards subject to
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FERC oversight. Management has not yet fully determined its impact on Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L.

Pennsylvania Gross Receipts Tax Contingency

In January 2005, Strategic Energy was advised by the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue of a potential tax deficiency relating to state gross receipts tax on
Strategic Energy’s Provider of Last Resort (POLR) revenues from 2000 to 2002. During the first quarter of 2005, Strategic Energy reached a final settlement with
the State of Pennsylvania for all three years with no deficiency related to the POLR revenues.

Income Tax Contingencies
Management evaluates and records contingent tax liabilities based on the probability of ultimately sustaining the tax deductions or income positions. Management
assesses the probabilities of successfully defending the tax deductions or income positions based upon statutory, judicial or administrative authority.

At September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004, the Company had $5.7 million and $13.4 million, respectively, of liabilities for contingencies related to tax
deductions or income positions taken on the Company’s tax returns. Consolidated KCP&L had liabilities of $1.7 million and $3.7 million at September 30, 2005,
and December 31, 2004, respectively. Management believes the tax deductions or income positions are properly treated on such tax returns, but has recorded
reserves based upon its assessment of the probabilities that certain deductions or income positions may not be sustained when the returns are audited. The tax
returns containing these tax deductions or income positions are currently under audit or will likely be audited. The timing of the resolution of these audits is
uncertain. If the positions are ultimately sustained, the Company will reverse these tax provisions to income. If the positions are not ultimately sustained, the
Company may be required to make cash payments plus interest and/or utilize the Company’s federal and state credit carryforwards. In the third quarter of 2005,
the Company reversed $8.1 million of previously recorded contingent tax liabilities primarily due to sustained audited tax positions and the occurrence of events
that strengthen the probability of successfully defending deductions taken on its tax returns. During the third quarter of 2005, consolidated KCP&L reversed $1.6
million of contingent tax liabilities.

13. REGULATORY MATTERS

Executing On Strategic Intent

KCP&L has continued to make progress in implementing its comprehensive energy plan during 2005. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L received approvals
from the MPSC and KCC on its previously filed agreements regarding its comprehensive energy plan. The agreements were reached between KCP&L, the
Commission staffs and certain key parties in the respective jurisdictions. The Sierra Club and Concerned Citizens of Platte County have appealed the MPSC
order, and the Sierra Club has appealed the KCC order. These appeals are expected to be decided in 2006. Although subject to these appeals, the MPSC and KCC
orders remain in effect pending the applicable court’s decision.
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The following are brief descriptions of the major provisions of the approved agreements.

o KCP&L will make energy infrastructure investments as detailed in the approved agreements and summarized in the table below.

Estimated
Capital
Project Details Expenditures
(millions)
Iatan No. 2 Building and owning up to 500 MW of an 800-900 MW coal
fired plant with an estimated completion date of June 2010 $ 733
Wind Generation ) Installation of 100 MW of wind generation in 2006 131
Environmental Retrofit of selected existing coal plants 272
Asset Management Enhanced system performance and reliability 42
Customer Programs Various demand management, distributed generation and
efficiency programs 53
Total ® (© $ 1,231

(@) The agreements call for the possible addition of another 100 MW of wind generation in 2008 if
supported by a detailed evaluation.

®) Includes approximately $17 million of investments related to a substation and transmission lines.
Wind generation includes approximately $2 million of transmission and distribution investment.
The agreement submitted to the MPSC included approximately $43 million for a potential railroad
bridge. This amount was removed in the third quarter and is excluded from the total estimated
capital expenditures.

(9 These amounts are estimates. Because of the magnitude of these investments and the length of time
to implement the comprehensive energy plan, actual expenditures may differ from these estimates.

e KCP&L’s current rates will remain in place until 2007, unless significant events impact KCP&L. The first rate case will be filed in 2006, with any rate
adjustments going into effect in 2007. The last rate case defined in the agreements is expected to be filed in 2009, with rates effective near the time Iatan
No. 2 is placed in service. Two additional rate cases could be filed in 2007 and 2008 at KCP&L’s discretion.

e The Kansas agreement allows KCP&L to recover, on a dollar-for-dollar basis with no profit to the company, actual fuel and purchased power expense
incurred through an energy cost adjustment that would take effect for Kansas in 2007. Similarly, an interim energy charge, based on forecasted costs and
subject to customer refund, would take effect for Missouri customers in 2007.

o KCP&L may sell SO, emission allowances during the term of the agreements. The sales proceeds will be recorded as a regulatory liability for
ratemaking purposes and will be amortized over time. KCP&L is permitted to sell SO, emission allowances up to $120.0 million or 176,000
allowances. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L sold $56.6 million of SO, emission allowances. See Regulatory Assets and Liabilities below.

e KCP&L’s annual pension costs before amounts capitalized, for regulatory purposes, are established at $22 million until 2007 through the creation of a
regulatory asset or liability, as appropriate. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L reduced pension expense retroactive to January 1, 2005, consistent with
the approved agreements. See Note 9 for additional information.

e  The depreciable life of Wolf Creek for Missouri regulatory purposes has been increased from 40 to 60 years. The Missouri agreement calls for $10.3
million, on an annual jurisdictional basis, of additional amortization expense to be recorded to offset the reduction in depreciation expense due to the
change in depreciable life. The 60-year Missouri depreciable life will match the

38



current Kansas regulatory depreciable life. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L began recording depreciation and amortization expense in accordance
with the approved agreement.

e  The agreements are intended to provide KCP&L with regulatory mechanisms to be able to recover the prudent costs of its investments as they are placed
in service and an ability to maintain targeted credit ratios over the five-year term of the agreements.

The agreements provide regulatory clarity on certain items. However, normal regulatory risk will continue to exist as the commissions establish rates in the rate
cases, including, but not limited to, the actual amount of costs to be recovered through rates, the return on equity, the capital structure utilized and expenses to be
recovered. KCP&L projects that, if the cost of the plan is included in rate base, the rate increases to support the five year plan and increasing operating expenses
would average approximately 3-4% annually, over the same time period.

The comprehensive energy plan is currently expected to be funded through a mix of sources as detailed in the following table.

Funding Source

Anticipated contribution from rate increases 25% - 35%
Capital contributions to KCP&L from Great Plains Energy's

proceeds of new equity financing 20% - 30%
Debt financing 20% - 30%
Capital contributions to KCP&L from Great Plains Energy's

proceeds of 2004 FELINE PRIDES equity in 2007 13%
Internal funds and other 5% - 10%

Actual funding sources may differ from this estimated mix and may be affected by various factors, including, but not limited to, the results of the rate proceedings
and market conditions.

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

KCP&L is subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.” Accordingly, KCP&L has recorded assets and
liabilities on its balance sheet resulting from the effects of the ratemaking process, which would not be recorded under GAAP for non-regulated entities.
Regulatory assets represent costs incurred that have been deferred because future recovery in customer rates is probable. Regulatory liabilities generally represent
probable future reductions in revenue or refunds to customers. KCP&L’s continued ability to meet the criteria for application of SFAS No. 71 may be affected in
the future by competitive forces and restructuring in the electric industry. In the event that SFAS No. 71 no longer applied to all, or a separable portion, of
KCP&L’s operations, the related regulatory assets and liabilities would be written off unless an appropriate regulatory recovery mechanism is provided.
Additionally, these factors could result in an impairment of utility plant assets if the cost of the assets could not be expected to be recovered in customer rates.
Whether an asset has been impaired is determined pursuant to the requirements of SFAS No. 144.
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Amortization September 30 December 31

ending period 2005 2004
Regulatory Assets (millions)
Taxes recoverable through future rates $ 86.3 $ 81.0
Decommission and decontaminate federal uranium
enrichment facilities 2007 1.5 2.0
Loss on reacquired debt 2037 7.3 7.7
January 2002 incremental ice storm costs (Missouri) 2007 6.1 9.5
Change in depreciable life of Wolf Creek (Kansas) 2045 21.2 15.5
Change in depreciable life of Wolf Creek (Missouri) 2045 1.7 -
Cost of removal 10.6 13.9
Asset retirement obligations 9.8 11.4
Pension costs cap 11.6 -
Other Various 4.1 3.3
Total Regulatory Assets $ 160.2 $ 1443
Regulatory Liabilities
Emission allowances $ 60.8 $ 41
Pension accounting method difference 0.8 -
Additional Wolf Creek amortization (Missouri) 1.7 -
Total Regulatory Liabilities $ 633 $ 41

Except as noted below, regulatory assets for which costs have been incurred have been included (or are expected to be included, for costs incurred subsequent to
the most recent rate case) in KCP&L'’s rate base, thereby providing a return on invested costs when included in rate base. Certain regulatory assets do not result
from cash expenditures and therefore do not represent investments included in rate base or have offsetting liabilities that reduce rate base. The pension accounting
method difference (which may be either a regulatory asset or liability) and certain insignificant items in Regulatory Assets — Other are not included in rate base.

Southwest Power Pool Regional Transmission Organization

Under FERC Order 2000, KCP&L, as an investor-owned utility, is strongly encouraged to join a FERC approved Regional Transmission Organization (RTO).
RTOs combine transmission operations of utility businesses into regional organizations that schedule transmission services and monitor the energy market to
ensure regional transmission reliability and non-discriminatory access. The Southwest Power Pool (SPP), of which KCP&L is a member, obtained approval from
FERC as an RTO in a January 24, 2005, order. KCP&L intends on participating in the SPP RTO and during the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L filed applications
with the MPSC and KCC seeking authorization to participate in the SPP RTO.

During 2005, a cost/benefit analysis was completed under the direction of the SPP Regional State Committee (composed of state commissioners from the states
where the SPP RTO operates). The analysis indicates that implementation of an energy imbalance market within the SPP region would provide net benefits of
approximately $373 million over a 10-year period to the transmission-owning members of the SPP RTO; however, there was no significant documented impact
for KCP&L over the 10-year period. During June 2005, SPP filed its plans for the energy imbalance market with FERC. These plans include a May 1, 2006, start
date for the energy imbalance market. During the third quarter of 2005, FERC issued an order rejecting this filing. In its order, FERC stated that “significant
modification or elaboration” is needed before FERC can make its determination. SPP plans to make a revised filing in early 2006.
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FERC Market Power Inquiry

KCP&L is authorized by FERC to sell wholesale power at market-based rates. As a condition of that authority, KCP&L must submit to FERC an updated market
power analysis every three years. KCP&L submitted its most recent update in 2004. In December 2004, FERC issued an order finding that KCP&L potentially
has generation market power in its own control area and the control area of the Kansas City, Kansas Board of Public Utilities (KCBPU). With respect to those
control areas, FERC instructed KCP&L (i) to submit a delivered price test (DPT) analysis demonstrating that KCP&L does not possess generation market power;
(ii) propose generation market power mitigation measures; or (iii) accept FERC’s default cost-based rates for wholesale power sales or propose alternate cost-
based rates (with cost support for such rates).

In February 2005, KCP&L submitted a DPT analysis demonstrating that, if KCP&L’s native load obligations are considered, KCP&L does not possess market
power in its control area or the control area of KCBPU. On October 20, 2005, the FERC ruled that KCP&L had successfully rebutted the presumption of market
power and terminated the proceeding.

Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment

Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment (SECA) is a transitional pricing mechanism authorized by FERC and intended to compensate transmission owners for the
revenue lost as a result of FERC’s elimination of regional through and out rates between PJM Interconnection (PJM) and the Midwest Independent Transmission
System Operator, Inc. (MISO) during a 16-month transition period from December 1, 2004 through March 31, 2006. Each relevant PJM and MISO zone and the
load-serving entities within that zone are allocated a portion of the SECA based on transmission services provided to that zone during 2002 and 2003. There are
several unresolved matters and legal challenges to the SECA that are pending before FERC on rehearing. Management is unable to predict the outcome of legal
and regulatory challenges to the SECA mechanism.

In the second quarter of 2005, PJM and MISO began invoicing Strategic Energy for these charges, based on allocations in compliance filings made by
transmission owners and accepted by FERC, subject to refund and adjustment. Strategic Energy recorded purchased power expenses totaling $3.3 million and
$10.5 million for the three months ended and year to date for these charges covering billings for the transition period through September 30, 2005. The
compliance filings allocate approximately $1 million of charges per month, through March 2006. In the third quarter of 2005, Strategic Energy began to bill a
portion of its SECA costs to its retail customers.

Management believes that a number of issues exist related to the SECA allocations. FERC established a schedule for resolution of certain SECA issues, including
the issue of shifting SECA allocations to the shipper. The shipper in Strategic Energy’s situation is the wholesale supplier, which, through a contract with
Strategic Energy, delivered power to various zones in which Strategic Energy was supplying retail customers. In most instances, the shipper was the purchaser of
through and out transmission service and therefore included the cost of the through and out rate in its energy price. Management believes, but cannot assure, that
Strategic Energy should not ultimately be responsible for the current level of SECA charges.

14. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Framatome

On August 25, 2005, WCNOC filed a lawsuit against Framatome ANP, Inc., and Framatome ANP Richland, Inc. (Framatome) in the District Court of Coffey
County, Kansas. The suit alleges various claims against Framatome related to the design, licensing and installation of a digital control system. The suit seeks
recovery of approximately $16 million in damages from Framatome.
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Strategic Energy

On March 23, 2004, Robert C. Haberstroh filed suit for breach of employment contract and violation of the Pennsylvania Wage Payment Collection Act against
Strategic Energy Partners, Ltd. (Partners), SE Holdings, L.L.C. (SE Holdings) and Strategic Energy in the Court of Common Pleas of Allegheny County,
Pennsylvania. Mr. Haberstroh claims that he acquired an equity interest in Partners under the terms of his employment agreement and that through a series of
transactions, Mr. Haberstroh’s equity interest became an equity interest in SE Holdings. In 2001, Mr. Haberstroh’s employment was terminated and SE Holdings
redeemed his equity interest. Mr. Haberstroh is seeking the loss of his non-equity compensation (including salary, bonus and benefits) and equity compensation
and associated distributions (his equity interest in SE Holdings).

Strategic Energy has filed a counterclaim against Mr. Haberstroh for breach of contract. SE Holdings, and its direct and indirect owners, have agreed to indemnify
Strategic Energy and IEC against any judgment or settlement of Mr. Haberstroh’s claim that relates to his alleged equity interest in SE Holdings, up to
approximately $8 million plus any dividends or interest received in relation to his alleged interest.

KLT Gas

On July 28, 2004, KLT Gas received a Notice and Demand for Arbitration Pursuant to Joint Operating Agreement from SWEPI LP doing business as Shell
Western E&P and formerly known as Shell Western E&P Inc. (Shell). Prior to the October 2004 sale (with a July 1, 2004, effective date) of KLT Gas’ working
interests in certain oil and gas leases in Duval County, Texas to Shell, KLT Gas had a 50% working interest in the leases. Shell held the other 50% working
interest and was the operator of the properties under a joint operating agreement, as amended. Through arbitration, Shell sought recovery from KLT Gas of 50%
of the fees, costs and settlements incurred in three lawsuits and Texas Railroad Commission proceedings, which Shell asserted totaled approximately $5.9 million
for KLT Gas’ share, including interest. During the third quarter of 2005, the parties reached a confidential agreement to settle the matter for an amount less than
was reserved in the second quarter of 2005 resulting in an $1.8 million after-tax gain reported as discontinued operations during the third quarter related to the
reserve reversal.

Hawthorn No. 5 Subrogation Litigation

KCP&L filed suit on April 3, 2001, in Jackson County, Missouri Circuit Court against multiple defendants who are alleged to have responsibility for the 1999
Hawthorn No. 5 boiler explosion. KCP&L and National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (National Union) have entered into a
subrogation allocation agreement under which recoveries in this suit are generally allocated 55% to National Union and 45% to KCP&L. Certain defendants have
been dismissed from the suit and various defendants have settled with KCP&L. Trial of this case with the one remaining defendant resulted in a March 2004 jury
verdict finding KCP&L’s damages as a result of the explosion were $452 million. After deduction of amounts received from pre-trial settlements with other
defendants and an amount for KCP&L’s comparative fault (as determined by the jury), the verdict would have resulted in an award against the defendant of
approximately $97.6 million (of which KCP&L would have received $33 million pursuant to the subrogation allocation agreement after payment of attorney’s
fees). In response to post-trial pleadings filed by the defendant, in May 2004 the trial judge reduced the award against the defendant to $0.2 million. Both KCP&L
and the defendant have appealed this case to the Court of Appeals for the Western District of Missouri. Oral arguments are expected in the first quarter of 2006.

KLT Telecom

On December 31, 2001, a subsidiary of KLT Telecom Inc. (KLT Telecom), DTI Holdings, Inc. (Holdings) and its subsidiaries Digital Teleport Inc. (Digital
Teleport) and Digital Teleport of Virginia, Inc., filed separate voluntary petitions in the Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Missouri for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. DTI Holdings and its two subsidiaries
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are collectively called “DTL.” In 2003, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed the plan of reorganization for these three companies.

KLT Telecom originally acquired a 47% interest in DTT in 1997. On February 8, 2001, KLT Telecom acquired control of DTI by purchasing shares from another
Holdings shareholder, Richard D. Weinstein (Weinstein), increasing its ownership to 83.6%. In connection with this purchase, KLT Telecom granted Weinstein a
put option. The put option provided for the sale by Weinstein of his remaining shares in Holdings to KLT Telecom during a period beginning September 1, 2003,
and ending August 31, 2005. The put option provides for an aggregate exercise price for these remaining shares equal to their fair market value with an aggregate
floor amount of $15 million. The floor amount of the put option was fully reserved during 2001. On September 2, 2003, Weinstein delivered to KLT Telecom
notice of the exercise of his put option. KLT Telecom declined to pay Weinstein any amount under the put option because, among other things, the stock of
Holdings had been cancelled and extinguished pursuant to the joint Chapter 11 plan confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. Weinstein has sued KLT Telecom for
allegedly breaching the put option and seeks damages of at least $15 million plus statutory interest. In April 2005, summary judgment in the Weinstein litigation
was granted in favor of KLT Telecom, and Weinstein has appealed this judgment to the Missouri Court of Appeals for the Eastern District. The $15 million
reserve has not been reversed pending the outcome of the appeal process, which management expects will conclude in the first quarter of 2006.

15. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

In March 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations.” FIN No. 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation, as used in FASB Statement No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligation,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event
that may or may not be within the control of the entity. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement
obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L are required to adopt the provisions of FIN
No. 47 by December 31, 2005, although earlier adoption is permitted. Management is currently evaluating the impact of FIN No. 47, and has not yet determined
the impact on Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L’s consolidated financial statements. KCP&L is a regulated utility subject to the provisions of SFAS
No. 71 and management believes it is probable that any differences between expenses under SFAS No. 143, including FIN No. 47, and expenses recovered
currently in rates will be recoverable in future rates.

16. SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION

Great Plains Energy

Great Plains Energy has two reportable segments based on its method of internal reporting, which generally segregates the reportable segments based on products
and services, management responsibility and regulation. The two reportable business segments are KCP&L, an integrated, regulated electric utility and Strategic
Energy, a competitive electricity supplier. Other includes the operations of HSS, Services, all KLT Inc. operations other than Strategic Energy, unallocated
corporate charges, consolidating entries and intercompany eliminations. Intercompany eliminations include insignificant amounts of intercompany financing
related activities. The summary of significant accounting policies applies to all of the reportable segments. For segment reporting, each segment’s income taxes
include the effects of allocating holding company tax benefits. Segment performance is evaluated based on net income.
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The following tables reflect summarized financial information concerning Great Plains Energy’s reportable segments.

Three Months Ended Strategic Great Plains
September 30, 2005 KCP&L Energy Other Energy
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 353.0 $ 429.9 $ - $ 7829
Depreciation and amortization (36.7) (1.6) 0.1) (38.4)
Interest charges (15.0) 0.7) 2.2) (17.9)
Income taxes (16.4) 9.4) 8.5 (17.3)
Loss from equity investments - - 0.1) 0.1)
Discontinued operations - - 1.8 1.8
Net income 69.1 18.1 3.7 90.9
Three Months Ended Strategic Great Plains
September 30, 2004 KCP&L Energy Other Energy
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 323.3 $ 391.1 $ 04 $ 714.8
Depreciation and amortization (36.3) (1.4) 0.3) (38.0)
Interest charges (15.2) 0.3) 2.5) (18.0)
Income taxes (32.6) 3.9 1.3 (35.2)
Loss from equity investments - - (0.5) (0.5)
Discontinued operations - - 8.0 8.0
Net income (loss) 64.2 13.4 1.7) 75.9
Year to Date Strategic Great Plains
September 30, 2005 KCP&L Energy Other Energy
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 858.3 $ 1,101.3 $ 0.1 $ 1,959.7
Depreciation and amortization (109.7) (4.6) 0.2) (114.5)
Interest charges (45.1) 2.2) (6.5) (53.8)
Income taxes (32.49) (20.9) 20.9 (32.4)
Loss from equity investments - - (0.8) (0.8)
Discontinued operations - - (1.8) (1.8)
Net income (loss) 109.0 34.6 (10.6) 133.0
Year to Date Strategic Great Plains
September 30, 2004 KCP&L Energy Other Energy
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 844.5 $ 1,024.1 $ 1.2 $ 1,869.8
Depreciation and amortization (108.1) 3.2) (0.8) (112.1)
Interest charges (49.3) - (6.0) (55.3)
Income taxes (64.5) (18.2) 154 (67.3)
Loss from equity investments - - (1.1 (1.1
Discontinued operations - - 6.0 6.0
Net income (loss) 118.4 32.0 (5.6) 144.8
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Consolidated KCP&L

Strategic

Great Plains

KCP&L Energy Other Energy
September 30, 2005 (millions)
Assets $ 3,314.2 $534.1 $ 421 $ 3,890.4
Capital expenditures ) 265.5 46 4.7) 265.4
December 31, 2004
Assets $ 3,330.2 $407.7 $ 61.0 $ 3,798.9
Capital expenditures ®) 190.8 2.6 3.3 196.7

@ Capital expenditures reflect year to date amounts for the periods presented.

The following tables reflect summarized financial information concerning consolidated KCP&L'’s reportable segment. Other includes the operations of HSS and
intercompany eliminations. Intercompany eliminations include insignificant amounts of intercompany financing related activities.

Three Months Ended Consolidated
September 30, 2005 KCP&L Other KCP&L
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 353.0 $ - $ 353.0
Depreciation and amortization (36.7) - (36.7)
Interest charges (15.0) - (15.0)
Income taxes (16.4) 0.2) (16.6)
Net income (loss) 69.1 0.2) 68.9
Three Months Ended Consolidated
September 30, 2004 KCP&L Other KCP&L
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 323.3 $ 04 $ 3237
Depreciation and amortization (36.3) (0.2) (36.5)
Interest charges (15.2) (0.1) (15.3)
Income taxes (32.6) - (32.6)
Net income (loss) 64.2 (0.3) 63.9
Year to Date Consolidated
September 30, 2005 KCP&L Other KCP&L
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 858.3 $ 01 $ 8584
Depreciation and amortization (109.7) 0.1) (109.8)
Interest charges (45.1) - (45.1)
Income taxes (32.4) 0.4 (32.0)
Net income (loss) 109.0 (0.8) 108.2
Year to Date Consolidated
September 30, 2004 KCP&L Other KCP&L
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 844.5 $ 1.2 $ 845.7
Depreciation and amortization (108.1) 0.7) (108.8)
Interest charges (49.3) 0.4) (49.7)
Income taxes (64.5) 0.5 (64.0)
Net income (loss) 118.4 (1.0) 117.4
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Consolidated

KCP&L Other KCP&L
September 30, 2005 (millions)
Assets $ 3,314.2 $ 4.0 $ 3,318.2
Capital expenditures @ 265.5 - 265.5
December 31, 2004
Assets $ 3,330.2 $ 7.2 $ 3,337.4
Capital expenditures ) 190.8 - 190.8

@ Capital expenditures reflect year to date amounts for the periods presented.

17. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of market risks including interest rates and commodity prices. Management has established risk management
policies and strategies to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of the markets may have on its operating results. The Company’s risk
management activities, including the use of derivatives, are subject to the management, direction and control of internal risk management committees. The
Company’s interest rate risk management strategy uses derivative instruments to adjust the Company’s liability portfolio to optimize the mix of fixed and floating
rate debt within an established range. In addition, the Company uses derivative instruments to hedge against future interest rate fluctuations on anticipated debt
issuances. The Company maintains commodity-price risk management strategies that use derivative instruments to reduce the effects of fluctuations in fuel and
purchased power expense caused by commodity price volatility. Counterparties to commodity derivatives and interest rate swap agreements expose the Company
to credit loss in the event of nonperformance. This credit loss is limited to the cost of replacing these contracts at current market rates less the application of
counterparty collateral held. Derivative instruments measured at fair value are recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability. Changes in the fair value are
recognized currently in net income unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.

Fair Value Hedges - Interest Rate Risk Management

In 2002, KCP&L remarketed its 1998 Series A, B and D EIRR bonds totaling $146.5 million to a five-year fixed interest rate of 4.75% ending October 1, 2007.
Simultaneously with the remarketing, KCP&L entered into an interest rate swap for the $146.5 million based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to
effectively create a floating interest rate obligation. The transaction is a fair value hedge with no ineffectiveness. Changes in the fair market value of the swap are
recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability with an offsetting entry to the respective debt balances with no net impact on net income.

Cash Flow Hedges - Treasury Lock

In the second quarter of 2005, KCP&L entered into a Treasury Lock (T-Lock) to hedge against interest rate fluctuations on the U.S. Treasury rate component of
long-term debt that KCP&L plans to issue before the end of 2005. The T-Lock will be settled simultaneously with the issuance of the long-term fixed rate debt.
The T-Lock effectively removes the uncertainty with respect to the U.S. Treasury rate component of the debt to be issued, thereby enabling KCP&L to predict
with greater assurance what its future interest costs on that debt will be. The T-Lock is accounted for as a cash flow hedge and the fair value is recorded as a
current asset or liability with an offsetting entry to other comprehensive income (OCI), to the extent the hedge is effective, until the forecasted transaction occurs.
No ineffectiveness has been recorded on the T-Lock. The pre-tax gain or loss on the T-Lock recorded to OCI will be reclassified to interest expense over the life
of the future debt issuance.
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Cash Flow Hedges - Commodity Risk Management

KCP&L’s risk management policy is to use derivative hedge instruments to mitigate its exposure to market price fluctuations on a portion of its projected natural
gas purchases to meet generation requirements for retail and firm wholesale sales. As of September 30, 2005, KCP&L does not have any projected natural gas
usage hedged for retail load and firm MWh sales. The hedging instruments in place as of December 31, 2004, were designated as cash flow hedges. The fair
values of these instruments are recorded as current assets or current liabilities with an offsetting entry to OCI for the effective portion of the hedge. To the extent
the hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the change in fair market value is recorded currently in fuel expense. KCP&L did not record any gains or
losses due to ineffectiveness for the three months ended or year to date September 30, 2005 or 2004. When the natural gas is purchased, the amounts in OCI are
reclassified to fuel expense in the consolidated income statement.

Strategic Energy maintains a commodity-price risk management strategy that uses forward physical energy purchases and other derivative instruments to reduce
the effects of fluctuations in purchased power expense caused by commodity-price volatility. Derivative instruments are used to limit the unfavorable effect that
price increases will have on electricity purchases, effectively fixing the future purchase price of electricity for the applicable forecasted usage and protecting
Strategic Energy from significant price volatility. The maximum term over which Strategic Energy is hedging its exposure and variability of future cash flows is
4.3 years and 3.1 years at September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2004, respectively.

Certain forward fixed price purchases and swap agreements are designated as cash flow hedges. The fair values of these instruments are recorded as assets or
liabilities with an offsetting entry to OCI for the effective portion of the hedge. To the extent the hedges are not effective, the ineffective portion of the change in
fair market value is recorded currently in purchased power. When the forecasted purchase is completed, the amounts in OCI are reclassified to purchased power.
Purchased power expense for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, includes gains of $8.3 million and $10.4 million, respectively, due to
ineffectiveness of the cash flow hedges. Strategic Energy recorded a $5.1 million gain due to ineffectiveness for the three months ended and year to date
September 30, 2004.

As part of its commodity-price risk management strategy, Strategic Energy also enters into economic hedges (non-hedging derivatives) that do not qualify for
cash flow hedge accounting. The changes in the fair value of these derivative instruments recorded as a component of purchased power expense for the three
months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, were gains of $9.9 million and $15.6 million, respectively. Strategic Energy recorded losses of $0.7 million
and $1.2 million for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2004, respectively, for the change in the fair value of non-hedging derivatives.

The fair value of non-hedging derivatives at September 30, 2005, also includes certain forward contracts at Strategic Energy that were amended during the third
quarter. Prior to being amended, the contracts were accounted for under the normal purchase normal sale election in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended.
The contracts are now accounted for as non-hedging derivatives with the fair value at amendment being recorded as a deferred liability that will be reclassified to
net income when the contracts settle. Strategic Energy will prospectively record the change in fair value of these contracts as a component of purchased power
expense.
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The notional and recorded fair values of the Company’s derivative instruments are summarized in the following table. The fair values of these derivatives are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheets.

September 30, 2005

December 31, 2004

Notional Notional
Contract Fair Contract Fair
Amount  Value Amount Value
Great Plains Energy (millions)
Swap contracts
Cash flow hedges $ 100.7 $ 47.2 $ 924 $ 45
Non-hedging derivatives 12.7 1.9 2.3 0.7
Forward contracts
Cash flow hedges 83.9 34.3 23.0 1.6
Non-hedging derivatives 44.9 18.2 5.5 (2.2)
Treasury Lock
Cash flow hedges 160.0 6.2 - -
Interest rate swaps
Fair value flow hedges 146.5 2.2) 146.5 0.7
Consolidated KCP&L
Swap contracts
Cash flow hedges - - 6.3 (0.3)
Treasury Lock
Cash flow hedges 160.0 6.2 - -
Interest rate swaps
Fair value flow hedges 146.5 2.2) 146.5 0.7

The amounts recorded in accumulated OCI related to the cash flow hedges are summarized in the following table.

Great Plains Energy Consolidated KCP&L
September 30 December 31 September 30 December 31
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
Current assets $ 53.6 $ 25 $ 6.2 $ (0.3)
Other deferred charges 18.0 0.9 - -
Other current liabilities 2.4 (0.5) - -
Deferred income taxes (30.9) (0.8) (2.3) 0.2
Other deferred credits 0.2 (0.9) - -
Total $ 433 $ 12 $ 39 $ (0.1)

48



The amounts reclassified to expenses are summarized in the following table.

Three Months Ended Year to Date

September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
Great Plains Energy (millions)
Fuel expense $ (0.5) $ (0.7) $ (0.5 $ (0.7)
Purchased power expense (21.1) 1.7 (27.2) (0.9)
Minority interest - (0.1) - 0.2
Income taxes 8.9 0.4) 11.6 0.6
OCI $ 1277 $ 05 $ (161) $ (0.8)
Consolidated KCP&L
Fuel expense $ (0.5) $ (0.7) $ (0.5 $ (0.7)
Income taxes 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3
OCI $ (0.3) $ (04) $ (0.3 $ (04)

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations that follows is a combined presentation for Great Plains Energy
and consolidated KCP&L, both registrants under this filing. The discussion and analysis by management focuses on those factors that had a material effect on the
financial condition and results of operations of the registrants during the periods presented.

OVERVIEW

Great Plains Energy is a public utility holding company registered with and subject to the regulation of the SEC under the 35 Act. Great Plains Energy does not
own or operate any significant assets other than the stock of its subsidiaries. Great Plains Energy’s direct subsidiaries with operations or active subsidiaries are
KCP&L, KLT Inc., IEC and Services. As a diversified energy company, Great Plains Energy’s reportable business segments include KCP&L and Strategic
Energy.

Executing On Strategic Intent
During 2005, the Company has initiated several important steps in executing on its Strategic Intent.

Strategic Energy has continued to move forward with several initiatives to improve marketing and supply procurement. A few examples of initiatives for supply
procurement include improving load aggregation strategies and exploring additional commodity hedging strategies. Marketing initiatives underway include
exploring new channels for targeting new customers, product innovation and expanded communication with customers.

KCP&L has continued to make progress in implementing its comprehensive energy plan during 2005. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L received approvals
from the MPSC and KCC on its previously filed agreements regarding its comprehensive energy plan. The agreements were reached between KCP&L, the
Commission staffs and certain key parties in the respective jurisdictions. The Sierra Club and Concerned Citizens of Platte County have appealed the MPSC
order, and the Sierra Club has appealed the KCC order. These appeals are expected to be decided in 2006. Although subject to these appeals, the MPSC and KCC
orders remain in effect pending the applicable court’s decision.

The next steps in the implementation of KCP&L’s comprehensive energy plan are to begin design and construction of the environmental retrofits and the
development of the wind project. KCP&L is working closely with public officials on siting the project and anticipates awarding a contract to a wind project
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developer(s) in the fourth quarter of 2005 for the project, which is targeted for completion in 2006. Agreements are being finalized with Iatan No. 2 partners and
the costing and sourcing process for construction of the plant has begun. Iatan No. 2 environmental permitting will continue and remains on track with all air and
water permitting expected to be completed by early 2006. Additionally, several demand management efficiency and affordability programs are underway to help

customers manage usage and costs.

The following are brief descriptions of the major provisions of the approved agreements.

e KCP&L will make energy infrastructure investments as detailed in the approved agreements and summarized in the table below.

Estimated
Capital
Project Details Expenditures
(millions)
Iatan No. 2 Building and owning up to 500 MW of an 800-900 MW coal
fired plant with an estimated completion date of June 2010 $ 733
Wind Generation @ Installation of 100 MW of wind generation in 2006 131
Environmental Retrofit of selected existing coal plants 272
Asset Management Enhanced system performance and reliability 42
Customer Programs Various demand management, distributed generation and
efficiency programs 53
Total ® () $ 1,231

@ The agreements call for the possible addition of another 100 MW of wind generation in 2008 if
supported by a detailed evaluation.

®) Includes approximately $17 million of investments related to a substation and transmission lines.
Wind generation includes approximately $2 million of transmission and distribution investment.
The agreement submitted to the MPSC included approximately $43 million for a potential railroad
bridge. This amount was removed in the third quarter and is excluded from the total estimated

capital expenditures.

(©) These amounts are estimates. Because of the magnitude of these investments and the length of time
to implement the comprehensive energy plan, actual expenditures may differ from these estimates.

e KCP&L’s current rates will remain in place until 2007, unless significant events impact KCP&L. The first rate case will be filed in 2006, with any
rate adjustments going into effect in 2007. The last rate case defined in the agreements is expected to be filed in 2009, with rates effective near the
time Iatan No. 2 is placed in service. Two additional rate cases could be filed in 2007 and 2008 at KCP&L’s discretion.

e The Kansas agreement allows KCP&L to recover, on a dollar-for-dollar basis with no profit to the company, actual fuel and purchased power
expense incurred through an energy cost adjustment that would take effect for Kansas in 2007. Similarly, an interim energy charge, based on
forecasted costs and subject to customer refund, would take effect for Missouri customers in 2007.

o KCP&L may sell SO, emission allowances during the term of the agreements. The sales proceeds will be recorded as a regulatory liability for
ratemaking purposes and will be amortized over time. KCP&L is permitted to sell SO, emission allowances up to $120.0 million or 176,000
allowances. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L sold $56.6 million of SO, emission allowances.

e KCP&L’s annual pension costs before amounts capitalized, for regulatory purposes, are established at $22 million until 2007 through the creation

of a regulatory asset or liability, as
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appropriate. In the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L reduced pension expense retroactive to January 1, 2005, consistent with the approved
agreements. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

e  The depreciable life of Wolf Creek for Missouri regulatory purposes has been increased from 40 to 60 years. The Missouri agreement calls for
$10.3 million, on an annual jurisdictional basis, of additional amortization expense to be recorded to offset the reduction in depreciation expense
due to the change in depreciable life. The 60-year Missouri depreciable life will match the current Kansas regulatory depreciable life. In the third
quarter of 2005, KCP&L began recording depreciation and amortization expense in accordance with the approved agreement.

e  The agreements are intended to provide KCP&L with regulatory mechanisms to be able to recover the prudent costs of its investments as they are
placed in service and an ability to maintain targeted credit ratios over the five-year term of the agreements.

The agreements provide regulatory clarity on certain items. However, normal regulatory risk will continue to exist as the commissions establish rates in the rate
cases, including, but not limited to, the actual amount of costs to be recovered through rates, the return on equity, the capital structure utilized and expenses to be
recovered. KCP&L projects that, if the cost of the plan is included in rate base, the rate increases to support the five year plan and increasing operating expenses
would average approximately 3-4% annually, over the same time period.

The comprehensive energy plan is currently expected to be funded through a mix of sources as detailed in the following table.

Funding Source

Anticipated contribution from rate increases 25% - 35%
Capital contributions to KCP&L from Great Plains Energy's

proceeds of new equity financing 20% - 30%
Debt financing 20% - 30%
Capital contributions to KCP&L from Great Plains Energy's

proceeds of 2004 FELINE PRIDES equity in 2007 13%
Internal funds and other 5% - 10%

Actual funding sources may differ from this estimated mix and may be affected by various factors, including, but not limited to, the results of the rate proceedings
and market conditions.

In July 2005, a new law became effective authorizing the MPSC to approve rate adjustment mechanisms for the pass-through of fuel costs and environmental
costs to Missouri regulated utility customers beginning January 1, 2006. In the agreement entered into between KCP&L and the MPSC staff, KCP&L agreed not
to utilize any of these mechanisms, outside of a general rate case, through June 2015.

Energy Policy Act of 2005

On August 8, 2005, President Bush signed into law the Energy Policy Act of 2005. The Energy Policy Act of 2005 repeals, effective February 8, 2006, the 35
Act, which places certain limitations and approval requirements on registered public utility holding company systems with respect to matters such as acquisitions,
business combinations and activities, securities and affiliate transactions, and provides certain utility customer protection authority to FERC and the states.
Among other things, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 also revises PURPA to eliminate mandatory power purchase obligations; requires FERC to provide
transmission investment incentives; accelerates depreciation on transmission
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lines and pollution control equipment; provides for the extension of tax credits for wind energy generation; requires large municipals and cooperatives to provide
open transmission access; requires a study of competition in wholesale and retail electricity markets and authorizes the creation of an Electric Reliability
Organization to establish and enforce mandatory reliability standards subject to FERC oversight. Management has not yet fully determined its impact on Great
Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L.

KCP&L

KCP&L is an integrated, regulated electric utility that engages in the generation, transmission, distribution and sale of electricity. KCP&L has over 4,000 MWs of
generating capacity and has transmission and distribution facilities that provide electricity to approximately 500,000 customers in the states of Missouri and
Kansas. KCP&L has continued to experience modest load growth annually through increased customer usage and additional customers. Rates charged for
electricity are below the national average. KCP&L's wholly owned subsidiary, HSS, sold its wholly owned subsidiary, Worry Free, in February 2005.

FERC Market Power Inquiry

KCP&L is authorized by FERC to sell wholesale power at market-based rates. In December 2004, FERC issued an order finding that KCP&L potentially has
generation market power in its own control area and the control area of the Kansas City, Kansas Board of Public Utilities. On October 20, 2005, FERC ruled that
KCP&L had successfully rebutted the presumption of market power and terminated the proceeding.

Southwest Power Pool Regional Transmission Organization
Under FERC Order 2000, KCP&L, as an investor-owned utility, is strongly encouraged to join a FERC approved RTO. See Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

Strategic Energy

Great Plains Energy owns just under 100% of the indirect interest in Strategic Energy. Strategic Energy provides competitive retail electricity supply services by
entering into contracts with its customers to supply electricity. Strategic Energy does not own any generation, transmission or distribution facilities. Of the states
that offer retail choice, Strategic Energy operates in California, Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania and Texas.

In addition to competitive retail electricity supply services, Strategic Energy records insignificant wholesale revenues and purchased power expense incidental to
the retail services provided. Strategic Energy also provides strategic planning, consulting and billing and scheduling services in the natural gas and electricity
markets. In the second quarter of 2005, Strategic Energy entered into a contract with a customer for services including load management, administration and
billing. Strategic Energy expects to manage 1.0 million MWhs for the customer over a 12-month term, which began in October 2005. Retail gross margin per
MWh (retail revenues less retail purchased power divided by retail MWhs delivered) and MWhs in backlog do not reflect incidental wholesale sales or services
contracts; however, these activities are expected to have a positive impact on Strategic Energy’s earnings.

Strategic Energy serves approximately 8,900 customers including numerous Fortune 500 companies, smaller companies and governmental entities. Strategic
Energy provides competitive electricity supply to approximately 49,300 commercial, institutional and small manufacturing accounts. In response to marketplace
trends, Strategic Energy has designed and introduced new products tailored for specific market segments. Strategic Energy offers an array of products, including
fixed price, index-based and month-to-month renewal products, designed to meet the various requirements of a diverse customer base in evolving markets. In
2005, customers have responded well to the new product offerings,
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including 57% of year to date MWh sales attributable to index-based products. These products provide the customers with flexible pricing options to meet their
full requirements energy needs.

Strategic Energy’s volume-based customer retention rate, excluding month-to-month customers on market-based rates, for the three months ended and year to
date September 30, 2005, was 39% and 65%, respectively. The corresponding volume-based customer retention rates including month-to-month customers on
market-based rates were 79% and 81%, respectively. MWhs delivered in 2005 are projected to range from 17.5 to 21.0 million. Strategic Energy currently expects
the retail gross margin per MWh on new customer contracts entered into in 2005 to average from $2.50 to $4.00 and retail gross margin per MWh delivered in
2005 to average $4.50 to $5.20.

Based solely on expected usage under current signed contracts, Strategic Energy has forecasted future MWh commitments (backlog) of 4.1 million for the
remainder of 2005 and 7.5 million and 2.5 million for 2006 and 2007, respectively. Although backlog is diminishing as customers move to shorter-term products,
MWh deliveries remain fairly steady, considering seasonality. In some markets, wholesale power prices in 2005 have continued to rise faster than host utility
rates. In markets where this occurs, the savings competitive suppliers can offer to customers are reduced or in some markets are unavailable. Additionally, in
those markets where wholesale power prices are lower than host utility rates, Strategic Energy continues to face strong competition from other competitive
suppliers.

Seams Elimination Charge Adjustment

SECA is a transitional pricing mechanism authorized by FERC and intended to compensate transmission owners for the revenue lost as a result of FERC’s
elimination of regional through and out rates between PJM and the MISO during a 16-month transition period from December 1, 2004, through March 31, 2006.
See Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements for further information regarding SECA and the impact on Strategic Energy.

California

The 1996 California Assembly Bill 1890 restructured the California electricity industry and provided for the right of Direct Access. Direct Access permits
customers to buy their power from an electric service provider (ESP), such as Strategic Energy, instead of from an investor owned utility (IOU). On September
20, 2001, the California Public Utility Commission (CPUC) issued a ruling suspending Direct Access for customers not already on Direct Access. A referendum
entitled “The Repeal of Electricity Deregulation and Black-out Prevention Act” and backed by The Utility Reform Network will appear on the ballot in a
California special election in November 2005. The referendum allows existing Direct Access customers to continue to receive service from an ESP, but prohibits
their return to Direct Access if they moved to bundled service for a period of time. The referendum also proposes to change the role of the CPUC, retroactively
sets renewable energy requirements and requires an ESP to be subject to potential regulation by the CPUC and have to seek procurement and rate approval
through future rate proceedings. The Independent Energy Producers (IEP) filed a legal challenge based in part on the constitutionality of the referendum. The
California Supreme Court issued an Order allowing the referendum to be placed on the ballot with the right to retain jurisdiction and address the constitutional
issues after the election. The passage of this initiative could undermine ongoing efforts to lift the existing suspension of Direct Access.

Texas

During the third quarter of 2005, the Public Utility Commission of Texas (Texas PUC) opened a project to review rules related to the Price-to-Beat (PTB) and
Provider of Last Resort. Should the Texas PUC change the current PTB mechanism to one that is less reflective of market-based rates, the change could have an
impact on this competitive market and Strategic Energy’s prospects for growth in Texas.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

See Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for information regarding related party transactions.

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes Great Plains Energy’s comparative results of operations.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)

Operating revenues $ 7829 $ 7148 $ 1,959.7 $1,869.8
Fuel (73.9) (52.2) (160.2) (135.1)
Purchased power (414.8) (372.9) (1,059.8) (974.5)
Other operating expenses (126.9) (126.8) (393.4) (378.5)
Depreciation and amortization (38.4) (38.0) (114.5) (112.1)
Gain (loss) on property 3.4 0.6 (1.9) 0.8

Operating income 125.5 125.5 229.9 270.4
Non-operating income (expenses) (1.1) (5.1) 0.3) 8.7)
Interest charges (17.9) (18.0) (53.8) (55.3)
Income taxes (17.3) (35.2) (32.4) (67.3)
Minority interest in subsidiaries - 1.2 (7.8) 0.8
Loss from equity investments (0.1) (0.5) (0.8) (1.1)

Income from continuing operations 89.1 67.9 134.8 138.8
Discontinued operations 1.8 8.0 (1.8) 6.0

Net income 90.9 75.9 133.0 144.8
Preferred dividends (0.5) 0.4) (1.3) (1.2)

Earnings available for common shareholders $ 904 $ 755 $ 1317 $ 1436

Great Plains Energy’s earnings in the three months ended September 30, 2005, detailed in the following table, increased to $90.4 million, or $1.21 per share, from
$75.5 million, or $1.02 per share, compared to the same period of 2004.

Earnings (loss) per Great

Earnings (loss) Plains Energy Share
Three Months Ended September 30 2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)

KCP&L $ 69.1 $ 64.2 $ 0.92 $ 0.86
Subsidiary operations 0.2) 0.3) - -
Consolidated KCP&L 68.9 63.9 0.92 0.86
Strategic Energy 18.1 13.4 0.24 0.18
Other non-regulated operations 2.1 94 0.03 (0.13)
Discontinued operations (KLT Gas) 1.8 8.0 0.02 0.11
Preferred dividends (0.5) 0.4) - -
Total $ 90.4 $ 755 $ 1.21 $ 1.02

The earnings per share of any segment does not represent a direct legal interest in the asset and
liabilities allocated to any one segment but rather represents a direct equity interest in Great Plains
Energy's assets and liabilities as a whole.
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Great Plains Energy’s earnings year to date September 30, 2005, detailed in the following table, decreased to $131.7 million, or $1.77 per share, from $143.6
million, or $2.02 per share, compared to the same period of 2004. Higher average shares outstanding, as a result of the June 2004 equity offering of 5.0 million
shares, decreased year to date 2005 EPS $0.09.

Earnings (loss) per Great

Earnings (loss) Plains Energy Share
Year to Date September 30 2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
KCP&L $109.0 $ 1184 $ 1.46 $ 1.66
Subsidiary operations (0.8) (1.0) (0.01) (0.01)
Consolidated KCP&L 108.2 117.4 1.45 1.65
Strategic Energy 34.6 32.0 0.46 0.45
Other non-regulated operations (8.0) (10.6) (0.10) (0.15)
Discontinued operations (KLT Gas) (1.8) 6.0 (0.02) 0.09
Preferred dividends (1.3) (1.2) (0.02) (0.02)
Total $ 131.7 $143.6 $ 1.77 $ 2.02

The earnings per share of any segment does not represent a direct legal interest in the asset and
liabilities allocated to any one segment but rather represents a direct equity interest in Great Plains
Energy’s assets and liabilities as a whole.

Scheduled and forced plant maintenance for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004, continued to
have an impact on earnings at KCP&L. Retail revenues increased as a result of significantly warmer summer weather in 2005 compared to an unusually mild
summer last year; however, year to date the increase was more than offset by decreased wholesale revenues driven by lower MWhs generated primarily due to
plant maintenance outages and additional retail load. Fuel expense increased primarily due to changes in the fuel mix to higher cost generation, higher natural gas
prices and increased coal and coal transportation costs. Higher other operating expenses were partially offset by the regulatory accounting treatment of pension
expense. Favorable changes to the 2005 composite tax rates also contributed to net income.

Strategic Energy’s average retail gross margins were negatively impacted by a continuing environment of higher energy prices and forward electricity prices and
the roll-off of older, higher margin contracts. MWhs delivered decreased 5% to 5.4 million for the three months ended and remained unchanged at 15.2 million
year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004. SECA charges in excess of recoveries and higher tax expenses decreased net income.
These decreases were more than offset by the net changes in the fair value related to energy contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting and from hedge
ineffectiveness.

Higher reductions in affordable housing limited partnerships decreased other non-regulated operations earnings $5.1 million year to date September 30, 2005,
compared to the same period of 2004. Lower other non-regulated income taxes of $7.4 million for the three months ended and $5.6 million year to date
September 30, 2005, increased earnings primarily due to the net release of $5.0 million in tax reserves and the allocation of tax benefits from holding company
losses pursuant to the Company's intercompany tax allocation agreement. Discontinued operations for the three months ended and year to date September 30,
2004, reflects a gain of $8.6 million on the sale of the majority of the KLT Gas portfolio. This gain was partially offset by year to date losses of $1.4 million from
the wind down operations and a loss of $1.2 million due to the write down of the KLT Gas portfolio to its estimated net realizable value. See Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements for information regarding the discontinued operations.
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CONSOLIDATED KCP&L RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of consolidated KCP&L results of operations includes KCP&L, an integrated, regulated electric utility and HSS, an unregulated
subsidiary of KCP&L. References to KCP&L, in the discussion that follows, reflect only the operations of the utility. The following table summarizes
consolidated KCP&L's comparative results of operations.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)

Operating revenues $ 353.0 $ 323.7 $ 8584 $ 845.7
Fuel (73.9) (52.2) (160.2) (135.1)
Purchased power (28.3) (14.0) (56.6) (43.8)
Other operating expenses (110.4) (110.3) (345.0) (329.5)
Depreciation and amortization (36.7) (36.5) (109.8) (108.8)
Gain (loss) on property 3.6) 0.6 3.1 0.8
Operating income 100.1 111.3 183.7 229.3
Non-operating income (expenses) 0.4 (0.8) 9.4 (2.0)
Interest charges (15.0) (15.3) (45.1) (49.7)
Income taxes (16.6) (32.6) (32.0) (64.0)
Minority interest in subsidiaries - 1.3 (7.8) 3.8
Net income $ 689 $ 639 $ 108.2 $ 1174

Consolidated KCP&L'’s net income increased $5.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. Retail revenues
increased as a result of significantly warmer summer weather in 2005 compared to an unusually mild summer last year. Fuel expense increased despite lower
generation due to changes in the fuel mix to higher cost generation, increased natural gas prices and increased coal and coal transportation costs. Purchased power
expenses increased due to higher average prices per MWh resulting from higher natural gas prices, more purchases during higher priced peak hours as a result of
plant outages, warmer weather and coal conservation in the region. Lower income tax expense contributed to net income reflecting lower taxable income and a
decrease in the 2005 composite tax rates.

Consolidated KCP&L’s net income decreased $9.2 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. Retail revenues increased as a
result of significantly warmer summer weather in 2005 compared to an unusually mild summer last year; however, the increase was more than offset by decreased
wholesale revenues. Lower wholesale revenues were driven primarily by the increase in retail load and lower MWhs generated attributable to forced and
scheduled outages. Fuel expense increased primarily due to changes in the fuel mix to higher cost generation, increased natural gas prices and increased coal and
coal transportation costs. Purchased power expenses increased due to higher average prices per MWh resulting from more purchases during higher priced peak
hours as a result of warmer weather, scheduled and forced plant outages and overall higher average prices due to higher natural gas prices combined with
transmission constraints, coal conservation and outages in the region. Higher other operating expenses were partially offset by the regulatory accounting treatment
of pension expense. The decreases were partially offset by lower income taxes reflecting lower taxable income and a decrease in the 2005 composite tax rates.
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Consolidated KCP&L. Sales Revenues and MWh Sales

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 % September 30 %
2005 2004 Change 2005 2004 Change
Retail revenues (millions) (millions)
Residential $ 139.6 $ 1144 22 $ 304.6 $ 276.2 10
Commercial 138.3 133.0 4 341.3 330.7 3
Industrial 29.6 28.4 4 78.7 74.7 5
Other retail revenues 2.0 2.2 2 6.3 6.3 2
Total retail 309.5 278.0 11 730.9 687.9 6
Wholesale revenues 39.3 40.4 3) 115.7 144.0 (20)
Other revenues 4.2 4.9 (14) 11.7 12.6 7)
KCP&L electric revenues 353.0 323.3 9 858.3 844.5 2
Subsidiary revenues - 0.4 (100) 0.1 1.2 (91)
Consolidated KCP&L revenues $ 353.0 $ 323.7 9 $ 858.4 $ 845.7 2
Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 % September 30 %
2005 2004 Change 2005 2004 Change
Retail MWh sales (thousands) (thousands)
Residential 1,770 1,440 23 4,173 3,799 10
Commercial 2,116 1,977 7 5,577 5,354 4
Industrial 602 564 7 1,660 1,571 6
Other retail MWh sales 20 20 2 60 59 2
Total retail 4,508 4,001 13 11,470 10,783 6
Wholesale MWh sales 918 1,457 37) 3,166 4,801 (34)
KCP&L electric MWh sales 5,426 5,458 (@) 14,636 15,584 (6)

Retail revenues increased $31.5 million for the three months ended and $43.0 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004.
The increases were driven by significantly warmer summer weather in 2005 compared to an unusually mild summer in 2004 and continued load growth of
approximately 2% year to date, adjusted for weather. Load growth consists of higher usage per customer and the addition of new customers. Weather most
significantly affects residential customers’ usage patterns. Residential usage per customer increased 22% for the three months ended September 30, 2005, driven
by a 54% increase in cooling degree-days. Additionally, residential usage per customer increased 13% for the month of June 2005 compared to June 2004 driven
by a 79% increase in cooling degree-days, which impacted year to date September 30, 2005.

Bulk power sales, the major component of wholesale sales, vary with system requirements, generating unit and purchased power availability, fuel costs and
requirements of other electric systems. Less than 1% of revenues include an automatic fuel adjustment provision. Wholesale revenues decreased $1.1 million for
the three months ended and $28.3 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004 due to decreased MWhs sold. Significant
decreases in MWhs sold were driven by scheduled and forced plant outages, which decreased net MWhs generated 3% for the three months ended and 6% year to
date. Additionally, retail MWh sales increased 13% for the three months ended and 6% year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004,
which resulted in less MWhs available for wholesale sales. The effect on wholesale revenues of the decreased MWhs sold was mostly offset by an increase in
average market price per MWh for the three months ended to $50.86, almost double the comparable 2004 prices. Year to date, average market prices per MWh
increased 33% to $40.18, which partially offset the volume variance. The higher
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average prices per MWh were primarily due to warmer summer weather in 2005, higher natural gas prices and coal conservation in the region.

KCP&L’s coal base load equivalent availability factor decreased to 82% for the three months ended and 80% year to date September 30, 2005, from 91% and
84%, respectively, for the same periods of 2004 reflecting scheduled and forced plant outages. Wolf Creek’s availability was approximately 20% lower year to
date mostly due to its scheduled spring 2005 refueling outage. See MWhs generated by fuel type table and outage discussion below.

Consolidated KCP&L Fuel and Purchased Power

KCP&L’s nuclear unit, Wolf Creek, accounts for approximately 20% of its baseload capacity and over a three-year period averages over 20% of KCP&L’s MWhs
generated. KCP&L expects its cost of nuclear fuel to remain relatively stable through the year 2009. Replacement power costs for scheduled Wolf Creek outages
are accrued evenly over the unit’s 18-month operating cycle.

Since the third quarter of 2004, rail companies have been experiencing longer cycle times for coal deliveries to utilities across the country. In May 2005, western
rail service further deteriorated as a result of two train derailments that occurred on the primary rail line serving the Powder River Basin (PRB). Maintenance to
repair significant sections of track on this rail line is underway and must be completed before normal train operations from the PRB can resume. The rail
companies indicate that the track maintenance will likely continue through November 2005 and PRB deliveries will be reduced by 15% to 20% until that time.
This affects all users of PRB coal. Approximately 98% of KCP&L’s coal requirements come from the PRB and originate on the Burlington Northern Santa Fe and
the Union Pacific railroads, both of which have been affected by the current rail situation. As a result, KCP&L coal inventories are below desired levels. In
response to reduced inventory levels, KCP&L has implemented modest coal conservation measures by reducing coal generation. Less MWhs available to sell in
the wholesale market are anticipated over the fourth quarter of 2005 as these strategies continue to be implemented; however, given the widespread nature of the
rail service issues, increases in wholesale prices are partially compensating for lost MWh sales, which is consistent with wholesale energy prices experienced in
the third quarter. Currently, management does not anticipate a material impact on KCP&L’s financial results; however, management cannot predict with certainty
the impact of the situation and actual results could be materially different. Management is monitoring the situation closely and steps will be taken, as necessary, to
maintain an adequate energy supply to our native load and firm requirements customers.

The fuel cost per MWh generated and the purchased power cost per MWh has a significant impact on the results of operations for KCP&L. Generation fuel mix
can change the fuel cost per MWh generated substantially. Nuclear fuel cost per MWh generated is substantially less than the cost of coal per MWh generated,
which is significantly lower than the cost of natural gas and oil per MWh generated. The cost per MWh for purchased power is significantly higher than the cost
per MWh of coal and nuclear generation. KCP&L continually evaluates its system requirements, the availability of generating units, availability and cost of fuel
supply and purchased power, and the requirements of other electric systems to provide reliable power economically.

In August 2005, Hawthorn No. 5’s generator step-up transformer (GSU) failed, which resulted in a 32- day outage. A spare GSU was installed in September;
however, the size of the spare GSU limits the output of the unit to net 500 MW. The 65 MW decrease in Hawthorn No. 5 capability will continue until a new
transformer is installed, currently expected in June 2006. The 176 MW Montrose Unit No. 3 GSU failed in late May 2005. KCP&L is leasing a spare GSU until
the failed GSU is repaired and installed in the fourth quarter of 2005. The outage to install the repaired GSU is expected to be completed in 11 days. No other
outages are scheduled in the fourth quarter of 2005.
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KCP&L Net MWhs Generated by Fuel Type

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 % September 30 %
Fuel 2005 2004 Change 2005 2004 Change
(thousands) (thousands)

Coal 3,760 4,189 (10) 11,177 11,733 (5)
Nuclear 1,216 1,170 4 2,910 3,552 (18)
Natural gas and oil 356 123 189 456 157 190

Total Generation 5,332 5,482 3) 14,543 15,442 (6)

Fuel expense increased $21.7 million for the three months ended and $25.1 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004, due
to a combination of changes in the fuel mix to higher cost generation, higher natural gas prices and the cost of coal and coal transportation. The changes in fuel
mix were driven by the number and duration of scheduled and forced plant outages as well as by the coal conservation measures. Coal market prices have risen
substantially over the past few years. KCP&L entered into its existing coal contracts over time and expiring contracts have been replaced at market prices creating
an overall increase in coal costs. Additionally, the coal transportation contracts contain escalation factors, which reflect increases in the cost of providing
transportation services. The increases in fuel expense were partially offset by $2.0 million for the three months ended and $9.0 million year to date as a result of
less MWhs generated and favorable coal physical inventory adjustments.

Purchased power expense increased $14.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. MWhs purchased
increased 72% for the three months ended September 30, 2005, to support higher retail sales resulting from warmer weather and 3% lower net generation
primarily due to forced plant outages (see the Hawthorn 5 outage description above). The average price per MWh purchased increased 81% for the three months
ended September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. The increased prices were driven by higher natural gas prices, more purchases during higher
priced peak hours as a result of plant outages, warmer weather and coal conservation in the region.

Purchased power expense increased $12.8 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. The average price per MWh purchased
increased 59% year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, partially offset by a 1% decline in MWhs purchased year to date. The
increased prices were driven by more purchases during higher priced peak hours as a result of scheduled and forced plant outages, warmer weather and overall
higher prices due to higher natural gas prices combined with transmission constraints, coal conservation and outages in the region.

Consolidated KCP&L Other Operating Expenses (including other operating, maintenance and general taxes)
Consolidated KCP&L's other operating expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2005, were consistent when compared to the same period of 2004,
reflecting the following:

e increased expenses of $1.2 million due to higher legal reserves,

e increased general taxes of $2.7 million mostly due to increases in gross receipts tax, assessed property valuations and mill levies and
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e increased production operations and maintenance expenses of $3.3 million primarily due to the timing and scope of plant outages and the 2004 reversal
of $1.5 million for an environmental accrual.

Partial offsets to these increases in other operating expenses included:

e decreased pension expense of $7.1 million, including deferral of $5.6 million of expenses recognized in the first half of 2005, due to the regulatory
accounting treatment of pension expense retroactive to January 1, 2005, in accordance with the regulatory agreements approved by the MPSC and KCC
and

e decreased transmission service expense of $1.3 million primarily due to lower wholesale MWhs sold.

Consolidated KCP&L's other operating expenses increased $15.5 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, primarily due to
the following:

e increased employee related expenses of $3.4 million including severance and incentive compensation,

e increased expenses of $2.6 million due to higher legal reserves,

e increased outside services and regulatory expenses of $1.1 million including expenses related to the comprehensive energy plan,
e increased general taxes of $4.5 million mostly due to increases in gross receipts tax, assessed property valuations and mill levies,

e increased expenses of $4.7 million due to higher restoration costs for a January 2005 ice storm and June 2005 wind storms compared to the 2004 wind
storm restoration costs and

e increased production operations and maintenance expenses of $5.6 million primarily due to scheduled and forced plant maintenance in 2005.

Partially offsetting the increase in other operating expenses was:

e decreased pension expense of $3.9 million primarily due to the regulatory accounting treatment of pension expense in accordance with the regulatory
agreements approved by the MPSC and KCC and

e decreased transmission service expense of $4.6 million primarily due to lower wholesale MWhs sold.

Consolidated KCP&L Gain (loss) on Property

Consolidated KCP&L's gain (loss) on property increased operating expenses $4.2 million for the three months ended and $3.9 million year to date September 30,
2005, compared to the same periods of 2004, due to the write-off of plant operating system development costs as a result of vendor non-performance. See Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements for related legal proceedings.

Consolidated KCP&L Interest Charges

Consolidated KCP&L's interest charges decreased $0.3 million for the three months ended and $4.6 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the
same periods of 2004. The year to date decrease was primarily due to the 2004 redemption of KCP&L’s $154.6 million 8.3% Junior Subordinated Deferred
Interest Bonds with proceeds from a Great Plains Energy equity contribution.
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Consolidated KCP&L Income Taxes

Consolidated KCP&L's income taxes decreased $16.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, reflecting
$15.1 million due to the favorable impact of sustained audit positions on the composite tax rates and $4.1 million due to lower taxable income, partially offset by
a net $2.8 million decrease in the allocation of tax benefits from holding company losses pursuant to the Company's intercompany tax allocation agreement.
Income taxes decreased $32.0 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, reflecting $15.9 million due to the favorable impact
of sustained audit positions on the composite tax rates and $15.5 million due to lower taxable income. See Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

STRATEGIC ENERGY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes Strategic Energy's comparative results of operations.

Three Months Ended Year to Date
September 30 September 30
2005 2004 2005 2004
(millions)
Operating revenues $ 4299 $ 391.1 $ 1,101.3 $1,024.1
Purchased power (386.5) (358.9) (1,003.2) (930.7)
Other operating expenses (14.3) (13.5) (37.6) (37.7)
Depreciation and amortization (1.6) (1.4) (4.6) 3.2)
Operating income 27.5 17.3 55.9 52.5
Non-operating income (expenses) 0.7 0.4 1.8 0.7
Interest charges 0.7) 0.3) 2.2) -
Income taxes 9.4) 3.9 (20.9) (18.2)
Minority interest in subsidiaries - 0.1) - 3.0)
Net income $ 181 $ 134 $ 346 $ 320

Strategic Energy’s net income increased $4.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, and $2.6 million year to date, compared to the same periods
of 2004. MWhs delivered decreased 5% to 5.4 million for the three months ended and remained unchanged at 15.2 million year to date September 30, 2005,
compared to the same periods of 2004. Relative to prior periods, average retail gross margins were negatively impacted by a continuing environment of higher
energy prices and forward electricity prices and the roll-off of older, higher margin contracts. Additionally, both retail gross margin and net income were
negatively impacted by SECA charges in excess of recoveries of $1.0 million for the three months ended and $8.2 million year to date September 30, 2005. These
decreases were more than offset by the net changes in the fair value related to energy contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting and from hedge
ineffectiveness.

Net changes in the fair value related to energy contracts increased retail gross margin per MWh $3.36 to $7.85 for the three months ended September 30, 2005,
compared to an average retail gross margin of $5.50 for the same period of 2004, which includes $0.77 per MWh due to net changes in the fair value related to
energy contracts. The average retail gross margin per MWh year to date September 30, 2005, was $6.30, which includes $1.71 per MWh due to net changes in the
fair value related to energy contracts, compared to $6.00, which includes $0.25 per MWh due to net changes in the fair value related to energy contracts, for the
same period of 2004.

Strategic Energy Purchased Power

Purchased power is the cost component of Strategic Energy’s average retail gross margin previously discussed. Strategic Energy purchases standard blocks of
electricity from power suppliers based on
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forecasted peak demand for its retail customers. Actual customer demand does not always equate to the volume included in standard blocks of purchased power.
Consequently, Strategic Energy sells any excess retail electricity supply over actual customer requirements back into the wholesale market. These sales occur on
many contracts and are usually short-term power sales (day ahead) and typically settle within the reporting period. Excess retail electricity supply sales also
include long-term forward physical sales to wholesale counterparties, which are accounted for on a mark-to-market basis. Strategic Energy typically executes
these transactions to manage basis and credit risks. The proceeds from excess retail supply sales are recorded as a reduction of purchased power, as they do not
represent the quantity of electricity consumed by Strategic Energy’s customers. The amount of excess retail supply sales that reduced purchased power was $42.4
million for the three months ended and $96.8 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to $43.2 million and $127.3 million for the same periods of
2004, respectively. Additionally, in certain RTO and Independent System Operator (ISO) markets, load-serving entities are required to sell to and purchase power
from the RTO/ISO rather than directly transact with suppliers and end use customers. The sale and purchase activity related to these certain RTO/ISO markets is
reflected on a net basis in Strategic Energy’s purchased power.

Strategic Energy utilizes derivative instruments, including forward physical delivery contracts, in the procurement of electricity. Purchased power is also
impacted by the net change in fair value related to energy contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting and from hedge ineffectiveness. Purchased power
expense was reduced by $18.2 million and $26.0 million for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2005, due to the net change in fair value
related to energy contracts. The reductions for the three months ended and year to date September 30, 2004, were $4.4 million and $3.9 million, respectively. See
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for more information. Additionally, the cost of supplying electricity to retail customers can vary widely by
geographic market. This variability can be affected by many factors, including, but not limited to, geographic differences in the cost per MWh of purchased
power, renewable energy requirements and capacity charges due to regional purchased power availability and requirements of other electricity providers and
differences in transmission charges.

Strategic Energy Income Taxes

Strategic Energy’s income taxes increased $5.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, reflecting $4.3
million due to higher taxable income, a net $2.9 million decrease in the allocation of tax benefits from holding company losses pursuant to the Company's
intercompany tax allocation agreement partially offset by $2.1 million due to the favorable impact of sustained audit positions on the composite tax rates. Income
taxes increased $2.7 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004, reflecting $2.2 million due to higher taxable income, a net
$2.3 million decrease in the allocation of tax benefits from holding company losses pursuant to the Company's intercompany tax allocation agreement partially
offset by $2.5 million due to the favorable impact of sustained audit positions on the composite tax rates.

OTHER NON-REGULATED ACTIVITES

Investment in Affordable Housing Limited Partnerships - KLT Investments

KLT Investments Inc.’s (KLT Investments) net income for the three months ended September 30, 2005, totaled $1.9 million (including an after tax reduction of
$0.9 million in its affordable housing investment) compared to net income of $1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2004 (including an after tax
reduction of $2.9 million in its affordable housing investment). KLT Investments’ net income included accrued tax credits of $3.7 million and $4.6 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Net income year to date September 30, 2005, totaled $2.4 million (including an after tax
reduction of $6.2 million in its affordable housing investment) compared to net income of $7.5 million year to date September 30, 2004 (including an after tax
reduction of $4.6 million

62



in its affordable housing investment). KLT Investments’ net income included accrued tax credits of $11.5 million and $13.7 million year to date September 30,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

At September 30, 2005, KLT Investments had $28.4 million in affordable housing limited partnerships. Approximately 59% of these investments were recorded
at cost; the equity method was used for the remainder. Tax expense is reduced in the year tax credits are generated. The investments generate future cash flows
from tax credits and tax losses of the partnerships. The investments also generate cash flows from the sales of the properties. For most investments, tax credits are
received over ten years. A change in accounting principle relating to investments made after May 19, 1995, requires the use of the equity method when a
company owns more than 5% in a limited partnership investment. Of the investments recorded at cost, $16.2 million exceed this 5% level but were made before
May 19, 1995. Management does not anticipate making additional investments in affordable housing limited partnerships at this time.

On a quarterly basis, KLT Investments compares the cost of properties accounted for by the cost method to the total of projected residual value of the properties
and remaining tax credits to be received. Based on the latest comparison, KLT Investments reduced its investments in affordable housing limited partnerships by
$1.4 million for the three months ended and $10.0 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to $4.7 million and $7.4 million for the three months ended
and year to date September 30, 2004, respectively. There are no anticipated pre-tax reductions for the remainder of 2005 and the pre-tax reductions in affordable
housing investments are estimated to be $1 million and $2 million for 2006 and 2007, respectively. These projections are based on the latest information available
but the ultimate amount and timing of actual reductions could be significantly different from the above estimates. The properties underlying the partnership
investment are subject to certain risks inherent in real estate ownership and management. Even after these estimated reductions, earnings from the investments in
affordable housing are expected to be positive for the years 2005 through 2007.

Other Income Taxes

Other income taxes decreased $7.4 million for the three months ended and $5.6 million year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same periods of 2004,
primarily due to the net release of $5.0 million in tax contingency reserves and the allocation of tax benefits from holding company losses pursuant to the
Company's intercompany tax allocation agreement. The decrease in other income taxes was partially offset by a reduction in KLT Investments affordable housing
tax credits discussed above.

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY AND CONSOLIDATED KCP&L SIGNIFICANT BALANCE SHEET CHANGES (SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 COMPARED
TO DECEMBER 31, 2004)

e  Great Plains Energy’s restricted cash and supplier collateral increased $9.8 million due to Strategic Energy’s suppliers increasing cash collateral to cover
portions of credit exposure that increased due to higher wholesale electricity prices.

e Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s receivables increased $91.2 million and $45.0 million, respectively. KCP&L’s customer accounts
receivables increased $39.6 million primarily due to seasonal increases from higher rates and usage and other receivables increased $26.3 million due to
increases for SO, emission allowance sales. Partially offsetting these increases was an $11.9 million decrease in KCP&L’s wholesale receivables due to
lower MWhs sold. Strategic Energy’s receivables increased $44.8 million due to the combination of increased MWh deliveries and higher market prices
of electricity.

e  Great Plains Energy’s combined deferred income taxes — current asset and deferred income taxes — current liability increased $34.1 million from an
asset at December 31, 2004, to a liability
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of $21.0 million. The change in the fair value of Strategic Energy’s energy related derivative instruments increased the liability $28.2 million.
Consolidated KCP&L’s deferred income taxes — current asset decreased $6.2 million primarily due to a lower nuclear fuel outage reserve resulting from
the completion of the scheduled spring 2005 refueling outage. Consolidated KCP&L’s deferred income taxes — current asset were reclassified to a
current liability during consolidation with Great Plains Energy.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s derivative instruments — current assets increased $86.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively.
Consolidated KCP&L'’s derivative instruments — current assets reflects the fair value of the T-Lock, which was entered into in June 2005. Strategic
Energy’s energy related derivative instruments increased $80.6 million due to an increase in fair value as a result of changes in forward market prices for
power.

Great Plains Energy’s affordable housing limited partnerships decreased $12.9 million due to reductions in the valuation of the properties held by KLT
Investments.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s other — nonutility property and investments decreased $13.9 million and $11.5 million, respectively,
primarily due to KCP&L receiving a return of its investment from the Central Interstate Low Level Radioactive Waste Compact Commission.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s regulatory assets increased $15.9 million primarily due to the regulatory accounting treatment for
pension expense in accordance with the regulatory agreements approved by the MPSC and KCC.

Great Plains Energy’s derivative instruments — deferred charges and other assets increased $28.3 million due to a $29.0 million increase in Strategic
Energy’s energy related derivative instruments due to an increase in fair value as a result of changes in forward market prices for power.

Great Plains Energy’s other — deferred charges and other assets decreased $4.2 million. Consolidated KCP&L’s other — deferred charges and other assets
increased $7.5 million primarily due to a reclass from accrued taxes of an $8.8 million income tax refund receivable that management expects to be
delayed until the related IRS audit cycle can be completed. This increases was more than offset at Great Plains Energy by IEC’s amortization of $11.2
million for the intangible assets related to the purchase of Strategic Energy.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s EIRR bonds classified as current decreased $85.9 million due to KCP&L redeeming the bonds and
issuing new Series 2005 EIRR bonds of $85.9 million. The new EIRR bonds are classified as long-term debt.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s accrued taxes increased $65.5 million and $77.1 million, respectively. Consolidated KCP&L’s accrued
taxes increased $62.9 million due to the timing of tax payments and sales of SO, emission allowances. KCP&L’s income taxes also increased due to a
reclass of an $8.8 million income tax refund receivable to other deferred charges and other assets. These increases were partially offset by an $8.1
million decrease in accrued taxes due to the payment of accrued gross receipts taxes, settlement of state audits and the reversal of a reserve related to
these audits and a reclass of KLT Investments affordable housing tax credits from deferred taxes — deferred credits and other liabilities.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s deferred income taxes — deferred credits and other liabilities decreased $15.6 million and $33.2
million, respectively, primarily due to KCP&L’s lower composite tax rates of $12.0 million and $21.3 million related to sales of SO, emission
allowances. These decreases were partially offset by a $12.0 million reclass of KLT Investments affordable housing tax credits to accrued taxes.
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e  Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s regulatory liabilities increased $59.2 million primarily due to KCP&L’s regulatory treatment of SO,
emission allowance sales totaling $56.6 million. See note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

e Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s derivative instruments - deferred credits and other liabilities increased $6.0 million and $2.2 million,
respectively, due to a change in the fair market value of KCP&L’s interest rate swap on its 1998 Series A, B and D EIRR bonds and a $3.8 million
increase in Strategic Energy’s energy related derivative instruments due to an increase in fair value as a result of changes in forward market prices for
power.

e  Great Plains Energy’s accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) increased $41.4 million from a loss of $41.0 million at December 31, 2004 to
income of $0.4 million, primarily due to the increase in fair value of Strategic Energy’s energy related derivative instruments as a result of changes in
forward market prices for power.

e Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s long-term debt decreased $62.9 million and $62.1 million, respectively, primarily due to KCP&L’s
decision to exercise its early termination option and the $145.3 million redemption of debt related to the buyout of the Combustion Turbine Synthetic
Lease partially offset by an $85.9 million increase due to the issuance of Series 2005 EIRR bonds.

CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS AND LIQUIDITY

Great Plains Energy operates through its subsidiaries and has no material assets other than the stock of its subsidiaries. Great Plains Energy’s ability to make
payments on its debt securities and its ability to pay dividends is dependent on its receipt of dividends or other distributions from its subsidiaries and proceeds
from the issuance of its securities.

Great Plains Energy’s capital requirements are principally comprised of KCP&L’s utility construction and other capital expenditures, debt maturities and credit
support provided to Strategic Energy. These items as well as additional cash and capital requirements for the companies that have significantly changed from the
levels disclosed in the companies’ 2004 Form 10-K are discussed below.

Great Plains Energy's liquid resources at September 30, 2005, consisted of $58.4 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand, including $0.8 million at
consolidated KCP&L, and $766.8 million of unused bank lines of credit. The unused lines consisted of $236.4 million from KCP&L's revolving credit facility,
$44.7 million from Strategic Energy’s revolving credit facility and $485.7 million from Great Plains Energy's revolving credit facility. See the Debt Agreements
section below for more information on these agreements. In October 2005, Great Plains energy’s liquid resources decreased $9.3 million due to the issuance of
letters of credit totaling $16.2 million under Great Plains Energy’s revolving credit facility and $6.7 million under Strategic Energy’s revolving credit facility
partially offset by the repayment of KCP&L’s $13.6 million of commercial paper with cash from operations.

KCP&L expects to meet day-to-day cash flow requirements including interest payments, construction requirements (excluding new generating capacity and
environmental compliance on existing generating units), dividends to Great Plains Energy and pension benefit plan funding requirements, discussed below, with
internally generated funds. However, it might not be able to meet these requirements with internally generated funds because of the effect of inflation on
operating expenses, the level of MWh sales, regulatory actions, compliance with future environmental regulations and the availability of generating units. The
funds Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L need to retire maturing debt will be provided from operations, the issuance of long and short-term debt
and/or the issuance of equity or equity-linked instruments. In addition, the Company may issue debt, equity and/or equity-linked instruments to finance growth or
take advantage of new opportunities.

65



Strategic Energy expects to meet day-to-day cash flow requirements including interest payments, credit support fees, capital expenditures and dividends to its
indirect interest holders with internally generated funds. However, it might not be able to meet these requirements with internally generated funds because of the
effect of inflation on operating expenses, the level of MWh sales, seasonal working capital requirements, commodity-price volatility and the effects of
counterparty non-performance.

Cash Flows From Operations

Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L generated positive cash flows from operating activities for the periods presented. Cash flows from operating
activities for Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L decreased year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same period of 2004. KCP&L'’s net
income after consideration of non—cash items decreased primarily due to the impact of scheduled and forced plant outages on wholesale revenues and fuel and
purchased power expenses. The decreases were mostly offset by non—cash items primarily tax benefits resulting from the change in composite tax rates. The
timing of the Wolf Creek outage affects the refueling outage accrual, deferred income taxes and amortization of nuclear fuel. Additionally, Great Plains Energy’s
cash flows from operations reflects Strategic Energy’s net income, which includes a net non-cash favorable impact of $22.1 million related to changes in the fair
value of energy contracts.

Investing Activities

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s cash used for investing activities varies with the timing of utility capital expenditures and purchases of
investments and nonutility property. Investing activities are offset by the proceeds from the sale of properties and insurance recoveries. Great Plains Energy’s and
consolidated KCP&L’s utility capital expenditures increased $123.5 million and $128.3 million, respectively, year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the
same period of 2004 primarily due to KCP&L exercising its early termination option in the Combustion Turbine Synthetic Lease and the subsequent $154.0
million purchase of the leased property partially offset by the $28.5 million buyout of KCP&L’s operating lease for vehicles and heavy equipment in 2004. The
increases in capital expenditures were partially offset by KCP&L’s sales of SO, emission allowances during 2005 resulting in proceeds of $31.0 million year to
date September 30, 2005. In 2005, KCP&L received $10.0 million of insurance recoveries related to Hawthorn No. 5 compared to $30.8 million received in 2004.
In 2004, the Company paid approximately $90 million to acquire an additional indirect interest in Strategic Energy.

Financing Activities

The change in Great Plains Energy’s and Consolidated KCP&L’s cash flows from financing activities year to date September 30, 2005, compared to the same
period of 2004 reflects KCP&L'’s retirement of $54.5 million of its medium-term notes and its redemption of $154.6 million of 8.3% Junior Subordinated
Deferred Interest Bonds from KCPL Financing I during 2004. KCPL Financing I used those proceeds to redeem the $4.6 million common securities held by
KCP&L and the $150.0 million of 8.3% Trust Preferred Securities. These 2004 financing activities at consolidated KCP&L were offset by a $150.0 million equity
contribution from Great Plains Energy. Great Plains Energy’s 2004 financing activities reflect proceeds of $150.0 million from the June 2004 issuance of 5.0
million shares of common stock at $30 per share and proceeds of $163.6 million from the issuance of 6.5 million FELINE PRIDES. Fees related to these
issuances were $10.2 million.

As aregistered public utility holding company, Great Plains Energy must receive authorization from the SEC under the 35 Act to issue securities. Great Plains
Energy is currently authorized to issue up to $1.2 billion of debt and equity through December 31, 2005. Under the 35 Act repeal provisions of the Energy Policy
Act of 2005, Great Plains Energy’s current 35 Act authorizations will continue to be effective until the repeal date of the 35 Act. Great Plains Energy has utilized
$714.3 million of this amount at September 30, 2005, which is a $4.3 million increase from the $710.0 million at December 31, 2004, detailed in the Company’s
2004 Form 10-K. This increase was due to common
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stock issuances of $4.3 million and $5.8 million under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan and Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan,
respectively, mostly offset by a $5.8 million decrease in the outstanding balance on Great Plains Energy's revolving credit facility.

During the second and fourth quarters of 2005, KCP&L entered into T-Locks to hedge against interest rate fluctuations on the U.S. Treasury rate component of
long-term debt that KCP&L plans to issue during the fourth quarter of 2005. The T-Locks will be settled simultaneously with the issuance of the long-term fixed
rate debt and are accounted for as cash flow hedges. See the Cash Flow Hedges - Treasury Lock discussion in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for
additional information regarding the accounting treatment.

During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L entered into a revolving agreement to sell all of its retail electric accounts receivable to Receivables Company, which
sold an undivided percentage ownership interest in the accounts receivable to an outside investor. Receivables Company received $70 million in cash from the
outside investor, which was forwarded to KCP&L as consideration for its sale. KCP&L’s accounts receivable agreement is an additional source of liquidity with
an all-in borrowing cost generally equal to or lower than KCP&L’s other sources of short-term borrowings including the revolving credit facility and commercial
paper. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Under its current SEC authorization, Great Plains Energy cannot issue securities other than common stock unless (i) the security to be issued, if rated, is rated
investment grade by one nationally recognized statistical rating organization, (ii) all of its outstanding securities that are rated (except for its preferred stock) are
rated investment grade by one nationally recognized statistical rating organization, and (iii) it has maintained common equity as a percentage of consolidated
capitalization (as reflected on its consolidated balance sheets as of the end of each quarter) of at least 30%. Great Plains Energy was in compliance with these
conditions as of September 30, 2005.

KCP&L’s long-term financing activities are subject to the authorization of the MPSC. In June 2004, the MPSC authorized KCP&L to issue up to $600 million of
long-term debt through March 31, 2006. The authorization contains the following conditions, among others: (i) no more than $150.0 million of the authorized
debt can be used for purposes other than refinancing existing securities and (ii) the proceeds of the authorized debt must be used exclusively for the benefit of
KCP&L’s regulated operations. In June 2005, KCP&L filed an application with the MPSC for authority to issue up to $635 million of long-term debt and enter
into interest rate hedging instruments in connection with such debt through December 31, 2009, which was approved on November 3, 2005.

Issuances of short-term debt by KCP&L are subject to SEC authorization under the 35 Act. Under the current authorization, KCP&L may issue and have
outstanding at any given time up to $500 million of short-term debt. Under this authorization, KCP&L cannot issue short-term debt (other than commercial paper
or short-term bank facilities) unless (i) the short-term debt to be issued, if rated, is rated investment grade by one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization, (ii) all of its outstanding securities that are rated are rated investment grade by one nationally recognized statistical rating organization, (iii) all of the
outstanding rated securities of Great Plains Energy (except preferred stock) are rated investment grade and (iv) Great Plains Energy and KCP&L have maintained
common equity as a percentage of consolidated capitalization (as reflected on their consolidated balance sheets as of the end of each quarter) of at least 30%.
KCP&L was in compliance with these conditions as of September 30, 2005. During the fourth quarter of 2005, KCP&L applied to FERC for authorization to
issue up to $300.0 million in outstanding short-term debt instruments for a two-year period beginning on the expiration of the 35 Act.
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During the third quarter of 2005, KCP&L redeemed its secured 1994 series EIRR bonds totaling $35.9 million by issuing secured EIRR Bonds Series 2005 also
totaling $35.9 million; $14.0 million at a fixed rate of 4.05% until maturity at March 1, 2015, and $21.9 million at a fixed rate of 4.65% until maturity at
September 1, 2035. KCP&L also redeemed its unsecured Series C EIRR bonds totaling $50.0 million by issuing unsecured EIRR Bonds Series 2005 also totaling
$50.0 million at a fixed rate of 4.65% until maturity at September 1, 2035. The previous interest rate periods on these two series, with interest rates of 2.25% and
2.38%, respectively, expired on August 31, 2005. Both of the redeemed series were classified as current liabilities at December 31, 2004. Both of the new EIRR
Bonds Series 2005 are covered by municipal bond insurance policies issued by XL Capital Assurance Inc. (XLCA). The insurance agreements between KCP&L
and XLCA provide for reimbursement by KCP&L for any amounts that XLCA pays under the municipal bond insurance policies. The insurance policies are in
effect for the term of the bonds. The insurance agreements contain a covenant that the indebtedness to total capitalization ratio of KCP&L and its consolidated
subsidiaries will not be greater than 0.68 to 1.00. At September 30, 2005, KCP&L was in compliance with this covenant. KCP&L is also restricted from issuing
additional bonds under its General Mortgage Indenture if, after giving effect to such additional bonds, the proportion of secured debt to total indebtedness would
be more than 75%, or more than 50% if the long term rating for such bonds by Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s Investors Service would be at or below A- or A3,
respectively. The insurance agreement covering the unsecured EIRR Bond Series 2005 also requires KCP&L to provide XLCA with $50 million of general
mortgage bonds as collateral for KCP&L’s obligations under the insurance agreement in the event KCP&L issues general mortgage bonds (other than refundings
of outstanding general mortgage bonds) resulting in the aggregate amount of outstanding general mortgage bonds exceeding 10% of total capitalization. In the
event of a default under the insurance agreements, XLCA may take any available legal or equitable action against KCP&L, including seeking specific
performance of the covenants.

Debt Agreements

Great Plains Energy has a $550 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in December 2009. The facility contains a Material Adverse
Change (MAC) clause that requires Great Plains Energy to represent, prior to receiving funding, that no MAC has occurred. The clause does, however, permit the
Company to access the facility even in the event of a MAC in order to repay maturing commercial paper. Available liquidity under this facility is not impacted by
a decline in credit ratings unless the downgrade results in a MAC or occurs in the context of a merger, consolidation or sale. A default by Great Plains Energy or
any of its significant subsidiaries of other indebtedness totaling more than $25.0 million is a default under the current facility. Under the terms of this agreement,
Great Plains Energy is required to maintain a consolidated indebtedness to consolidated capitalization ratio, as defined in the agreement, not greater than 0.65 to
1.00 at all times. At September 30, 2005, the Company was in compliance with this covenant. At September 30, 2005, Great Plains Energy had no outstanding
borrowings and had issued letters of credit totaling $22.2 million under the credit facility as credit support for Strategic Energy. At September 30, 2005, Great
Plains Energy had $485.7 million available under this facility due to limitations under its 35 Act authorization.

KCP&L has a $250 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in December 2009 to provide support for its issuance of commercial paper
and other general purposes. The facility contains a MAC clause that requires KCP&L to represent, prior to receiving funding, that no MAC has occurred. The
clause does, however, permit KCP&L to access the facility even in the event of a MAC in order to repay maturing commercial paper. Available liquidity under
this facility is not impacted by a decline in credit ratings unless the downgrade results in a MAC or occurs in the context of a merger, consolidation or sale. A
default by KCP&L on other indebtedness totaling more than $25.0 million is a default under the current facility. Under the terms of the agreement, KCP&L is
required to maintain a consolidated indebtedness to consolidated capitalization ratio, as defined in the agreement, not greater than 0.65 to 1.00 at all times. At
September 30, 2005, KCP&L was in compliance with this covenant.
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At September 30, 2005, KCP&L had $13.6 million of commercial paper outstanding and no cash borrowings under the facility. The weighted-average interest
rate of the commercial paper was 3.95%.

Strategic Energy has a $125 million revolving credit facility with a group of banks that expires in June 2007. Great Plains Energy has guaranteed $25.0 million of
this facility. The facility contains a MAC clause that requires Strategic Energy to represent, prior to receiving funding, that no MAC has occurred. A default by
Strategic Energy of other indebtedness, as defined in the facility, totaling more than $7.5 million is a default under the facility. Under the terms of this agreement,
Strategic Energy is required to maintain a minimum net worth of $62.5 million, a maximum funded indebtedness to EBITDA ratio of 2.25 to 1.00, a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.05 to 1.00 and a minimum debt service coverage ratio of at least 4.00 to 1.00, as those terms are defined in the agreement.
In the event of a breach of one or more of these four covenants, so long as no other default has occurred, Great Plains Energy may cure the breach through a cash
infusion, a guarantee increase or a combination of the two. At September 30, 2005, Strategic Energy was in compliance with these covenants. At September 30,
2005, $80.3 million in letters of credit had been issued and there were no cash borrowings under the agreement, leaving $44.7 million of capacity available for
loans and additional letters of credit.

Great Plains Energy has agreements with KLT Investments associated with notes KLT Investments issued to acquire its affordable housing investments. Great
Plains Energy has agreed not to take certain actions including, but not limited to, merging, dissolving or causing the dissolution of KLT Investments, or
withdrawing amounts from KLT Investments if the withdrawals would result in KLT Investments not being in compliance with minimum net worth and cash
balance requirements. The agreements also give KLT Investments’ lenders the right to have KLT Investments repurchase the notes if Great Plains Energy’s senior
debt rating falls below investment grade or if Great Plains Energy ceases to own at least 80% of KCP&L’s stock. At September 30, 2005, KLT Investments had
$3.3 million in outstanding notes, including current maturities.

Under stipulations with the MPSC and the KCC, Great Plains Energy and KCP&L maintain common equity at not less than 30% and 35%, respectively, of total
capitalization. Pursuant to an SEC order, Great Plains Energy’s and KCP&L’s authorization to issue securities is conditioned on maintaining a consolidated
common equity capitalization of at least 30% and complying with other conditions described above.

Pensions

The Company maintains defined benefit plans for substantially all employees, including officers, of KCP&L, Services and WCNOC and incurs significant costs
in providing the plans, with the majority incurred by KCP&L. Plans are funded to meet the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974 (ERISA) with additional contributions made when financially appropriate.

The Company expects to contribute $14.7 million to the plans in 2005, of which KCP&L is required to contribute $4.7 million to meet the ERISA minimum
funding requirements. During 2005, the Company has contributed $13.7 million including $10.0 million contributed during the third quarter to ensure the
accumulated benefit obligation for the Great Plains Energy management pension plan is fully funded. KCP&L has contributed $13.0 million to the pension plans
during 2005 and is required to fund the remaining $1.0 million before December 31, 2005.

Participants in the plans may request a lump-sum cash payment upon termination of their employment. A change in payment assumptions could result in

increased cash requirements from pension plan assets with the Company being required to accelerate future funding. Under the terms of the pension plans, the
Company reserves the right to amend or terminate the plans, and from time to time benefits have changed.
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Supplemental Capital Requirements and Liquidity Information

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s contractual obligations were relatively unchanged at September 30, 2005, compared to December 31, 2004.
Strategic Energy has entered into agreements to purchase electricity at various prices to meet estimated supply requirements. Commitments at September 30,
2005, under these agreements total $543.9 million through 2010. Commitments for the remainder of 2005 total $178.0 million and for the years 2006 through
2010 total $246.6 million, $91.1 million, $20.0 million, $4.5 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In the normal course of business, Great Plains Energy and certain of its subsidiaries enter into various agreements providing financial or performance assurance to
third parties on behalf of certain subsidiaries. Such agreements include, for example, guarantees, stand-by letters of credit and surety bonds. These agreements are
entered into primarily to support or enhance the creditworthiness otherwise attributed to a subsidiary on a stand-alone basis, thereby facilitating the extension of
sufficient credit to accomplish the subsidiaries’ intended business purposes.

As a registered public utility holding company system, Great Plains Energy must receive authorization from the SEC, under the 35 Act, to issue guarantees on
behalf of its subsidiaries. Under its current SEC authorization, guarantees cannot be issued unless (i) all of its outstanding securities that are rated (except for its
preferred stock) are rated investment grade and (ii) it has maintained common equity as a percentage of consolidated capitalization (as reflected on its
consolidated balance sheets as of the end of each quarter) of at least 30%. Great Plains Energy was in compliance with these conditions as of September 30, 2005.
Great Plains Energy is currently authorized to issue up to $600 million of guarantees on behalf of its subsidiaries and the nonutility subsidiaries have $300 million
of authorization for guarantees they can issue on behalf of other nonutility subsidiaries. The nonutility subsidiaries cannot issue guarantees unless Great Plains
Energy is in compliance with its conditions to issue guarantees.

Great Plains Energy’s and consolidated KCP&L’s guarantees were relatively unchanged at September 30, 2005, compared to December 31, 2004.

RISK FACTORS

Actual results in future periods for Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L could differ materially from historical results and the forward-looking
statements contained in this report. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Risk Factors section included in the companies’ 2004 Form 10-K. These and many other factors described in this report,
including the factors listed in the “Cautionary Statements Regarding Certain Forward-Looking Information” and “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risks” sections of this report, could adversely affect the results of operations and financial position of Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L.
Risk factors of consolidated KCP&L are also risk factors for Great Plains Energy.

Strategic Energy has Wholesale Electricity Supplier Concentration and Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the loss that Strategic Energy could incur if a counterparty failed to perform under its contractual obligations. To reduce its credit exposure,
Strategic Energy enters into payment netting agreements with certain counterparties that permit Strategic Energy to offset receivables and payables with such
counterparties. Strategic Energy further reduces credit risk with certain counterparties by entering into agreements that enable Strategic Energy to terminate the
transaction or modify collateral thresholds upon the occurrence of credit-related events.
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Based on guidelines set by Strategic Energy’s Exposure Management Committee, counterparty credit risk is monitored by routinely evaluating the credit quality
and performance of its suppliers. Among other things, Strategic Energy monitors counterparty credit ratings, liquidity and results of operations. As a result of
these evaluations, Strategic Energy establishes counterparty credit limits and adjusts the amount of collateral required from its suppliers, among other measures.

Strategic Energy enters into forward contracts with multiple suppliers. At September 30, 2005, Strategic Energy’s five largest suppliers under forward supply
contracts represented 75% of the total future committed purchases. Four of Strategic Energy’s five largest suppliers, or their guarantors, are rated investment
grade; and the non-investment grade rated supplier collateralizes its position with Strategic Energy. In the event of supplier non-delivery or default, Strategic
Energy’s results of operations could be affected to the extent the cost of replacement power exceeded the combination of the contracted price with the supplier
and the amount of collateral held by Strategic Energy to mitigate its credit risk with the supplier. In addition to the collateral, if any, that the supplier provides,
Strategic Energy’s risk is further mitigated by the obligation of the supplier to make a default payment equal to the shortfall and to pay liquidated damages in the
event of a failure to deliver power. Strategic Energy’s results of operations could also be affected, in a given period, if it were required to make a payment upon
termination of a supplier contract to the extent that the contracted price with the supplier exceeded the market value of the contract at the time of termination.

The following table provides information on Strategic Energy’s credit exposure to suppliers, net of collateral, as of September 30, 2005. It further delineates the
exposure by the credit rating of counterparties and provides guidance on the concentration of credit risk and an indication of the maturity of the credit risk by
credit rating of the counterparties.

Number Of Net Exposure Of
Counterparties Counterparties

Exposure Greater Than Greater Than
Before Credit Credit Net 10% Of Net 10% of Net
Rating Collateral Collateral Exposure Exposure Exposure
External rating (millions) (millions)
Investment Grade $ 336.0 $ 127.5 $ 208.5 4 $ 153.3
Non-Investment Grade 56.1 47.6 8.5 - -
Internal rating
Investment Grade 9.2 - 9.2 - -
Non-Investment Grade 27.3 15.8 11.5 - -
Total $ 428.6 $ 190.9 $ 237.7 4 $ 153.3
Maturity Of Credit Risk Exposure Before Credit Collateral
Exposure
Less Than Greater Than
Rating 2 Years 2 -5 Years 5 Years Total Exposure
External rating (millions)
Investment Grade $ 326.7 $ 93 $ - $ 336.0
Non-Investment Grade 47.7 7.9 0.5 56.1
Internal rating
Investment Grade 8.9 0.3 - 9.2
Non-Investment Grade 24.9 2.3 0.1 27.3
Total $ 408.2 $ 19.8 $ 06 $ 428.6
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External ratings are determined by using publicly available credit ratings of the counterparty. If a counterparty has provided a guarantee by a higher rated entity,
the determination has been based on the rating of its guarantor. Internal ratings are determined by, among other things, an analysis of the counterparty’s financial
statements and consideration of publicly available credit ratings of the counterparty’s parent. Investment grade counterparties are those with a minimum senior
unsecured debt rating of BBB- from Standard & Poor’s or Baa3 from Moody’s. Exposure before credit collateral has been calculated considering all netting
agreements in place, netting accounts payable and receivable exposure with net mark-to-market exposure. Exposure before credit collateral, after consideration of
all netting agreements, is impacted significantly by the power supply volume under contract with a given counterparty and the relationship between current
market prices and contracted power supply prices. Credit collateral includes the amount of cash deposits and letters of credit received from counterparties. Net
exposure has only been calculated for those counterparties to which Strategic Energy is exposed and excludes counterparties exposed to Strategic Energy.

Strategic Energy’s total exposure before credit collateral at September 30, 2005, increased $351.7 million from December 31, 2004, primarily due to higher
wholesale electricity prices. At September 30, 2005, Strategic Energy had exposure before collateral to non-investment grade counterparties totaling $83.4
million, of which 87% is scheduled to mature in less than two years. In addition, Strategic Energy held collateral totaling $63.4 million limiting its exposure to
these non-investment grade counterparties to $20.0 million.

Strategic Energy is continuing to pursue a strategy of contracting with national and regional counterparties that have direct supplies and assets in the region of
demand. Strategic Energy is also continuing to manage its counterparty portfolio through disciplined margining, collateral requirements and contract based
netting of credit exposures against payable balances.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L are exposed to market risks associated with commodity price and supply, interest rates and equity prices. Market
risks are handled in accordance with established policies, which may include entering into various derivative transactions. In the normal course of business, Great
Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L also face risks that are either non-financial or non-quantifiable. Such risks principally include business, legal, operational
and credit risks and are discussed elsewhere in this document as well as in the 2004 Form 10-K and therefore are not represented here.

Great Plains Energy and consolidated KCP&L interim period disclosures about market risk included in quarterly reports on Form 10-Q address material changes,
if any, from the most recently filed annual report on Form 10-K. Therefore, these interim period disclosures should be read in connection with Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, included in our 2004 Form 10-K, incorporated herein by reference. Strategic Energy has historically
utilized certain derivative instruments to protect against significant price volatility for purchased power that have qualified for the normal purchase normal sale
exception, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as amended. However, as certain markets continue to develop, some derivative instruments may no longer qualify
for the normal purchase normal sale exception. As such, Strategic Energy is designating these derivative instruments as cash flow hedges, which could result in
future increased volatility in derivative assets and liabilities, OCI and net income above levels historically experienced. Derivative instruments that were
designated as normal purchase normal sale are accounted for by accrual accounting, which requires the effects of the derivative to be recorded when the
derivative contract settles. Accordingly, the increase in derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges, and the corresponding decrease in derivatives accounted for
as normal purchases and normal sales transactions, may affect the timing and nature of accounting recognition, but does not change the underlying economics of
the transactions. Otherwise,
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there have been no material changes in Great Plains Energy’s or consolidated KCP&L’s market risk since December 31, 2004.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Great Plains Energy and KCP&L carried out evaluations of their disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of

the end of the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2005. These evaluations were conducted under the supervision, and with the participation, of each company’s
management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of each company and the companies’ disclosure committee.

Based upon these evaluations, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Great Plains Energy, and the chief executive officer and chief financial
officer of KCP&L, respectively, have concluded as of the end of the period covered by this report that the disclosure controls and procedures of Great Plains
Energy and KCP&L are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) the information required to be disclosed by the respective companies in
the reports that they file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) the information required to be disclosed by the respective companies in the reports that they file or submit
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is accumulated and communicated to their respective management, including the principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in Great Plains Energy’s or KCP&L’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2005, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, those companies’ internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

KCP&L Stipulations and Agreements

On March 28, 2005, and April 27, 2005, KCP&L filed Stipulations and Agreements with the MPSC and KCC, respectively, containing a regulatory plan and
other provisions. The Stipulations and Agreements are discussed in the Executing on Strategic Intent section of Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, which is incorporated herein by reference. Parties to the MPSC Stipulation and Agreement are KCP&L, the Staff
of the MPSC, the City of Kansas City, Missouri, Office of Public Counsel, Praxair, Inc., Missouri Industrial Energy Consumers, Ford Motor Company, Aquila,
Inc., The Empire District Electric Company, Missouri Joint Municipal Electric Utility Commission and the Missouri Department of Natural Resources. Parties to
the KCC Stipulation and Agreement are KCP&L, the Staff of the KCC, Sprint, Inc. and the Kansas Hospital Association.

The MPSC issued its Report and Order, approving the Stipulation and Agreement, on July 28, 2005, and the KCC issued its Order Approving Stipulation and
Agreement on August 5, 2005. On September 22, 2005, the Sierra Club and Concerned Citizens of Platte County, two nonprofit corporations, filed a petition for
review in the Circuit Court of Cole County, Missouri, seeking to review and set aside the MPSC Report and Order. On October 21, 2005, the Sierra Club filed a
petition for review in the District Court of Shawnee County, Kansas, seeking to set aside or remand the KCC order. Although subject to the appeal, the MPSC and
KCC orders remain in effect pending the court’s decision. The appeals are expected to be decided by the courts in 2006.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

On November 1, 2005, Great Plains Energy entered into indemnification agreements with the following directors: David L. Bodde, Mark A. Ernst, William K.
Hall, Luis A. Jimenez, William C. Nelson, Linda H. Talbott and Robert H. West. The agreements replaced indemnification agreements these directors had with
KCP&L. The agreements provide that Great Plains Energy will indemnify these persons to the fullest extent permitted by law against all expenses, judgments,
fines, penalties and settlements arising out of civil, criminal and investigative proceedings concerning any event or occurrence related to the fact that the persons
were serving at the request of Great Plains Energy as directors, officers, employees, agents or fiduciaries of Great Plains Energy, or were directors, officers,
employees, trustees, agents or fiduciaries of another entity, or by reason of anything done or not done by the directors in such capacities. No indemnification is
available under the agreements for conduct that was knowingly fraudulent or deliberately dishonest, or constituted willful misconduct.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Great Plains Energy Documents

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

10.1.a First Amendment, dated October 6, 2005, to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004, among Great Plains Energy Incorporated,
Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd, Wachovia Bank, National Association and BNP Paribas,
as Co-Documentation Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, The Bank of New York, KeyBank National
Association, The Bank of Nova Scotia, U.S. Bank National Association, Merrill Lynch Bank USA, Morgan Stanley Bank, Mizuho Corporate
Bank, UMB Bank, N.A., PNC Bank, National Association, Bank Midwest, N.A. and UFJ Bank Limited.

10.1.b + Form of Indemnification Agreement.

12.1 Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

31.1.a Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of Michael J. Chesser.

31.1.b Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of Terry Bassham.

32.1 Section 1350 Certifications.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Copies of any of the exhibits filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with this document may be obtained from Great Plains Energy
upon written request.
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Great Plains Energy agrees to furnish to the SEC upon request any instrument with respect to long term debt as to which the total amount of securities authorized
does not exceed 10% of total assets of Great Plains Energy and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

KCP&L Documents

Exhibit
Number

4.2

10.2.a

10.2.b

10.2.c

12.2

31.2.a

31.2b

32.2

Description of Document

Eleventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 15, 2005, to the General Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated as of December 1, 1986,
between Kansas City Power & Light Company and UMB Bank, n.a. (formerly United Missouri Bank of Kansas City, N.A.), Trustee.

First Amendment, dated October 6, 2005, to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004, among Kansas City Power & Light
Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Syndication Agent, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd, Wachovia Bank, National Association and
BNP Paribas, as Co-Documentation Agents, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, The Bank of New York, KeyBank
National Association, The Bank of Nova Scotia, U.S. Bank National Association, Merrill Lynch Bank USA, Morgan Stanley Bank, Mizuho
Corporate Bank, UMB Bank, N.A., PNC Bank, National Association, Bank Midwest, N.A. and UFJ Bank Limited.

Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of July 1, 2005, between Kansas City Power & Light Company, as Originator, and Kansas City Power
& Light Receivables Company, as Buyer (Exhibit 10.2.b to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005).

Receivables Sale Agreement dated as of July 1, 2005, among Kansas City Power & Light Receivables Company, as the Seller, Kansas City
Power & Light Company, as the Initial Collection Agent, The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi, Ltd., New York Branch, as the Agent, and Victory
Receivables Corporation (Exhibit 10.2.c to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005).

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of William H. Downey.

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of Terry Bassham.

Section 1350 Certifications.

* Filed as an exhibit to a prior report and incorporated by reference and made a part hereof. The exhibit number and report reference of the documents so filed,
and incorporated herein by reference, are stated in parentheses in the description of such exhibit.

Copies of any of the exhibits filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with this document may be obtained from KCP&L upon written

request.

KCP&L agrees to furnish to the SEC upon request any instrument with respect to long term debt as to which the total amount of securities authorized does not
exceed 10% of total assets of Great Plains Energy and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Great Plains Energy Incorporated and Kansas City Power & Light Company have duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY INCORPORATED

Dated: November 4, 2005 By: /s/Michael J. Chesser
(Michael J. Chesser)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Dated: November 4, 2005 By: /s/Lori A. Wright
(Lori A. Wright)
(Principal Accounting Officer)

KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

Dated: November 4, 2005 By: /s/William H. Downey,
(William H. Downey)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Dated: November 4, 2005 By: /s/Lori A. Wright
(Lori A. Wright)
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1.a
October 6, 2005

Great Plains Energy Incorporated
1201 Walnut

Kansas City, Missouri 64141
Attn: Michael W. Cline, Treasurer

Re: First Amendment to Credit Agreement
Dear Ladies/Gentlemen:

Please refer to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004 (the "Credit Agreement") among Great Plains Energy
Incorporated (the "Borrower"), various financial institutions and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

At the request of the Borrower, the Required Lenders agree that (a) clause (xviii) of Section 6.12 of the Credit Agreement is
deleted in its entirety and (b) the following new clauses (xviii) and (xix) are added to such Section 6.12 in proper numerical
sequence:

(xviii) Liens on Property of KCPL arising in connection with utility co-ownership, co-operating and
similar agreements that are consistent with past practice or otherwise customary for the ownership and
operation of Property for the utilities business.

(xix) Liens which would otherwise not be permitted by clauses (i) through (xviii) securing additional
Indebtedness of the Borrower or a Significant Subsidiary (other than a Project Finance Subsidiary);
provided that after giving effect thereto the aggregate unpaid principal amount of Indebtedness (including
Capitalized Lease Obligations) of the Borrower and its Significant Subsidiaries (other than any Project
Finance Subsidiary) (including prepayment premiums and penalties) secured by Liens permitted by this
clause (xix) shall not exceed the greater of (a) $50,000,000 and (b) 10% of Consolidated Tangible Net
Worth.

This letter amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts,
and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
letter amendment. This letter amendment shall become effective when the Administrative Agent has received (by facsimile or
otherwise) counterparts hereof executed by the Borrower and the Required Lenders.

This letter amendment shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws (and not the law of conflicts) of the State of
New York, but giving effect to Federal laws applicable to national banks.

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, at the time of effectiveness hereof, that
(a) the representations and warranties contained in Article V of the Credit Agreement are true and correct (except to the extent any
such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall have
been true and correct on and as of such earlier date) and (b) no Default or Unmatured Default exists.

Except as specifically set forth above, the Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and
confirmed in all respects. After the effectiveness hereof, all references in the Credit Agreement to "Agreement” or similar terms
shall refer to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A,,
as Administrative Agent and as a Lender

By: /s/Mike DeForge
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,, as Syndication Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Michelle A. Schoenfeld
Title: Senior Vice President

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI, LTD., CHICAGO
BRANCH, as Co-Documentation Agent and as a Lender



By: /s/Tsuguyuki Umene
Title: Deputy General Manager

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Co-Documentation Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Allison Newman
Allison Newman
Title: Vice President

BNP PARIBAS, as Co-Documentation Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Francis DeLaney
Francis DeLaney
Title: Managing Director

By: /s/Mark Renaud
Mark Renaud
Title: Managing Director

THE BANK OF NEW YORK

By: /s/Daniel Csillag
Daniel Csillag
Title: Vice President

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Keven D. Smith
Title: Vice President

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA

By: /s/Thane A. Rattew
Thane A. Rattew
Title: Managing Director

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Martin Nay
Title: Martin Nay, Vice President

MERRILL LYNCH BANK USA

By: /s/Louis Alder
Title: Louis Alder, Director

MORGAN STANLEY BANK

By:

Title:

MIZUHO CORPORATE BANK, LTD.

By: /s/Raymond Ventura
Title: Deputy General Manager

UMB BANK, N.A.

By: /s/Robert P. Elbert
Robert P. Elbert
Title: Senior Vice President



Acknowledged and Agreed:

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY INCORPORATED

By: /s/Michael W. Cline
Name: Michael W. Cline
Title: Treasurer

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Thomas A. Majeski
Title: Vice President

BANK MIDWEST, N.A.

By: /s/Brian Bower
Title: Vice President

UFJ BANK LIMITED

By:

Title:




Exhibit 10.1.b

INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

This Agreement is made as of the day of November, 2005, by and between Great Plains Energy
Incorporated, a Missouri corporation (the "Company"), and ("Indemnitee"), a Director or Officer of the
Company.

WHEREAS, it is essential to the Company to retain and attract as Directors and Officers the most capable
persons available;

WHEREAS, it is now and always has been the express policy of the Company to indemnify its Directors and
Officers so as to provide them with the maximum possible protection permitted by law;

WHEREAS, Indemnitee does not regard the protection available under the Company's Articles of Consolidation
and by-laws as adequate in the present circumstances, and may not be willing to serve as a Director or Officer without
adequate protection, and the Company desires Indemnitee to serve in such capacity;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of Indemnitee serving the Company directly or, at its
request, another enterprise, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Certain Definitions:
@) Beneficial Owner: shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act.
(b) Change in Control: shall be deemed to have occurred if:

(I) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of
the Company (not including in the securities beneficially owned by such Person any securities
acquired directly from the Company or its affiliates other than in connection with the acquisition
by the Company or its affiliates of a business) representing 20% or more of either the then
outstanding shares of common stock of the Company or the combined voting power of the
Company's then outstanding securities; or

(1) the following individuals cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the number of
directors then serving: individuals who, on the date hereof, constitute the Board and any new
director (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an actual or
threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the
election of directors of the Company, as such terms are used in Rule 14a-11 of Regulation 14A
under the Exchange Act) whose appointment or election by the Board or nomination for election
by the Company's stockholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the
directors then still in office who either were directors on the date hereof or whose appointment,
election or nomination for election was previously so approved; or

(1) the stockholders of the Company approve a merger or consolidation of the Company
with any other corporation or approve the issuance of voting securities of the Company in
connection with a merger or consolidation of the Company (or any direct or indirect subsidiary of
the Company) pursuant to applicable stock exchange requirements, other than (i) a merger or
consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding
immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent (either by remaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or any parent
thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities
under an employee benefit plan of the Company, at least 60% of the combined voting power of
the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or any parent thereof outstanding
immediately after such me rger or consolidation, or (ii) a merger or consolidation effected to
implement a recapitalization of the Company (or similar transaction) in which no Person is or
becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not including
in the securities Beneficially Owned by such Person any securities acquired directly from the
Company or its affiliates other than in connection with the acquisition by the Company or its
affiliates of a business) representing 20% or more of either the then outstanding shares of
common stock of the Company or the combined voting power of the Company's then
outstanding securities; or

(IV) the stockholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or
dissolution of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or
substantially all of the Company's assets, other than a sale or disposition by the Company of all
or substantially all of the Company's assets to an entity, at least 60% of the combined voting



power of the voting securities of which are owned by Persons in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no "Change in Control" shall be deemed to have
occurred if there is consummated any transaction or series of integrated transactions
immediately following which the record holders of the common stock of the Company
immediately prior to such transaction or series of transactions continue to have substantially the
same proportionate ownership in an entity which owns all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company immediately following such transaction or series of transactions.

(©) Claim: any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, or any inquiry
or investigation, whether instituted by the Company or any other party, that Indemnitee in good
faith believes might lead to the institution of any such action, suit or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal, administrative, investigative or other.

(d) Exchange Act: shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time
to time.
(e) Expenses: include attorneys' fees and all other costs, expenses and obligations paid or

incurred in connection with investigating, defending, being a witness in or participating in
(including on appeal), or preparing to defend, be a witness in or participate in any Claim relating
to any Indemnifiable Event.

® Indemnifiable Event: any event or occurrence related to the fact that Indemnitee is or
was a director, officer, employee, agent or fiduciary of the Company, or is or was serving at the
request of the Company as a director, officer, employee, trustee, agent or fiduciary of another
corporation, partnership, joint venture, employee benefit plan, trust or other enterprise, or by
reason of anything done or not done by Indemnitee in any such capacity.

(9) Independent Legal Counsel: an attorney or firm of attorneys, selected in accordance
with the provisions of Section 3, who shall not have otherwise performed services for the
Company or Indemnitee within the last three years (other than with respect to matters
concerning the rights of Indemnitee under this Agreement, or of other indemnitees under similar
indemnity agreements).

(h) Person: shall have the meaning given in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act, as
modified and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such term shall not include (i)
the Company or any of its affiliates (as defined in Rule 12b-2 promulgated under the Exchange
Act), (ii) a trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the
Company or any of its affiliates, (iii) an underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuant to an
offering of such securities, or (iv) a corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by the stockholders
of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the
Company.

0] Potential Change in Control: shall be deemed to have occurred if:

() the Company enters into an agreement, the consummation of which would result in
the occurrence of a Change in Control;

(I the Company or any Person publicly announces an intention to take or to consider
taking actions which, if consummated, would constitute a Change in Control;

(1) any Person becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the
Company representing 10% or more of either the then outstanding shares of common stock of
the Company or the combined voting power of the Company's then outstanding securities; or

(IV) the Board adopts a resolution to the effect that, for purposes of this Agreement, a
Potential Change in Control has occurred.

@) Reviewing_Party: any appropriate person or body consisting of a member or members of
the Company's Board of Directors or any other person or body appointed by the Board who is
not a party to the particular Claim for which Indemnitee is seeking indemnification, or
Independent Legal Counsel.

2. Basic Indemnification Arrangement. (a) In the event Indemnitee was, is or becomes a party to or witness
or other participant in, or is threatened to be made a party to or witness or other participant in, a Claim by reason of (or
arising in part out of) an Indemnifiable Event, the Company shall indemnify Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by
law as soon as practicable but in any event no later than thirty days after written demand is presented to the Company,
against any and all Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement (including all interest,




assessments and other charges paid or payable in connection with or in respect of such Expenses, judgments, fines,
penalties or amounts paid in settlement) of such Claim. If so requested by Indemnitee, the Company shall advance
(within two business days of such request) any and all Expenses to Indemnite e (an "Expense Advance").

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the obligations of the Company under Section 2(a) shall be subject to
the condition that the Reviewing Party shall not have determined (in a written opinion, in any case in which the
Independent Legal Counsel referred to in Section 3 hereof is involved) that Indemnitee would not be permitted to be
indemnified under applicable law, and (ii) the obligation of the Company to make an Expense Advance pursuant to
Section 2(a) shall be subject to the condition that, if, when and to the extent that the Reviewing Party determines that
Indemnitee would not be permitted to be so indemnified under applicable law, the Company shall be entitled to be
reimbursed by Indemnitee (who hereby agrees to reimburse the Company) for all such amounts theretofore paid,;
provided, however, that if Indemnitee has commenced or thereafter commences legal proceedings in a court o f
competent jurisdiction to secure a determination that Indemnitee should be indemnified under applicable law, any
determination made by the Reviewing Party that Indemnitee would not be permitted to be indemnified under applicable
law shall not be binding and Indemnitee shall not be required to reimburse the Company for any Expense Advance until
a final judicial determination is made with respect thereto (as to which all rights of appeal therefrom have been
exhausted or lapsed). If there has not been a Change in Control, the Reviewing Party shall be selected by the Board of
Directors, and if there has been such a Change in Control (other than a Change in Control which has been approved by
a majority of the Company's Board of Directors who were directors immediately prior to such Change in Control), the
Reviewing Party shall be the Independent Legal Counsel referred to in Section 3 hereof. If there has been no
determination by the Reviewing Party or if the Reviewing Party determines that Indemnitee substant ively would not be
permitted to be indemnified in whole or in part under applicable law, Indemnitee shall have the right to commence
litigation in any court in the State of Missouri having subject matter jurisdiction thereof and in which venue is proper
seeking an initial determination by the court or challenging any such determination by the Reviewing Party or any
aspect thereof, including the legal or factual bases therefor, and the Company hereby consents to service of process
and to appear in any such proceeding. Any determination by the Reviewing Party otherwise shall be conclusive and
binding on the Company and Indemnitee.

(©) The Company and Indemnitee agree that this indemnification arrangement is based upon the
statutory authorization in the Missouri General and Business Corporation Law, (section symbol) 351.355, and in
particular subparts 6 and 7 thereof, by virtue of the provisions in Article Thirteenth of the Company's Restated Articles
of Consolidation, as amended February 26, 2001. No provision of this Agreement shall permit the Company to
indemnify Indemnitee from or on account of Indemnitee's conduct which is finally adjudged to have been knowingly
fraudulent, deliberately dishonest or willful misconduct.

3. Change in Control. The Company agrees that if there is a Change in Control of the Company (other than
a Change in Control which has been approved by a majority of the Company's Board of Directors who were directors
immediately prior to such Change in Control) then with respect to all matters thereafter arising concerning the rights of
Indemnitee to indemnity payments and Expense Advances under this Agreement or any other agreement or Company
By-law now or hereafter in effect relating to Claims for Indemnifiable Events, the Company shall seek legal advice only
from Independent Legal Counsel selected by Indemnitee and approved by the Company (which approval shall not be
unreasonably withheld). Such counsel, among other things, shall render its written opinion to the Company and
Indemnitee as to whether and to what extent the Indemnitee would be permitted to be indemnified under applicable law.
The Company agrees to pay the reasonable fees of the Independent Legal Counsel referred to above and to fully
indemnify such counsel against any and all expenses (including attorneys' fees), claims, liabilities and damages arising
out of or relating to this Agreement or its engagement pursuant hereto.

4, Establishment of Trust. In the event of a Potential Change in Control, the Company shall, upon written
request by Indemnitee, create a trust for the benefit of Indemnitee and from time to time upon written request of
Indemnitee shall fund such trust in an amount sufficient to satisfy any and all Expenses reasonably anticipated at the
time of each such request to be incurred in connection with investigating, preparing for and defending any Claim
relating to an Indemnifiable Event, and any and all judgments, fines, penalties and settlement amounts of any and all
Claims relating to an Indemnifiable Event from time to time actually paid or claimed, reasonably anticipated or proposed
to be paid, provided that in no event shall more than $1 million be required to be deposited in any trust created
hereunder in excess of amounts deposited in respect of reasonably anticipated Expenses. The amount or amounts to
be deposited in the trust pursuant to the foregoing funding obligation shall be determined by the Reviewing Party, in
any case in which the Independent Legal Counsel referred to above is involved. The terms of the trust shall provide that
upon a Change in Control (i) the trust shall not be revoked or the principal thereof invaded, without the written consent
of the Indemnitee, (i) the trustee shall advance, within two business days of a request by the Indemnitee, any and all
Expenses to the Indemnitee (and the Indemnitee hereby agrees to reimburse the trust under the circumstances under
which the Indemnitee would be required to reimburse the Company under Section 2(b) of this Agreement), (iii) the trust
shall continue to be funded by the Company in accordance with the funding obligation set forth above, (iv) the trustee
shall promptly pay to Indemnitee all amounts for which Indemnitee shall be entitled to indemnification pursuant to this
Agreement or otherwise, and (v) all unexpen ded funds in such trust shall revert to the Company upon a final
determination by the Reviewing Party or a court of competent jurisdiction, as the case may be, that Indemnitee has
been fully indemnified under the terms of this Agreement. The trustee shall be chosen by Indemnitee. Nothing in this
Section 4 shall relieve the Company of any of its obligations under this Agreement.




5. Indemnification for Additional Expenses. The Company shall indemnify Indemnitee against any and all
expenses (including attorneys' fees) and, if requested by Indemnitee, shall (within two business days of such request)
advance such expenses to Indemnitee, which are incurred by Indemnitee in connection with any action brought by
Indemnitee for (i) indemnification or advance payment of Expenses by the Company under this Agreement or any other
agreement or Company By-law now or hereafter in effect relating to Claims for Indemnifiable Events and/or (ii) recovery
under any directors' and officers' liability insurance policies maintained by the Company, regardless of whether
Indemnitee ultimately is determined to be entitled to such indemnification, advance expense payment or insurance
recovery, as the case may be.

6. Partial Indemnity, Etc. If Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Agreement to indemnification
by the Company for some or a portion of the Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement of a
Claim but not, however, for all of the total amount thereof, the Company shall nevertheless indemnify Indemnitee for the
portion thereof to which Indemnitee is entitled. Moreover, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to the
extent that Indemnitee has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any or all Claims relating in whole
or in part to an Indemnifiable Event or in defense of any issue or matter therein, including dismissal without prejudice,
Indemnitee shall be indemnified against all Expenses incurred in connection therewith.

7. Burden of Proof. In connection with any determination by the Reviewing Party or otherwise as to whether
Indemnitee is entitled to be indemnified hereunder the burden of proof shall be on the Company to establish that
Indemnitee is not so entitled.

8. No Presumptions. For purposes of this Agreement, the termination of any claim, action, suit or
proceeding, by judgment, order, settlement (whether with or without court approval) or conviction, or upon a plea of
nolo contendere, or its equivalent, shall not create a presumption that Indemnitee did not meet any particular standard
of conduct or have any particular belief or that a court has determined that indemnification is not permitted by
applicable law. In addition, neither the failure of the Reviewing Party to have made a determination as to whether
Indemnitee has met any particular standard of conduct or had any particular belief, nor an actual determination by the
Reviewing Party that Indemnitee has not met such standard of conduct or did not have such belief, prior to the
commencement of legal proceedings by Indemnitee to secure a judicial determination that Indemnitee should be
indemnified under applicable law shall be a defense to Indemnitee's claim or create a presumption that Indemnitee has
not met any particular standard of conduct or did not have any particular belief.

9. Nonexclusivity, Etc. The rights of the Indemnitee hereunder shall be in addition to any other rights
Indemnitee may have under the Company's By-laws or the Missouri General and Business Corporation Law or
otherwise. To the extent that a change in the Missouri General and Business Corporation Law (whether by statute or
judicial decision) permits greater indemnification by agreement than would be afforded currently under the Company's
By-laws and this Agreement, it is the intent of the parties hereto that Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreement the
greater benefits so afforded by such change.

10. Liability Insurance. To the extent the Company maintains an insurance policy or policies providing
directors' and officers' liability insurance, Indemnitee shall be covered by such policy or policies, in accordance with its
or their terms, to the maximum extent of the coverage available for any Company director or officer.

11. Period of Limitations. No legal action shall be brought and no cause of action shall be asserted by or in
the right of the Company against Indemnitee, Indemnitee's spouse, heirs, executors or personal or legal
representatives after the expiration of two years from the date of accrual of such cause of action, and any claim or
cause of action of the Company shall be extinguished and deemed released unless asserted by the timely filing of a
legal action within such two-year period; provided, however, that if any shorter period of limitations is otherwise
applicable to any such cause of action such shorter period shall govern.

12. Amendments, Etc. No supplement, modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding
unless executed in writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be
deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions hereof (whether or not similar) nor shall such waiver
constitute a continuing waiver.

13. Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreement, the Company shall be subrogated to the
extent of such payment to all of the rights of recovery of Indemnitee, who shall execute all papers required and shall do
everything that may be necessary to secure such rights, including the execution of such documents necessary to
enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights.

14. No Duplication of Payments. The Company shall not be liable under this Agreement to make any
payment in connection with any Claim made against Indemnitee to the extent Indemnitee has otherwise actually
received payment (under any insurance policy, By-law or otherwise) of the amounts otherwise indemnifiable hereunder.
This Indemnification Agreement shall supersede the Prior Agreement.

15. Binding _Effect, Etc. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and be
enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, including any direct or indirect successor by
purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company,
spouses, heirs, executors and personal and legal representatives. This Agreement shall continue in effect regardless of




whether Indemnitee continues to serve as an officer or director of the Company or of any other enterprise at the
Company's request.

16. Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be severable in the event that any of the provisions
hereof (including any provision within a single section, paragraph or sentence) is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, void or otherwise unenforceable in any respect, and the validity and enforceability of any such
provision in every other respect and of the remaining provisions hereof shall not be in any way impaired and shall
remain enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

17. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with
the laws of the State of Missouri applicable to contracts made and to be performed in such state without giving effect to
the principles of conflicts of laws.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement this day of November, 2005.

GREAT PLAINS ENERGY INCORPORATED
By
Name: Michael J. Chesser
Title:  Chairman of Board and
Chief Executive Officer

INDEMNITEE:




GREAT PLAINS ENERGY

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Add
Minority interests in subsidiaries
Equity investment (income) loss

Income subtotal

Add
Taxes on income
Kansas City earnings tax

Total taxes on income

Interest on value of leased property

Interest on long-term debt

Interest on short-term debt

Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred
Securities

Other interest expense and amortization

Total fixed charges

Earnings before taxes on
income and fixed charges

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Year to Date

Exhibit 12.1

September 30

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(thousands)

$ 134,792 $ 173,535 $ 189,702 $ 136,702 $ (28,428) $ 53,014
7,805 (2,131) (1,263) - (897) -
758 1,531 2,018 1,173 (23,641) 22,994
143,355 172,935 190,457 137,875 (52,966) 76,008
32,396 54,451 78,565 51,348 (34,672) 7,926
709 602 418 635 583 421
33,105 55,053 78,983 51,983 (34,089) 8,347
4,604 6,222 5,944 7,093 10,679 11,806
47,189 66,128 58,847 65,837 83,549 57,896
3,500 4,837 5,442 6,312 9,915 11,050
- - 9,338 12,450 12,450 12,450
4,262 13,563 3,912 3,760 5,188 2,927
59,555 90,750 83,483 95,452 121,781 96,129
$ 236,015 $ 318,738 $ 352,923 $ 1285310 $ 34,726 $180,484
3.96 3.51 4.23 2.99 (€)) 1.88

(a) An $87.1 million deficiency in earnings caused the ratio of earnings to fixed charges to be less than a one-to-one coverage.
A $195.8 million net write-off before income taxes related to the bankruptcy filing of DTT was recorded in 2001.



Exhibit 31.1.a

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael J. Chesser, certify that:

1.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Great Plains Energy Incorporated;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report:

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 4, 2005 /s/ Michael J. Chesser

Michael J. Chesser
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer



CERTIFICATIONS
I, Terry Bassham, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Great Plains Energy Incorporated,

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report:

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: November 4, 2005 /s/ Terry Bassham

Terry Bassham

Executive Vice President - Finance and
Strategic Development and Chief Financial
Officer

Exhibit 31.1.b



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Great Plains Energy Incorporated (the "Company") for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the "Report"), Michael J. Chesser, as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Terry
Bassham, as Executive Vice President - Finance and Strategic Development and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Michael J. Chesser

Name: Michael J. Chesser
Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer

Date: November 4, 2005

/sl Terry Bassham

Name: Terry Bassham

Title: Executive Vice President - Finance and
Strategic Development and Chief Financial
Officer

Date: November 4, 2005

This certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document. This certification shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to liability under that section. This certification shall not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 except to the extent this Exhibit 32.1 is expressly and specifically incorporated by reference in any such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging,
or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement
required by Section 906, has been provided to Great Plains Energy Incorporated and will be retained by Great Plains
Energy Incorporated and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 4.2

ELEVENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE

KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

UMB BANK, N.A.
(FORMERLY UNITED MISSOURI BANK OF KANSAS CITY, N.A.)

DATED AS OF AUGUST 15, 2005

CREATING A MORTGAGE BOND
SERIES 2005

SUPPLEMENTAL TO GENERAL MORTGAGE INDENTURE AND
DEED OF TRUST DATED AS OF DECEMBER 1, 1986

ELEVENTH SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURE, dated as of August 15, 2005, between KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT
COMPANY, a Missouri corporation ("Company"), and UMB BANK, N.A. (formerly United Missouri Bank of Kansas City, N.A.),
as Trustee ("Trustee") under the Indenture hereinafter mentioned.

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms used in this Supplemental Indenture have the respective meanings set forth in the Indenture;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee a General Mortgage Indenture and Deed of
Trust ("Indenture"), dated as of December 1, 1986, to secure Mortgage Bonds issued by the Company pursuant to the Indenture,
unlimited in aggregate principal amount except as therein otherwise provided.

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
December 1, 1986, creating a first series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
April 1, 1988, creating a second series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
April 1, 1991, creating a third series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
February 15, 1992, creating a fourth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
September 1, 1992, creating a fifth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
November 1, 1992, creating a sixth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
October 1, 1993, creating a seventh series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, an Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
December 1, 1993, creating an eighth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
February 1, 1994, creating a ninth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company has heretofore executed and delivered to the Trustee, a Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
November 1, 1994, creating a tenth series of Mortgage Bonds;

WHEREAS, the Company desires in and by this Supplemental Indenture to create an eleventh series of Mortgage Bonds to be
issued under the Indenture, to designate such series, to set forth the maturity date or dates, interest rate or rates and the form and
other terms of such Mortgage Bonds;



WHEREAS, all acts and things necessary to make this Supplemental Indenture, when duly executed and delivered, a valid,
binding and legal instrument in accordance with its terms and for the purposes herein expressed, have been done and performed;
and the execution and delivery of this Supplemental Indenture have been in all respects duly authorized;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and in further consideration of the sum of One Dollar in lawful money
of the United States of America paid to the Company by the Trustee at or before the execution and delivery of this Supplemental
Indenture, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, and of other good and valuable consideration, it is agreed by and between
the Company and the Trustee as follows:

ARTICLE L.
MORTGAGE BOND SERIES 2005

SECTION 1. (a) There is hereby created an eleventh series of Mortgage Bonds to consist of one Mortgage Bond issued
under and secured by the Indenture, to be designated as "Mortgage Bond Series 2005" of the Company ("Bond of the Eleventh
Series").

(b) The Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be issued in the principal amount of $35,922,000, but the principal amount of the
Bond of the Eleventh Series actually outstanding as of any particular time shall be equal to the principal amount of securities titled
"City of LaCygne, Kansas Environmental Improvement Revenue Refunding Bonds (Kansas City Power & Light Company Project)
Series 2005" ("Refunding Bonds") which at such particular time are outstanding under the Indenture of Trust dated as of September
1, 2005 ("Refunding Bond Indenture"), between the City of LaCygne, Kansas and The Bank of New York, as trustee ("Refunding
Bond Trustee").

(c) The Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be a registered Bond without coupons and shall be dated September 1, 2005. The
Bond of the Eleventh Series shall mature on

the same date or dates as the Refunding Bonds, subject to prior redemption pursuant to Section 3.

(d) Interest will accrue on the unpaid portion of the principal of the Bond of the Eleventh Series from the last date to which
interest was paid, or if no interest has been paid from the date of the original issuance of the Bond of the Eleventh Series until the
entire principal amount of the Bond of the Eleventh Series is paid. The Bond of the Eleventh Series shall bear interest at the rate or
rates per annum born by the Refunding Bonds as provided for in Section 2.02 of the Refunding Bond Indenture and in the
Refunding Bonds and interest shall be paid on the date or dates on which, and at the same place or places as, interest is payable on
the Refunding Bonds.

(e) The payment or payments of principal of the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be equal to the principal amount of, and
any premium on, the Refunding Bonds which is due and payable under the Refunding Bond Indenture and shall be payable on the
date or dates on which, and at the same place or places as, the principal of, and any premium on such Refunding Bonds.

(f) The Mortgage Bond shall be subject to redemption at the same times and in the same amounts as the Refunding Bonds.

(g) The principal amount of and interest on the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be payable in lawful money of the United
States of America.

SECTION 2. At such time or times as the Refunding Bond Trustee shall deliver a certificate signed by a Responsible Officer,
as defined by the Refunding Bond Indenture stating that all or a portion of the principal amount of the Refunding Bonds have been
redeemed or otherwise deemed to have been paid, the principal amount of the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be reduced by such
specific principal amount, and such specific principal amount shall be deemed for all purposes of the Indenture, including
Article IV and Article XI of the Indenture to be Retired Bonds.

SECTION 3. If the Refunding Bonds, shall become immediately due and payable, pursuant to the provisions of the first
paragraph of Section 8.02 of the Refunding Bond Indenture (by reason of the occurrence and continuance of an "Event of Default"
under paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of Section 8.01 of the Refunding Bond Indenture), the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be subject
to redemption in whole. The Trustee shall redeem the Bond of the Eleventh Series upon receipt of a written notice (hereinafter
referred to as the "Notice") from the Refunding Bond Trustee stating that the Refunding Bonds have become immediately due and
payable. The Notice shall direct the Trustee to call the Bond of the Eleventh Series for redemption. No notice of redemption of the
Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be required in connection with such redemption and the Notice shall also contain a waiver by the
Refunding Bond Trustee, as holder of the Bond of the Eleventh Series of any notice of redemption as may be required under
Article IX of the Indenture. The Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be redeemed in whole immediately upon the receipt by the
Trustee of such Notice. The Trustee may conclusively presume



the statements contained in the Notice to be correct. Any such redemption of the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount of the Bond of the Eleventh Series together with accrued interest to the redemption
date, and such amount shall become and be due and payable immediately. The Company hereby covenants that, if a Notice shall be
delivered to the Trustee, the Company will deposit immediately with the Trustee, in accordance with Article IX of the Indenture, an
amount in cash sufficient to redeem the Bond of the Eleventh Series so called for redemption.

SECTION 4. The Bond of the Eleventh Series is not transferable except to a successor Refunding Bond Trustee under the
Refunding Bond Indenture.

SECTION 5. (a) The Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be pledged by the Company with and delivered to the Refunding
Bond Trustee to secure payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Refunding Bonds for the benefit of the
owners and beneficial owners from time to time of the Refunding Bonds.

(b) The obligation of the Company to make any payment of the principal of or any premium or interest on the Bond of the
Eleventh Series shall be fully or partially, as the case may be, paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied and discharged
to the extent that at the time any such payment shall be due, the then due principal of and any premium or interest on the Refunding
Bonds shall have been fully or partially paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied and discharged.

(c) The Trustee shall conclusively presume that the obligation of the Company to make payments of the principal of or any
premium or interest on the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall have been fully paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied
and discharged when due unless and until the Trustee shall have received written notice from the Refunding Bond Trustee, signed
by a Responsible Officer (as defined in the Refunding Bond Indenture), stating that the payments of principal of and premium or
interest on the Refunding Bonds specified in such notice were not fully paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied and
discharged when due and remain unpaid at the date of such notice.

SECTION 6. The form of the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be substantially as follows:
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(FORM OF BOND OF THE ELEVENTH SERIES)
KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
MORTGAGE BOND SERIES 2005
$35,922,000
Bond Number R-1

Kansas City Power & Light Company, a Missouri corporation ("Company"), for value received, hereby promises to pay to The
Bank of New York as Trustee under the Indenture dated as of September 1, 2005, between the City of LaCygne, Kansas, and such
Trustee ("Refunding Bond Indenture"), or the successor Trustee under the Refunding Bond Indenture, the sum of $35,922,000 or, if
less, the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all City of LaCygne, Kansas Environmental Improvement Revenue Refunding
Bonds (Kansas City Power & Light Company Projects) Series 2005 ("Refunding Bonds") outstanding under the Refunding Bond
Indenture. The payment of principal, premium, or interest on the Bond shall be equal to the principal amount of, any premium on,
and interest due on the Refunding Bonds as set forth in the Refunding Indenture. The principal of and any premium or interest on
this Bond of the Eleventh Series are payable in lawful money of the United States of America.

THIS BOND OF THE ELEVENTH SERIES IS NOT TRANSFERABLE EXCEPT TO A SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE UNDER
THE REFUNDING BOND INDENTURE.

The obligation of the Company to make any payment of the principal of or any premium or interest on this Bond of the
Eleventh Series shall be fully or partially, as the case may be, paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied and discharged
to the extent that at the time any such payment shall be due, the then due principal of and any premium or interest on the Refunding
Bonds shall have been fully or partially paid, deemed to have been paid or otherwise satisfied and discharged.

This Bond of the Eleventh Series is one, of the series hereinafter specified, of the bonds of the Company ("Bonds") known as
its "Mortgage Bonds", issued and to be issued in one or more series under and secured by a General Mortgage Indenture and Deed
of Trust dated as of December 1, 1986 ("Indenture"), duly executed by the Company to UMB Bank, N.A., (formerly United
Missouri Bank of Kansas City, N.A.) Trustee ("Trustee"), to which Indenture and all indentures supplemental thereto reference is
hereby made for a description of the property mortgaged and pledged, the nature and extent of the security, the terms and
conditions upon which the bonds are, and are to be, issued and secured, and the rights of the owners of the Bonds and of the Trustee
in respect of such security, and the prior liens to which the security for the Bonds are junior; capitalized terms used in this Bond of
the Eleventh Series have the respective meanings set forth in the Indenture. As pro vided in the Indenture, the Bonds may be
various



principal sums, are issuable in series, may mature at different times, may bear interest at different rates and may otherwise vary as
therein provided; and this Bond of the Eleventh Series is the only one of the series entitled "Mortgage Bonds Series 2005", created
by a Eleventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of August 15, 2005, as provided for in the Indenture. With the consent of the
holders of more than 50% in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds, the Company and the Trustee may from time to
time and at any time, enter into a Supplemental Indenture for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing in any manner or
eliminating any provision of the Indenture or of any Supplemental Indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the
holders of the Bonds and any coupons; provided, however, that (i) no such Supplemental Indenture shall, without the consent of the
holder of each Outstanding Bond affected thereby (A) extend the fixed maturity of any Bonds, change any te rms of any sinking
fund or analogous fund or conversion rights with respect to any Bonds, or reduce the rate or rates or extend the time of payment of
interest thereon, or reduce the principal amount thereof, or, subject to certain exceptions, limit the right of a holder of Bonds to
institute suit for the enforcement of payment of principal of or any premium or interest on such Bonds in accordance with the terms
of said Bonds, or (B) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Bonds, the holders of which are required to consent to any such
Supplemental Indenture, or (C) permit the creation by the Company of any Prior Lien, and (ii) no such action which would affect
the rights of the holders of Bonds of only one series may be taken unless approved by the holders of more than 60% in aggregate
principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds of such series affected, but if any such action on behalf of the holders of Bonds of such
town or more series may be effected by holders of more than 60% in principal amount of Outstanding Bonds of each of such series;
provided, however, that, in no event shall such action be effective unless approved by holders of more than 50% in aggregate
principal amount of all the then Outstanding Bonds of all such series.

In the event that this Bond of the Eleventh Series shall not be presented for payment when all Refunding Bonds issued are no
longer outstanding under the Refunding Bond Indenture, then all liability of the Company to the Registered Holder of this Bond of
the Eleventh Series for the payment of the principal hereof and any premium or interest hereon shall forthwith cease, determine and
be completely discharged and the right or such Registered Holder of this Bond of the Eleventh Series for the payment of the
principal hereof and any premium or interest hereon shall forthwith cease, determine and be completely discharged and such
Registered Holder shall no longer be entitled to any lien or benefit of the Indenture.

In case an event of Default shall occur, the principal of this Bond of the Eleventh Series may become or be declared due and
payable in the manner, with the effect and subject to the conditions provided in the Indenture.

This Bond of the Eleventh Series is transferable by the Registered Holder hereof in person or by attorney duly authorized in
writing, only to a successor to the Refunding Bond Trustee under the Refunding Bond Indenture, at the principal office of the
Trustee in Kansas City, Missouri (or at the principal office of any successor in trust), upon surrender and cancellation of this Bond
of the Eleventh Series, and upon any such

transfer a new registered Bond of the Eleventh Series without coupons of the same series for the same principal amount will be
issued to the transferee in exchange herefor.

The Company and the Trustee may deem and treat the person in whose name this Bond of the Eleventh Series is registered as
the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment and for all other purposes, and neither the Company nor the Trustee
shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or any premium or interest on this Bond of the Eleventh Series, or
for any claim based hereon or otherwise in respect hereof or of the Indenture or any Supplemental Indenture, against any
incorporator, stockholder, director or officer, past, present or future, of the Company or of any predecessor corporation, as such,
either directly or through the Company or of any such predecessor or successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution,
statute or rule of law, or by the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, all such liability of incorporators,
stockholders, directors and officers being waived and released by every owner hereof by the acceptance of this Bond of the
Eleventh Series and as part of the consideration for the issue hereof, and being likewise waived and released by the terms of the
Indenture.

This Bond of the Eleventh Series shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose unless and until the certificate of
authentication hereon shall have been executed by the Trustee or its successor in trust under said Indenture.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY has caused this Bond of the Eleventh Series to be
executed in its name by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chairman of the Board or its President or imprinted hereon and
attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Secretary or one of its Assistant Secretaries.

KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

By

Authorized Signature

Dated:




Attest:

Secretary or Assistant Secretary

The form of Trustee's certificate to appear on the Bond of the Eleventh Series shall be substantially as follows:
(FORM OF TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE)

This Bond of the Eleventh Series is the Bond of the series designated therein, described in the within-mentioned Indenture and
Eleventh Supplemental Indenture.

UMB BANK, N.A.,
as Trustee,

By
Authorized Signature

ARTICLE II.
ISSUE OF BOND OF THE ELEVENTH SERIES

SECTION 1. The Bond of the Eleventh Series may be executed, authenticated and delivered as permitted by the provisions of
Article IIL, IV, V or VI of the Indenture.

ARTICLE III.
THE TRUSTEE.

SECTION 1. The Trustee shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of the validity or sufficiency of
this Supplemental Indenture or the due execution hereof by the Company, or for or in respect of the recitals and statements
contained herein, all of which recitals and statements are made solely by the Company.

Except as herein otherwise provided, no duties, responsibilities or liabilities are assumed, or shall be construed to be assumed,
by the Trustee by reason of this Supplemental Indenture other than as set forth in the Indenture; and this Supplemental Indenture is
executed and accepted on behalf of the Trustee, subject to all the terms and conditions set forth in the Indenture, as fully to all
intents as if the same were herein set forth at length.

ARTICLE IV.
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 1. Except insofar as herein otherwise expressly provided, all the provisions, definitions, terms and conditions of
the Indenture, as amended, shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and made a part of, this Supplemental Indenture; and the
Indenture as supplemented and amended by this Supplemental Indenture is in all respects ratified and confirmed; and the Indenture,
as amended, and this Supplemental Indenture shall be read, taken and construed as one and the same instrument.

SECTION 2. Nothing in this Supplemental Indenture is intended, or shall be construed to give to any person or corporation,
other than the parties hereto and the holders of Bond of the Eleventh Series issued and to be issued under and in respect of this
Supplemental Indenture, or under any covenant, condition or provision herein contained, all the covenants, conditions and
provisions of this Supplemental Indenture being intended to be, and being, for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto
and of the holders of Bond of the Eleventh Series issued and to be issued under the Indenture and secured thereby.

SECTION 3. All covenants, stipulations and agreements in this Supplemental Indenture contained by or on behalf of the
Company shall bind and (subject to the provisions of the Indenture, as amended) inure to the benefit of its successors and assigns,
whether so expressed or not.

SECTION 4. The headings of the several Articles of this Supplemental Indenture are inserted for convenience of reference,
and shall not be deemed to be any part hereof.

SECTION 5. This Supplemental Indenture may be executed in any number of counterparts, and each of such counterparts
shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY has caused this Supplemental Indenture to be
executed by its Chairman of the Board, President or one of its Vice Presidents and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, duly
attested by its Secretary or one of its Assistant Secretaries, and UMB BANK, N.A., as Trustee as aforesaid, has caused the same to
be executed by its President or one of its Vice Presidents and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed, duly attested by one of its
Assistant Secretaries, as of the day and year first above written.

KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY
By /s/William H. Downey

William H. Downey
President and Chief Executive Officer

[Seal]
Attest:
/s/Mark G. English

Mark G. English
Assistant Secretary

UMB BANK, N.A.
By /s/Anthony P. Hawkins

Anthony P. Hawkins
Vice President

[Seal]
Attest:

/s/Lara L. Stevens
Secretary or Assistant Secretary
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STATE OF MISSOURI )
) ss
COUNTY OF JACKSON )

On this 23" day of August, 2005, before me, a Notary Public in and for said County in the State aforesaid, personally appeared
William H. Downey, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is President and Chief Executive
Officer of KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY, a Missouri corporation, one of the corporations described in and which
executed the foregoing instrument, that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the corporate seal of said corporation, and
that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of Directors; and said William H.
Downey acknowledged said instrument and the execution thereof to be the free and voluntary act and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the County and State aforesaid the day and
year first above written.

/s/Carol Sivils

My commission expires:

CAROL SIVILS

Notary Public - Notary Seal

STATE OF MISSOURI

Clay County

My Commission Expires: June 15, 2007
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STATE OF MISSOURI )
) ss
COUNTY OF JACKSON )

On this 24t day of August, 2005, before me, a Notary Public in and for said County in the State aforesaid, personally appeared
Anthony P. Hawkins, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is Vice President of UMB Bank, N.A.,
a national banking association organized and existing under the laws of the United States of America, one of the corporations
described in and which executed the foregoing instrument, that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the corporate seal of
said corporation, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said corporation by authority of its Board of
Directors; and said Anthony P. Hawkins acknowledged said instrument and the execution thereof to be the free and voluntary act
and deed of said corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal in the County and State aforesaid the day and
year first above written.

/s/Linda Wilson

My commission expires:

LINDA WILSON

Notary Public - State of Missouri
JACKSON COUNTY

My Commission Expires July 11, 2008
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Exhibit 10.2.a

October 6, 2005

Kansas City Power & Light Company
1201 Walnut

Kansas City, Missouri 64141

Attn: Michael W. Cline, Treasurer

Re: First Amendment to Credit Agreement

Dear Ladies/Gentlemen:

Please refer to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004 (the "Credit Agreement") among Kansas City Power &
Light Company (the "Borrower"), various financial institutions and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the respective meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement.

At the request of the Borrower, the Required Lenders agree that (a) clause (xiv) of Section 6.12 of the Credit Agreement is
deleted in its entirety and (b) the following new clauses (xiv) and (xv) are added to such Section 6.12 in proper numerical sequence:

(xiv) Liens on Property of the Borrower arising in connection with utility co-ownership, co-operating and
similar agreements that are consistent with past practice or otherwise customary for the ownership and
operation of Property for the utilities business.

(xv) Liens which would otherwise not be permitted by clauses (i) through (xiv) securing additional
Indebtedness of the Borrower or a Significant Subsidiary; provided that after giving effect thereto the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of Indebtedness (including Capitalized Lease Obligations) of the
Borrower and its Significant Subsidiaries (including prepayment premiums and penalties) secured by
Liens permitted by this clause (xv) shall not exceed the greater of (a) $35,000,000 and (b) 10% of
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth.

This letter amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different parties on separate counterparts,
and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same
letter amendment. This letter amendment shall become effective when the Administrative Agent has received (by facsimile or
otherwise) counterparts hereof executed by the Borrower and the Required Lenders.

This letter amendment shall be construed in accordance with the internal laws (and not the law of conflicts) of the State of
New York, but giving effect to Federal laws applicable to national banks.

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, at the time of effectiveness hereof, that
(a) the representations and warranties contained in Article V of the Credit Agreement are true and correct (except to the extent any
such representation or warranty is stated to relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall have
been true and correct on and as of such earlier date) and (b) no Default or Unmatured Default exists.

Except as specifically set forth above, the Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby ratified and
confirmed in all respects. After the effectiveness hereof, all references in the Credit Agreement to "Agreement" or similar terms
shall refer to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A,,
as Administrative Agent and as a Lender

By: /s/Mike DeForge
Title: Vice President

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,, as Syndication Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Michelle A. Schoenfeld
Title: Senior Vice President

THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI, LTD., CHICAGO
BRANCH, as Co-Documentation Agent and as a Lender



By: /s/Tsuguyuki Umene
Title: Deputy General Manager

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as Co-Documentation Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Allison Newman
Allison Newman
Title: Vice President

BNP PARIBAS, as Co-Documentation Agent
and as a Lender

By: /s/Francis DeLaney
Francis DeLaney
Title: Managing Director

By: /s/Mark Renaud
Mark Renaud
Title: Managing Director

THE BANK OF NEW YORK

By: /s/Daniel Csillag
Daniel Csillag
Title: Vice President

KEYBANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Keven D. Smith
Title: Vice President

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA

By: /s/Thane A. Rattew
Thane A. Rattew
Title: Managing Director

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Martin Nay
Title: Martin Nay, Vice President

MERRILL LYNCH BANK USA

By: /s/Louis Alder
Title: Louis Alder, Director

MORGAN STANLEY BANK

By:

Title:

MIZUHO CORPORATE BANK, LTD.

By: /s/Raymond Ventura
Title: Deputy General Manager

UMB BANK, N.A.

By: /s/Robert P. Elbert
Robert P. Elbert
Title: Senior Vice President



Acknowledged and Agreed:

KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

By: /s/Michael W. Cline
Name: Michael W. Cline
Title: Treasurer

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/Thomas A. Majeski
Title: Vice President

BANK MIDWEST, N.A.

By: /s/Brian Bower
Title: Vice President

UFJ BANK LIMITED

By:

Title:




KANSAS CITY POWER & LIGHT COMPANY

COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Income from continuing operations
Add

Minority interests in subsidiaries
Equity investment (income) loss

Income subtotal

Add
Taxes on income
Kansas City earnings tax

Total taxes on income

Interest on value of leased property

Interest on long-term debt

Interest on short-term debt

Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred
Securities

Other interest expense and amortization

Total fixed charges

Earnings before taxes on
income and fixed charges

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

Year to Date
September 30

Exhibit 12.2

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(thousands)

$ 108,237 $ 143,292 $ 125,845 $ 102,666 $ 116,065 $ 53,014
7,805 (5,087) (1,263) - (897) -
- - - - (23,516) 22,994
116,042 138,205 124,582 102,666 91,652 76,008
31,943 52,763 83,572 62,857 31,935 7,926
709 602 418 635 583 421
32,652 53,365 83,990 63,492 32,518 8,347
4,604 6,222 5,944 7,093 10,679 11,806
41,369 61,237 57,697 63,845 78,915 57,896
2,146 480 560 1,218 8,883 11,050
- - 9,338 12,450 12,450 12,450
2,775 13,951 4,067 3,772 5,188 2,927
50,894 81,890 77,606 88,378 116,115 96,129
$ 199,588 $ 273,460 $ 286,178 $ 254,536 $ 240,285 $ 180,484
3.92 3.34 3.69 2.88 2.07 1.88




CERTIFICATIONS

I, William H. Downey, certify that:

1.

Date:

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kansas City Power & Light
Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report:

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

November 4, 2005 /s/ William H. Downey

William H. Downey
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2.a



CERTIFICATIONS

I, Terry Bassham, certify that:

1.

Date:

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Kansas City Power & Light
Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information
included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report:

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and
maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure
controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures
and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of
internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees
who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
November 4, 2005 /sl Terry Bassham

Terry Bassham

Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 31.2.b



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Kansas City Power & Light Company (the "Company") for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the "Report"), William H. Downey, as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Terry Bassham, as
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2 The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

s/ William H. Downey

Name: William H. Downey
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: November 4, 2005

/s/ Terry Bassham

Name: Terry Bassham
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 4, 2005

This certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the
Report or as a separate disclosure document. This certification shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to liability under that section. This certification shall not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 except to the extent this Exhibit 32.2 is expressly and specifically incorporated by reference in any such filing.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging,
or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement
required by Section 906, has been provided to Kansas City Power & Light Company and will be retained by Kansas
City Power & Light Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



